
By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you have
saved the Authority approx. £** in printing costs

AGENDA

Committee POLICY REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Date and Time 
of Meeting

TUESDAY, 11 OCTOBER 2016, 4.30 PM

Venue COMMITTEE ROOM 4 - COUNTY HALL

Membership Councillor Howells (Chair)
Councillors Hunt, Murphy, Sanders, Thomas, Walker and Goddard

1  Apologies for Absence  

To receive apologies for absence.

2  Declarations of Interest  

To be made at the start of the agenda item in question, in accordance with the 
Members’ Code of Conduct.

3  Minutes  (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the 13 September 2016 to follow

4  Bilingual Cardiff Welsh language Strategy 2017- 2022  (Pages 7 - 38)

 Councillor Phil Bale, Leader will be in attendance and may wish to make a 
statement.

 Davina Fiore, Director of Governance & Legal Services; and Ffion 
Gruffudd, Head of Bilingual Cardiff will be in attendance to present the 
report and respond to Members’ questions.

 Questions by Members’ of the Committee.

5  Public Services Board - Progress Briefing  (Pages 39 - 62)

 Councillor Phil Bale, Leader will be in attendance and may wish to make a 
statement.

 Paul Orders, Chief Executive will present the report and respond to 



Members’ questions. Joseph Reay, Head of Performance and Partnerships 
will also be in attendance.

 Questions by Members of the Committee.

6  Statutory Annual Improvement Report 2015/16  (Pages 63 - 172)

 Councillor Graham Hinchey, Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and 
Performance will be in attendance and may wish to make a statement.

 Paul Orders, Chief Executive; Christine Salter Corporate Director 
Resources; and Joseph Reay, Head of Performance and Partnerships will 
be in attendance to respond to Members’ questions.

 Questions by Members of the Committee.

7  Way Forward  

 Bilingual Cardiff Welsh Language Strategy 2017/22.

 Public Services Board.

 Statutory Annual Improvement Report 2016/17.

8  Date of Next Meeting  

15 November 2016

Davina Fiore
Director Governance & Legal Services
Date:  Wednesday, 5 October 2016
Contact:  Kate Rees, 029 2087 2427, kate.rees@cardiff.gov.uk

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg



This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

POLICY REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

13 SEPTEMBER 2016

Present: County Councillor Howells(Chairperson)
County Councillors Murphy, Sanders, Thomas and Walker

19 :   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Councillor Goddard

20 :   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The Chairperson advised Members that they had a responsibility under Article 16 of 
the Members’ Code of Conduct to declare any interests and complete Personal 
Interest Forms at the commencement of the agenda item in question.

21 :   MINUTES 

The Committee Agreed to approve the minutes of the 5 July 2016 as a correct 
record. 

22 :   WALES AUDIT OFFICE ANNUAL IMPROVEMENT REPORT 2015/16 

The Chairperson welcomed the following:

 Non Jenkins, Local Government Manager (South East) Representing the 
Wales Audit Office.

 Councillor Graham Hinchey, Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and 
Performance 

 Paul Orders, Chief Executive
 Christine Salter, Corporate Director, Resources
 Tony Young, Director of Social Services
 Joseph Reay, Head of Performance & Partnerships

The Chairperson advised Members that they had an opportunity to consider the 
Annual Improvement Report for 2015-16 issued to the Council by the Wales Audit 
Office (WAO) in August 2016.  Members were reminded that this was an annual 
report having audited improvement planning and reporting arrangements to assess 
whether the Council would meet its statutory duties. 

The Chairperson invited Non Jenkins, Wales Audit Office to make a statement.

Non Jenkins explained to the Committee that the Annual Improvement Report 
summarises the audit work undertaken at the Council since the last Annual 
Improvement Report was published in August 2015.  The Annual Improvement 
Report includes a summary of the findings of reports produced both by the WAO and 
other regulatory bodies but does not contain new information.  

Non Jenkins explained that on the basis of the work summarised in the Annual 
Improvement Report, the Auditor General has concluded that the Council is likely to 
comply with the Local Government Measure during 2016-17 providing that it fully 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



embeds arrangements to support improved outcomes and maintains the current pace 
of improvement.

The Committee noted the Conclusions in the report and were advised by Non 
Jenkins that the Council was now at a critical point and must ensure that it continued 
to embed its improved arrangements consistently to secure a step change in 
improved outcomes by the end of this year, as previously set out in the WAO’s 
Corporate Assessment Follow On report of February 2016.

It was previously acknowledged that in 2014/15 the Council had not fulfilled its 
obligations under  the local government measure. This issue was resolved in January 
2016.  

 The Financial Resilience Assessment reported that the Council had improved 
its arrangements for financial planning.

 ESTYN had reported in March 2016 that the Council had made sufficient 
progress in relation to the recommendations arising from its monitoring visit in 
2014;

 CSSIW inspection of Children’s Services reported in March 2016 that the 
Council was committed to prioritising services that supported the most 
vulnerable.

Non Jenkins advised this was a good news report the Council was progressing 
forward and improvements were developing.

The Chairperson thanked Non Jenkins for the update and invited Councillor Graham 
Hinchey to make a statement.

Councillor Hinchey welcomed the update and acknowledged that the Council was 
moving in the right direction.  It was essential to keep this steady improvement 
moving, with enhanced public engagement, financial resilience and staff 
engagement.  The Committee were referred to Paragraph 45 of the report which 
references the Council’s improved financial planning arrangements, and sound 
financial control and governance arrangements.

The CEX noted that significant progress had been made but recognised there was 
still work to be done.  The Council would continue to embed its improved 
arrangements and this has been reflected in the Statement of Action that was 
produced in response to the WAO’s Follow On Report.

The Chairperson invited Members’ to ask questions.

Members reiterated concern that the Council had not been complying with the 
Measure and asked what the Auditor General’s view of the Council was. Non Jenkins 
explained that non-compliance referred to the previous assessment and following the 
inspection in October 2015, this was resolved in January 2016.  Non-compliance 
related to a technical requirement for the Council to assess progress against its 
improvement objectives.  
The Committee requested examples of the Council’s embedding of its improved 
arrangements.  In response Non Jenkins explained that the WAO’s Follow on 
Assessment of the Council had identified arrangements that had been put in place to 
address the issues outlined in the WAO’s 2014 Corporate Assessment.  Examples 

Page 2



had now been provided by the Council to ensure that steps had been taken to 
address the issues raised in 2014 in relation to Leadership, Partnership Working, HR 
and Finance, but the WAO remained interested in the extent to which these 
improvements were being embedded into everyday service delivery.

Members of the Committee were assured that the issues previously outlined by the 
WAO in 2014 were substantively addressed. Improved engagement was supporting 
and developing staff; the Cardiff Managers Programme was in place; high levels of 
PPDR compliance; and performance management arrangements that had been 
strengthened. More work however was needed to build on recent progress. This 
included steps to improve the quality of PPDRs.  

Members of the Committee asked for clarity on the improvement in the Review of 
Corporate Safeguarding Arrangements in Welsh Councils.

Tony Young explained that WAO Thematic Studies had taken place across Wales.  
Cardiff now had a wider cohort of staff to deal with these issues and performance 
measures were in place across the Social Services Directorate to support 
Safeguarding.  A Safeguarding Board had been established, with additional training 
taking place for Members.  The Council was now in a stronger position to deal with 
these issues and a robust Annual Report would be published next year to support 
this.  Stronger Management was in place to deal with Adult Services and 
improvements were being realised in relation to Delayed Transfers of Care.  It was 
essential to support Older People into independent living and this would reduce the 
demand on the service.

In relation to the delivery of savings, the CEX explained to the Committee year-on-
year improvements had been made to the budget planning process. For 2016/17, 
due diligence of savings proposals had been strengthened; and savings that were 
deemed to be technically unachievable were written out of the budget. However, this 
only partially alleviated the challenges facing the Council in terms of the delivery of 
complex savings proposals which have inherently high levels of risk attached to 
them.  Difficulties need to be set against the high level of savings that the Council 
has successfully delivered in recent years. 

Members of the Committee asked if there were any issues following the 
amalgamation of Adult and Children’s Services.  Tony Young explained that Social 
Services had a solid Management Team with two Assistant Directors in place.  
Partnerships had developed with NHS and the Vale of Glamorgan Council to support 
Delayed Transfers of Care and assisted living.

The Committee was advised that one of the key drivers for improvement was the 
Annual Council Reporting Framework.  All Operational Managers would undertake an 
assessment, which also included a shared session to address matters in the 
Directorate, including addressing areas of improvement and improvement planning.

Non Jenkins advised the Committee there would be no future round of Corporate 
Assessments.  Next year the WAO would use to Council’s own review mechanisms 
to understand whether processes have been embedded and whether the intended 
outcomes are being achieved. 

Page 3



RESOLVED: At the conclusion of the meeting the Committee discussed the evidence 
presented, following which they tasked the Chairperson of the Policy Review and 
Performance Scrutiny Committee to write to the witnesses to thank them for 
attending the meeting and set out the comments made by Members (letter attached) 

23 :   OVERVIEW OF COUNCIL PERFORMANCE 2015/16 

The Chairperson welcomed the following:

 Councillor Graham Hinchey, Cabinet Member Corporate Services & 
Performance

 Paul Orders, Chief Executive
 Christine Salter, Corporate Director, Resources
 Tony Young, Director of Social Services
 Joseph Reay, Head of Performance & Partnerships

The Chairperson advised Members the Committee now had an opportunity to 
consider the results of the National Performance Indicators for Wales 2015/16.  Each 
year, local authorities were required to collect and report the results of a range of 
nationally set Performance Indicators.  There are 41 National Indicators for 2015/16 
made up of National Strategic Indicators (NSIs) set by Welsh Government; and 
Public Accountability Measures (PAMs) set by all local authorities and reported to 
Data Unit Wales.  This data was published last week.

Joseph Reay delivered a presentation on Local Government Performance.

The Chairperson invited Members to ask questions.

The Committee drew attention to Leisure & Culture asking if these areas had 
declined.  In response Joseph Reay explained that the performance indicators in this 
area were affected by changes to the Council’s leisure services provision, including 
significant redevelopment activity.

The Committee noted there were issues in relation to Housing Indicators for Private 
Sector Dwellings.  In response the CEX explained this decline reflected the transition 
to the new Shared Regulatory Service. The Director of Communities, Housing and 
Customer Services, and the Head of the Shared Regulatory Service, were 
addressing the matter with a view to improving performance in the current financial 
year.  

Members of the Committee were advised that benchmarking was in place to address 
improvement.  An increase in collaborative working was a part of this development, 
along with working in partnership and benchmarking with Core Cities.

The Committee discussed the Council’s performance when compared to other Welsh 
Local Authorities, especially with a view to understanding whether the Council was 
improving in the same areas as other authorities. The Committee was keen to 
explore whether there are specific areas that other authorities has improved in where 
Cardiff faces challenges, and whether it would therefore be possible for the Council 
to learn from the improvement of others, particularly in Social Services. In response 
Joseph Reay confirmed to report back with the information to the Committee. 

Page 4



Tony Young explained to the Committee that the numbers of Looked After Children in 
Cardiff changes in line with wider demographic changes and overall population 
growth. A new set of measures was being introduced and this would support and 
address improvement in this area.

RESOLVED: At the conclusion of the meeting the Committee discussed the evidence 
presented, following which they tasked the Chairperson of the Policy Review and 
Performance Scrutiny Committee to write to the witnesses to thank them for 
attending the meeting and set out the comments made by Members (letter attached) 

24 :   QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE 2016/17 

The Chairperson advised the Committee that this item gave Members the chance to 
examine the Council’s performance from April to June of this year, and to feed any 
comments or concerns into the monitoring process.  Members were advised that the 
performance management reporting arrangements are currently undergoing a refresh 
and now open with a Council Overview Scorecard designed to give an ‘at a glance’ 
picture of the health and effectiveness of the organisation.

The Chairperson invited Councillor Hinchey to make a statement.

Councillor Hinchey drew attention to the report, advising that improvement 
mechanisms were being embedded throughout the organisation.  Data with Core 
Cities was being used for benchmarking purposes.  Significant work was taking place 
to reduce sickness absence levels to meet targets with an increase of return to work 
interviews. 

The Chairperson invited Members of the Committee to ask questions.

Members of the Committee were concerned with the Sickness Absence Forecast and 
asked for clarification.

Councillor Hinchey noted that he and the CEX had met with senior officers across the 
organisation to address the issue and to explore what additional steps could be taken 
to support managers to deal with the issue. The CEX explained this was still early in 
the financial year and, following recent management interventions, it was hoped that 
improvements would be seen in Quarter 2. 

Tony Young advised that performance in Social Services was improving with 
additional support in place for frontline staff dealing with home care and independent 
living support services.  

The Committee noted that the Council’s sickness absence policy did not cover 
schools.  However, sickness absence figures were recorded at school governor 
meetings.

Members of the Committee asked why the Festival of Voice event had not been as 
financially successful as anticipated. The CEX explained the Festival of Voice was a 
Wales Millennium Centre-led initiative, which had been supported by the Welsh 
Government and the Council. It was widely viewed as a positive, home-grown event 
which had real potential for the future, despite the fact that attendance figures at St 

Page 5



David’s Hall were not as positive as anticipated. Particular emphasis needed to be 
placed on planning and marketing the next event, which was scheduled for 2018.  
The Committee were of the view that a one-page summary per Service Area with 
bullet points would be helpful to analyse performance in the future.

Joseph Reay explained that an approach to performance reporting to wider 
audiences including the public is being developed. For both the Committer wider 
audiences the focus would be on presenting critical performance data in an 
accessible format. 

The Committee was advised that detailed engagement with the Members of other 
scrutiny committees regarding their reporting requirements would be undertaken in 
due course.

There needed to be a coherent robust approach to target setting with cumulative 
targets being developed where appropriate. The Council’s Corporate Performance 
Team is continuing to support effective target setting across the organisation.

RESOLVED: At the conclusion of the meeting the Committee discussed the evidence 
presented, following which they tasked the Chairperson of the Policy Review and 
Performance Scrutiny Committee to write to the witnesses to thank them for 
attending the meeting and set out the comments made by Members (letter attached) 

25 :   WORK PROGRAMME 

The Committee discussed its Work Programme for 2016/17

RESOLVED: The Committee Agreed its Work Programme.

26 :   DATE OF NEXT MEETING – 11 OCTOBER 2016 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

Page 6



CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF            
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

POLICY REVIEW & PERFORMANCE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                                                     11 October 2016

BILINGUAL CARDIFF WELSH LANGUAGE STRATEGY 2017-2022                    

Reason for this Report
1. To offer the Committee an opportunity to familiarise itself with national policy 

development in respect of the Welsh language; and to contribute to the 

consultation on the strategic content of the Bilingual Cardiff Welsh 

Language Strategy 2017-2022.

Background

Welsh Language Standards

2. In 2011 the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure replaced the Welsh 

Language Act 1993 and as part of the new legislation, in Wales the Welsh 

language has equal legal status with English and must not be treated any 

less favourably. Public bodies are no longer required to develop and 

implement a Welsh Language Scheme, but must comply with a set of 

national Welsh Language Standards instead.

3. The Welsh Language Commissioner issued all local authorities with their 

Compliance Notices on 30th September 2015. This document lists which of 

the 176 Standards (as listed in full in the Welsh Language Standards 

Regulations (No.1) 2015) an organisation must comply with, along with any 

exemptions and their implementation dates. The City of Cardiff Council has 

a statutory duty to comply with standards listed.

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



4. In preparation for the new Standards the Council re-branded the Welsh 

Language Unit as Bilingual Cardiff, to take a lead role in developing a City 

where citizens and employees of the City of Cardiff Council can access 

services and support in either language equally through improved 

partnership working. This innovative new approach has been introduced to 

break down barriers between the Welsh and English languages and to 

ensure that Cardiff becomes a truly bilingual city.

5. The Bilingual Cardiff team assists the Council in complying with its statutory 

duty to provide services in both Welsh and English, and includes a 

comprehensive translation service. It also offers an advisory role for other 

organisations, whilst continuing to actively promote and further raise 

awareness of the Welsh language. 

6. In addition the Welsh Language Standards requires the Council to produce 

an annual report, in relation to each financial year, which deals with the way 

it has complied with the service delivery standards, policy making standards 

and operational standards which were issued in ‘The City of Cardiff Council 

Compliance Notice – Section 44 Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011’. 

Members can access Bi-lingual Cardiff Welsh Language Standards Annual 

Report 2015-16 by following this link.  

http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s11113/Welsh%20Report.pdf 

Welsh Language Strategy 2017-22

7. Compliance with Standard 145 requires the Council to have produced and 

published a five year Welsh Language Strategy by 30 September 2016, 

setting out how it will promote and facilitate the use of Welsh. This strategy 

must include a target to increase the number of Welsh speakers within 

Cardiff as well as specific actions to facilitate the use of the language in line 

with the Welsh Government’s Welsh Language Strategy 2012-17,  and draft 

strategy: A Million Welsh Speakers by 2050 (2016).

Page 8

http://cardiff.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s11113/Welsh%20Report.pdf


8. The draft Welsh Language Strategy is attached at Appendix 1. It is a draft 

strategy for consultation, which will be followed by a detailed action plan to 

be developed with partners. Stakeholders and citizens are invited to submit 

their views on this strategy and on what needs to be included in the action 

plan by completing the questions attached at Appendix 2, also available 

online at www.cardiff.gov.uk/bilingualcardiff by the 30 of October 2016.

9. The Strategy is set in the context that the capital city of Wales is Britain’s 

fastest growing major city; over the last 25 years, the number of Welsh 

speakers in Cardiff has more than doubled; and latest census figures 

indicate that 16% of the city’s population have one or more skills in the 

Welsh language. Therefore as the city grows the aim of this draft strategy is 

to increase both the number and percentage of Welsh speakers and 

learners in Cardiff.

10.Such a growth in the number of Welsh speakers has been driven by 

significant migration to Cardiff from Welsh speaking areas of Wales over the 

last 25 years and reflects the committed practices and policies towards 

Welsh medium education in primary and secondary schools in Cardiff.

11.The Council fully supports the Welsh Government’s vision for a million 

Welsh speakers by 2050, and the strategy document is structured to reflect 

the goals of Welsh Government’s current Welsh Language Strategy. In 

order for Cardiff to play its part in achieving this vision, we would need to 

increase the number of Welsh speakers (aged 3+) in Cardiff by 15.9% from 

36,735 (2011 Census) to 42,584 (2021 Census).

12. In summary, the attached Strategy outlines the Council’s vision and high 

level strategy for increasing the numbers of Welsh speakers in 6 strategic 

areas, setting out its strategic priorities under each of these areas, and 

identifies the changes it will need to make to realise its vision of a bilingual 

Cardiff.  

i. The family: Promoting use of the Welsh language within families.

Page 9

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/bilingualcardiff


ii. Children and young people: Foster positive attitudes towards the 

Welsh language within the youth sector. 
iii. The community: Normalise bilingualism across the city.

iv. The workplace: Develop increasingly bilingual workplaces.

v. Welsh language services: Promote and improve the availability of 

Welsh language services in Cardiff. 
vi. Infrastructure: Bilingual Cardiff partner organisations mainstreaming 

the Welsh language.

13. Importantly the success of the Bilingual Cardiff vision, as outlined in the draft 

strategy, depends on collaborative working across partners and 

stakeholders. Initial consultation discussion has identified the following 

partners as the primary organisations which could together fulfil the bilingual 

Cardiff vision: Cardiff Public Services Board; Menter Caerdydd; Mudiad 

Meithrin; Cardiff University; Yr Hen Lyfrgell; Urdd Gobaith Cymru; Coleg 

Cymreg Cenediaethol; Coleg Cymru; Literature Wales; and S4C. As an 

action plan is developed the Council hopes to bring more organisations and 

partners on board to deliver its vision and outcomes.

Way Forward

14.The Final Welsh Language Strategy 2017-2022 will be published for 

consideration by Cabinet in December 2016. The Committee is invited to 

offer its comments and observations for inclusion in the consultation, and 

further development of the action plan.

15.To assist Members in contributing to the consultation on Welsh Language 

Strategy 2017-2022 the Council Leader, Councillor Phil Bale will attend the 

meeting with Davina Fiore (Director of Governance & Legal Services) and 

Ffion Gruffudd (Head of Bi-lingual Cardiff) to present the strategic approach 

and answer Members’ questions.

Page 10



Legal Implications

16.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in 

this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal 

implications. However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters 

under review are implemented with or without any modifications. Any report 

with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out 

any legal implications arising from those recommendations. All decisions 

taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal powers of 

the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) 

be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers on behalf of 

the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural 

requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be 

fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having 

regard to the Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable 

and proper in all the circumstances.

Financial Implications

17.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in 

this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial 

implications at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. 

However, financial implications may arise if and when the matters under 

review are implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with 

recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any 

financial implications arising from those recommendations.

Page 11



RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee is recommended to:

(i) Examine the Council’s response to the Welsh Language Standard 145 

requirement for a 5 year Welsh Language Strategy that proposes 

how the Council will promote the Welsh language and facilitate the 

use of the Welsh language more widely.

(ii)Consider whether it wishes to combine its comments and observations 

into a formal response to the consultation that closes on 30 October 

2016, to inform the development of an action plan to be considered 

by Cabinet in December 2016.

Davina Fiore
Director of Governance & Legal Services
5 October 2016

Page 12



The City of Cardiff Council

Bilingual Cardiff: 
5 -Year Welsh Language Strategy

2017 - 2022

Draft for Consultation

Prepared in line with the requirements 
of Welsh Language Standard 145

under the Welsh Language Standards 
(No.1) Regulations 2015

This document is available in Welsh / 
Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg

Page 13



 

2 
 

Overview 

The Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 established a legal framework to impose duties on 
certain organisations to comply with standards in relation to the Welsh language by way of sub-
legislation (Welsh Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015). The standards issued to the 
City of Cardiff Council are listed in ‘The City of Cardiff Council Compliance Notice – Section 44 
Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011’. 
 
Standard 145 requires the Council to produce and publish a five year strategy by the 
30th of September 2016 which sets out how we will promote and facilitate the use of Welsh. This 
strategy will include a target to increase the number of Welsh speakers within Cardiff as well as 
specific actions to facilitate the use of the language in line with the Welsh Government’s Welsh 
Language Strategy 2012—17 and draft strategy: a million Welsh speakers by 2050 (August 2016). 
 
Welsh Language Standard 145 states: 
 

You must produce, and publish on your website, a 5-year strategy that sets out how you 
propose to promote the Welsh language and to facilitate the use of the Welsh language 
more widely in your area; and the strategy must include (amongst other matters) (a) a 
target (in terms of the percentage of speakers in your area) for increasing or maintaining 
the number of Welsh speakers in your area by the end of the 5 year period concerned, and 
(b) a statement setting out how you intend to reach that target; and you must review the 
strategy and publish a revised version on your website within 5 years of publishing a 
strategy (or of publishing a revised strategy). 

 
 

HOW TO RESPOND 
 
Please complete the online consultation survey on www.cardiff.gov.uk/bilingualcardiff by the 31st 
of October 2016 at the latest. 
 
If you wish to receive a paper copy of the consultation please contact the Bilingual Cardiff team. 
 
 

CONTACT 
 
For further information please contact  
 
Bilingual Cardiff 
The City of Cardiff Council 
Room 400 County Hall 
Atlantic Wharf 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 
 
Email: Bilingualcardiff@cardiff.gov.uk  
 
Phone: 02920 872527  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/bilingualcardiff
mailto:Bilingualcardiff@cardiff.gov.uk


 

3 
 

CONTENTS               PAGE 

 

The Bilingual Cardiff Vision         4 

 

Cardiff Language Profile 2016         5 

 

Policy Context           7 

 

Working with Partners          9 

 

Strategic area 1: The family         10 

 

Strategic area 2: Children and young people       11 

 

Strategic area 3: The community         12 

 

Strategic area 4: The workplace         13 

 

Strategic area 5: Welsh-language services       14 

 

Strategic area 6: Infrastructure         15 

 
Appendix I: Suggested Partners         16 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 15



 

4 
 

1. THE BILINGUAL CARDIFF VISION 
 

Our vision is to develop a truly bilingual Cardiff. A Cardiff where our citizens can live, work and 
play, as well as access services and support in Welsh or English equally. A capital city where 
bilingualism is promoted as something completely natural, and where the Welsh language is 
protected and nurtured for future generations to use and enjoy. 
 
Cardiff is changing fast.  The capital city of Wales is Britain’s fastest growing major city, and is 
growing far faster than any other local authority area in Wales.  Over the last 25 years, the number 
of Welsh speakers in Cardiff has more than doubled with the latest census figures indicating that 
over 16% of the city’s population have one or more skills in the Welsh language. 
 
As the city grows our aim in this draft strategy is to increase both the number and percentage of 
Welsh speakers and learners in Cardiff. We fully support and share the Welsh Government’s 
vision for a million Welsh speakers by 2050. In order for Cardiff to play its part in achieving this 
vision, we would need to increase the number of Welsh speakers (aged 3+) in Cardiff by 15.9% 
from 36,735 (2011 Census) to 42,584 (2021 Census).  
 
Our approach set out in this document is structured to reflect the six strategic areas outlined in the 
Welsh Government’s current Welsh language strategy. The draft Bilingual Cardiff strategy sets out 
our strategic priorities under each of these areas, and identifies the change that we will need to 
make to realise our vision of a bilingual Cardiff.   
 
This is a strategy for the city as a whole, not for any one organisation.  Delivering the strategy will 
therefore rely on partnership working: between public sector partners; between the public, private 
and education sectors; and, most importantly of all, with the people of Cardiff.  The platform for 
doing this is already in place. The Bilingual Cardiff conference, convened by the Council, brought 
partners from across the city together and led to the idea for a new and dedicated facility in the city 
which would showcase the Welsh language and Welsh culture as well as creating new 
opportunities for people to socialise, participate and express themselves in a bilingual atmosphere. 
As a result Yr Hen Lyfrgell, Cardiff’s Welsh Culture Centre opened in February 2016 in the Old 
Library building.   This centre – and the partnership approach that is represents - will play a key 
role in the promotion of the Welsh language in the city and the implementation of this strategy’s 
priorities. 
 
Supporting young people, families and communities to learn and speak Welsh will also be at the 
heart of delivering our ambitions.  Recent years have seen a significant increase in the growth of 
Welsh medium education in the city with an ever increasing number of our children and young 
people now receiving their education in Welsh. The education system and the Council’s Welsh in 
Education Strategic Plan will play a key role in ensuring the future growth of the language as we 
aim to increase the number of children – and parents – who have the opportunity to learn and 
speak Welsh, and have opportunities to use the language outside the school gates. 
 
This is a draft strategy for consultation, which will be followed by a detailed action plan to be 
developed with partners. If you would like to give us your views on this strategy and on what 
needs to be included in the action plan then please let us know by completing the consultation 
survey.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

5 
 

2. A BILINGUAL CAPITAL: CARDIFF’S LANGUAGE PROFILE 2016 

Cardiff is Britain’s fastest growing major city.  Between 2002 and 2013 the city’s population grew 
by 13% and this growth is set to continue, with a projected growth of 26% by 2026.  
 
Cardiff is not only the largest Welsh local authority, it has also experienced the largest population 
growth over the last ten years, and is projected to expand at a much faster rate than any other 
area in Wales over the coming years.   
 
The city has also seen a significant increase in the number and percentage of Welsh speakers, 
with numbers doubling in the 20 years between the 1991 and 2011 censuses.  The 2011 census 
statistics indicate that 16.2% of the population of Cardiff have one or more skills in the Welsh 
language (ability to read, write or/and understand Welsh), and 36,735 or 11.1% of the county’s 
population are Welsh speakers.  
 

Comparison in the number and percentage of Welsh speakers between 1991 and 20111 

 1991 2001 2011 

 
CARDIFF 
 

 
18,071 
(6.6%) 

 
32,504 
(11%) 

 
36,735 
(11.1%) 

 

Cardiff is the local authority with the fourth highest number of Welsh speakers and has seen a 
consistent rise in both the number and percentage of Welsh speakers over the past 25 years. The 
concentration of Welsh speakers is fairly evenly distributed across the city’s electoral wards.  
 
 

 
 
 

                                                           
1
 The 2011 Census represents the most recent data on numbers of Welsh speakers in the city. 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

L
la

n
ru

m
n

e
y

R
u

m
n

e
y

P
e

n
tw

y
n

T
ro

w
b

ri
d

g
e

A
d

a
m

s
d

o
w

n

C
a

e
ra

u

S
p

lo
tt

E
ly

B
u

te
to

w
n

F
a
ir
w

a
te

r

P
la

s
n

e
w

y
d

d

C
a

th
a

y
s

G
ra

n
g
e
to

w
n

P
o

n
tp

re
n
n

a
u

/O
ld

 S
t.
…

G
a

b
a

lf
a

L
la

n
is

h
e
n

L
is

v
a

n
e

C
A

R
D

IF
F

L
la

n
d
a
ff
 N

o
rt

h

H
e

a
th

C
y
n

c
o
e

d

P
e

n
y
la

n

R
h

iw
b

in
a

R
a

d
y
r

R
iv

e
rs

id
e

W
h

it
c
h

u
rc

h
 &

…

L
la

n
d

a
ff

C
re

ig
ia

u
/S

t.
 F

a
g

a
n

s

P
e

n
ty

rc
h

C
a

n
to

nP
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

th
o

s
e
 A

g
e
d

 3
+

 

Percentage of Population Aged 3+ able to speak Welsh, 2011 
(Census) 

Page 17



 

6 
 

Such a growth in the number of Welsh speakers has been principally driven by two well 
documented trends. Firstly, the last quarter century has seen a significant migration of Welsh 
speakers to Cardiff from other areas of Wales. Secondly, it reflects the committed practices and 
policies towards Welsh medium education in primary and secondary schools in Cardiff.2 The city 
has currently three Welsh medium secondary schools, fifteen primary schools and two Welsh 
medium units. There are 4,624 pupils in attendance at primary level and over 2,625 at secondary 
level (Jan 2016). 
 

Number of students enrolled in Welsh medium education 2004/5 – 2022 (projected) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
2
 – Please see page 8 : Welsh in Education Strategic Plan  

0
1000
2000
3000
4000
5000
6000
7000
8000
9000

Students enrolled in Welsh Medium Education  

Page 18



 

7 
 

3. POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Although this five-year strategy is a new statutory requirement of the Welsh language standards 
(No.1) Regulations 2015, it builds upon the work already undertaken in Cardiff to meet the needs 
of Welsh speakers, learners and our communities. Through this strategy we will also ensure that 
we meet the requirement of one of the seven ‘well-being’ goals in the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 – A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language. 
 
The following section sets out the statutory and policy framework within which this new strategy 
sits: 
 

Welsh Language (No.1) Regulation Standards 2015  
 
From 30th March 2016 all local authorities in Wales have a statutory duty to comply with new 
regulation Welsh language standards which explain how they as organisations should use the 
Welsh language in different situations. 
 
The duties which come from the standards mean that organisations should not treat the Welsh 
language less favourably than the English language, together with promoting and facilitating the 
use of the Welsh language. 
 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
 

This Act aims to improve the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. 
The Act will make the public bodies listed in the Act think more about the long term, work better 
with people and communities and each other, look to prevent problems and take a more joined-up 
approach. 
 
One of the seven Well-being goals listed in the Act is “A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language”. 

 
Welsh Government Welsh Language Strategy 

A living language: a language for living – Welsh language strategy 2012 to 2017 ** 
 
This is the Welsh Government’s strategy for the promotion and facilitation of the use of Welsh 
language in everyday life. The Welsh Government’s vision is to see the Welsh language thriving in 
Wales. To achieve that, the strategy aims to see an increase in the number of people who both 
speak and use the language.  
 
** The Welsh Government has recently launched a new draft strategy ‘A million Welsh 
speakers by 2050’ for consultation on 1st August 2016. We will endeavour to ensure that our 
strategy will connect with the priorities and actions of this strategy, which may mean that a 
review is required in 2017 in order to further align this strategy with the new national 
document. 
 

Welsh Government: More than just words 

The strategic framework for Welsh language services in health & social care 
 

‘More than Just Words' is the Welsh Government’s strategic framework for improving Welsh 
language services in health, social services and social care. This is vital in ensuring positive well-
being outcomes for individuals, something which underpins the Social Services and Well Being 
(Wales) Act 2014.The Codes of Practice under the Act require local authorities to ensure Welsh 

Page 19

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Bilingual-Cardiff/Documents/Hysbysiad%20Cydymffurfio44%20Cyngor%20Dinas%20Caerdydd%20%28en%29.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/pdfs/anaw_20150002_mi.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/welshlanguage/publications/wlstrategy2012/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/health/publications/health/guidance/words/?skip=1&lang=en


 

8 
 

language services are built into service planning and delivery and that services are offered in 
Welsh to Welsh speakers without them having to request it as required by the ‘Active Offer’. 
 

The City of Cardiff Council Corporate plan 2016-18 & What Matters Integrated 

Partnership Strategy 
 

The City of Cardiff Council’s Corporate Plan sets out what the Council will do to deliver its vision of 
becoming Europe’s most liveable capital city. The vision will be achieved through Cardiff’s 
integrated partnership strategy - What Matters - and its seven outcomes which have been jointly 
agreed by public service and third sector partners: 
 

The City Of Cardiff Council: Welsh in Education Strategic Plan  
 
The School Standard and Organisation (Wales) Act (2013) places a statutory requirement on local 
authorities to prepare and introduce a Welsh in Education Strategic Plan (WESP) . The Act 
enables Welsh Ministers to approve the Plan submitted, approve the Plan with modifications or 
reject the Plan and require the authority to prepare another. The WESP focuses on the targets in 
the Welsh Medium Education Strategy and local authorities are expected to report annually on 
performance against these targets 
 

The City Of Cardiff Council: 2020 Strategy 
 

‘Cardiff 2020’ builds on progress made to deliver improvement in education over recent years, 

setting out an ambitious programme to ensure that all children and young people in Cardiff have 
the opportunity to succeed. The aim of the strategy is to create a great place to live, work and play 
for children and young people. It also means ensuring access to a variety of cultural activities in 
Welsh and English.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Corporate-Plan-16-18/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/What-Matters-June-2011.pdf
http://www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/What-Matters-June-2011.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Documents/Welsh%20in%20Education%20Strategic%20Plan.pdf
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/resident/Schools-and-learning/Cardiff-2020/Pages/default.aspx


 

9 
 

4. WORKING WITH PARTNERS 

 
As a City wide strategy, the success of the Bilingual Cardiff vision as outlined in this strategy 
depends on collaborative working with our partners and stakeholders. 
 
We have seen the success and importance of collaborative working in recent years with the 
Council working in partnership with stakeholders on the creation of the Welsh Culture Centre (‘Yr 
Hen Lyfrgell’) which opened in February 2016. The centre promotes and celebrates Welsh as a 
living language in the capital city in a friendly and welcoming centre open to all citizens of Cardiff 
and its visitors. Yr Hen Lyfrgell offers a variety of facilities and activities in a sociable and inclusive 
atmosphere where the Welsh language and culture is at the heart of everything. The centre will be 
a key driver in the development and promotion of the language in Cardiff and will facilitate certain 
actions which will develop from this strategy.  
 
During the last number of years the Council has worked effectively with Menter Caerdydd to 
provide a number of Welsh medium services to children, young people and adults. These include 
Welsh language play sessions for children, holiday care provision, training courses and supporting  
Tafwyl festival which has developed to become one of the Wales’ primary Welsh language events.  
 
As well as working with established partners, the city’s sporting and arts communities are 
important stakeholders whom we will look to work with in developing and promoting the Welsh 
language across the city.  
 
Appendix I lists suggested partners which have been identified through the initial consultation 
process as the primary organisations which could together fulfil the bilingual Cardiff vision. As our 
action plan is developed we hope to bring more organisations and partners on board to deliver our 
vision and outcomes. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



 

10 
 

Strategic Area 1: The family 

 

Vision: 
 

Promoting use of the Welsh language within families. 
 

Outcome: 
 

Families choose to use Welsh more regularly together. 
 

Strategic Priorities: 
 

 Ensure a consistent message across the sector in order to 
promote the benefits of transferring the Welsh language within 
the family, and giving children and young people the 
opportunity to become confident bilingual adults. 
 

 Extend opportunities for parents to develop their Welsh 
language skills to assist their children to acquire and gain 
confidence in their ability to use the Welsh language. 
 

 Provide Welsh-medium activities for families and ensure that 
there are ample opportunities for families to attend and use the 
language together. 
 

 Promote organisations such as Menter Caerdydd, Mudiad 
Meithrin and the Urdd in Welsh and English medium schools 
to raise awareness of their Welsh language family activities. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



 

11 
 

Strategic Area 2: Children and young people 

 

Vision: 
 

Foster positive attitudes towards the Welsh language within the 
youth sector. 
 

Outcome: 
 

Children and young people choosing to use the Welsh language 
outside the school gates and in a social setting. 
 

Strategic Priorities: 
 

 Increase the provision of Welsh-medium extra-curricular 
activities and opportunities for children and young people. 
 

 Ensure that the Welsh language is seen as a valuable skill 
for training and employment. 
 

 Develop opportunities for children and young people in 
English medium settings to positively connect with the Welsh 
language. 
 

 Promote the benefits of Welsh Medium education to all 
Cardiff communities. 
 

 Improve rates of progression between early years to post-16 
education.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



 

12 
 

Strategic Area 3: The Community 

 

Vision: 
 

Normalise bilingualism across the city. 

Outcome: 
 

The position and visibility of the Welsh language in the 
community is strengthened and supported. 
 

Strategic Priorities: 
 

 Promote the Welsh language as a unique selling point for 
Cardiff as a capital and core city and promote the ‘Bilingual 
‘Cardiff’ brand. 

 

 Increase the use of the Welsh language in all high profile and 
major events hosted in Cardiff, support existing Welsh-
language community events and share good practice.  
 

 Normalising bilingualism - environments where both 
languages can be used freely and celebrated by all cultures 
and backgrounds promoting ownership of the language and 
community cohesion. 
 

 Introduce the Welsh language to new and emerging 
communities as a way of convening Welsh culture and 
promote Welsh language learning and Welsh medium 
education.  
 

 Support Yr Hen Lyfrgell – Cardiff’s Welsh Culture Centre to 
increase outreach activities and develop opportunities to 
showcase Cardiff’s extensive Welsh language history and 
heritage. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

13 
 

Strategic Area 4: The workplace 

 

Vision: 
 

Develop increasingly bilingual workplaces.  
 

Outcomes: 
 

Bilingual staff feel supported to use the Welsh language at work. 
 

Strategic Priorities: 
 

 Increase recognition of the Welsh language as a highly 
valuable skill in the workplace. 
 

 Ensure that all staff within the Bilingual Cardiff partner 
organisations undertake Welsh language awareness training. 
 

 Increase the number/percentage of Welsh speakers within the 
Bilingual Cardiff partner organisations. 
 

 Enable and support fluent staff, as well as staff who are 
learning, to use the Welsh language in the workplace. 
 

 Extend Welsh language training opportunities to all staff in 
Bilingual Cardiff organisations.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

14 
 

Strategic Area 5: Welsh language services 

 

Vision: 
 

Promote and improve the availability of Welsh language services 
in Cardiff. 
 

Outcome: 
 

Increase the use made of Welsh language services.  
 

Strategic Priorities: 
 

 Implementation of the Welsh language standards by relevant 
Bilingual Cardiff organisations.  
 

 Demonstrate a strong commitment to the Welsh language in 
collaboration arrangements and 3rd party contract and 
commissioning documents.  
 

 Increase opportunities for people to receive Health & Social 
Care in Welsh. 

 

 Increase availability and use made of Welsh language 
services and raise awareness of all partner organisations’ 
existing Welsh language services. 
 

 Examine the way our services are offered to the public and 
work with specialists in language choice architecture to 
ensure equitable linguistic choice. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

15 
 

Strategic Area 6: Infrastructure  

 

Vision: 
 

Bilingual Cardiff partner organisations mainstreaming the Welsh 
language. 
 

Outcome: 
 

Organisations and services integrate the Welsh language into 
policies and activities. 
 

Strategic Priorities: 
 

 Ensure that all policy development and decisions 
appropriately consider the Welsh language and that partners 
and citizens are consulted to ensure Welsh language 
considerations are included from the outset. 
 

 Support the Council’s Welsh Education Strategic Plan aims 
and outcomes. 
 

 Increase the visibility of the Welsh language within the city to 
reflect a ‘Bilingual Cardiff’ through existing planning 
mechanisms. 
 

 Build in bilingual capacity to new public facing IT solutions. 
 

 Review the Bilingual Cardiff Strategy in 5 years and report on 
progress. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

16 
 

APPENDIX I – SUGGESTED PARTNERS 
 
As a City wide strategy, the success of the Bilingual Cardiff vision as outlined in this strategy 
depends on collaborative working with our partners and stakeholder. The following suggested 
partners have been identified through the initial consultation proses as the primary organisations 
which could together fulfil the bilingual Cardiff vision. As our action plan is developed we hope to 
bring more organisations and partners on board to deliver our vision and outcomes. 

 
Cardiff Public Service Board  
 

As part of the implementation of the Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015, all local 
authorities in Wales are required to establish Public Services Boards (PSBs). PSBs bring public 
and third sector bodies together to work in partnership to improve economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being. 
 
The statutory members of a PSB are as follows: 
 

 The City of Cardiff Council 

 Cardiff and Vale University Health Board 

 South Wales Fire and Rescue 

 Natural Resources Wales 
 
Membership of the Board must also include a number of other partners who participate in its 
activity as ‘invited participants’.  Representatives of the following sit on the Cardiff PSB: 
 

 The Welsh Ministers 

 The Chief Constable of South Wales Police 

 The South Wales Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Representatives of the National Probation Service and Community Rehabilitation Company 

 Cardiff Third Sector Council 
 
Other partners who exercise functions of a public nature can also be involved in the delivery of its 
work. 
 
PSBs have a duty under the Well-being of Future Generations Act to assess the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of the local area and to produce a local well-being 
plan setting out well-being objectives that will contribute to achieving the Welsh Government’s 7 
well-being goals. More information on these goals can be found here  
 
Note: The Cardiff Public Services Board which held its first meeting in May 2016 replaced the 
Cardiff Partnership Board and the Cardiff and Vale Joint Local Services Board.   
 
 

Menter Caerdydd 

 
Menter Caerdydd was established in June 1998, with the aim of promoting and expanding the use 
of Welsh in Cardiff by creating opportunities for the city’s residents to use the language outside 
work and school.  Today, Menter Caerdydd is seen as one of the most successful Language 
Initiatives in Wales with over 40,000 service users.  
 
Menter Caerdydd delivers services by working in partnership with a number of Welsh 

Page 28

http://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/?lang=en


 

17 
 

organisations in Cardiff, as well as other organisations in the city whose focus stretches beyond 
offering activities in Welsh. Menter Caerdydd’s main partners are the Welsh Government and 
Cardiff City Council who are responsible for funding a number of services offered in Welsh in the 
City. It’s a registered charity and a Company Limited by Guarantee.   
 
Menter Caerdydd’s core work encompasses six priorities, namely:    
 

 Promoting and creating opportunities to use Welsh. 

 Building confidence and changing people’s attitude towards Welsh.  

 Reinforcing Welsh and its use within families.   

 Developing employment and training opportunities for young people and adults.  

 Developing Welsh Festivals to raise awareness of Welsh.  

 Ensuring that Welsh has a visual platform on a digital level. 
 
Menter Caerdydd’s services and activities include leading on the Yr Hen Lyfrgell project – Cardiff’s 
Welsh Culture Centre, Co-ordinating Training and Volunteering opportunities for 16+ students in 
Welsh, co-ordinating Tafwyl – Cardiff’s Welsh language festival, organising weekly clubs for 
children, free play opportunities and workshops and Care Plans during the Holidays, social 
opportunities and activities for learners and families, and leading the City's Welsh Language 
Forum.   
 
By focussing on these main priorities, Menter Caerdydd encompasses the Welsh Government’s 
and Cardiff City Council's main strategic priorities in terms of language, families, children and 
young people, the community and the workplace.  
 

Mudiad Meithrin 

 
Mudiad Meithrin: a national voluntary organisation of cylchoedd meithrin, cylchoedd Ti a Fi, 
wraparound care, meithrin sessions and Welsh-medium nurseries that provide early years 
experiences, childcare and education of a high quality for approximately 22,000 children each 
week. 
 
Cylchoedd meithrin, day nurseries, cylchoedd Ti a Fi and after school clubs are some examples of 
the type of settings that are members of Mudiad Meithrin. They are distributed across the country 
with 288 in the north west, 186 in the north east, 260 in mid Wales, 186 in the south west and 249 
in the south east. 
 

Cardiff University 
 
The School of Welsh at Cardiff University is a world class academic unit with a global reputation. It 
specialises in a range of fields relating to the Welsh language and its culture, including literature, 
linguistics, sociolinguistics, translation, education, planning and policy. It has strong international 
links, especially with countries that are home to languages of limited usage, such as Canada, 
Catalunia, the Basque Country and Ireland. The school's staff also specialise in various aspects of 
the Welsh language and its culture in Cardiff and the surrounding areas. 
 
National surveys show that the School excels in its teaching, its research and the effect of its 
research outside the academic field. It delivers world class education from undergraduate level to 
PhD level. Cardiff Welsh for Adults is part of the School and it delivers courses to over 2,000 
students in the capital. The School is also responsible for the Welsh for Everyone scheme (which 
gives an opportunity to hundreds of Cardiff University students to learn Welsh for free) and is one 

Page 29



 

18 
 

of the National Sabbatical Scheme centres (which develops the Welsh skills of education 
practitioners). 
 
The School of Welsh is part of Cardiff University, an organisation which produces world class 
research and which ranked fifth for quality of research and second for influence among the UK’s 
universities in the Research Excellence Framework 2014. The University delivers an excellent 
educational experience for its students and is dedicated to achieving its social, cultural and 
economic commitments to Cardiff, Wales, and the world. 

 
Yr Hen Lyfrgell  
 

Cardiff’s Welsh Culture Centre (‘Yr Hen Lyfrgell’) based at the Old Library was opened in February 
2016. The aim of the centre is to promote and celebrate Welsh as a living language in the capital 
city in a friendly and welcoming centre open to all citizens of Cardiff and its visitors. Yr Hen Lyfrgell 
offers a variety of facilities and activities in a sociable and inclusive atmosphere where the Welsh 
language and culture is at the heart of everything. 
 
There is cafe, bar and restaurant serving Welsh food and drink, a shop selling quality Welsh 
goods, a book shop, a children’s crèche, teaching rooms offering courses for Welsh learners, a 
flexible performance and exhibition area, and the Cardiff Story Museum. 
 
Showcasing ‘the best of Cardiff and Wales’, Yr Hen Lyfrgell is an energetic and innovative centre 
which aims to attract Welsh speakers and non-Welsh speakers alike, from Cardiff and beyond. A 
unique visitor attraction where the Welsh language will be used to celebrate everything that is 
great about Wales and its capital city - its culture, heritage and people. Yr Hen Lyfrgell is made 
possible through effective partnership working with the Welsh Government, Cardiff City Council 
and Cardiff based organisations – Menter Caerdydd, Cardiff University, The National Centre for 
Learning Welsh, Cardiff Story Museum, Mudiad Meithrin, Mela and Bodlon. 
 

Urdd Gobaith Cymru 
 

The Urdd is the largest youth organisation for children and young people in Wales with over 
50,000 members. 30% of all Welsh speakers in Wales aged between 8-25 are members. The 
Urdd has 260 staff, 100 volunteers, 900 branches, with 200 branches in the community. In 
addition, there are 150 sport clubs that meet weekly. 
 
Urdd Gobaith Cymru’s aim is to provide the opportunity, through the medium of Welsh, for the 
children and young people in Wales to become fully rounded individuals, developing personal and 
social skills that will enable them to make a positive contribution to the community. 
 

National Centre for Learning Welsh 
 

The Centre is a national body responsible for all aspects of the Welsh for Adults education 
program. It operates as a body at arm’s length from Welsh Government and has a clear vision for 
the future. 
 
The Centre will: 

 be a visible institution setting a national strategic direction for the Welsh for Adults sector. 

 provide leadership for Welsh for Adults providers. 

 raise standards in teaching and learning in Welsh for Adults. 

Page 30



 

19 
 

 develop an engaging, appropriate and high quality national curriculum and produce 
resources suitable for all kinds of learners. 
 

The National Centre for Learning Welsh provider in Cardiff is Cardiff University. 
 

Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol 
 
The Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol works through branches located across seven universities in 
Wales.  The aim of the branches is to support the work of the Coleg and act as a local point of 
contact for students.   
 
The choice of Welsh medium courses has expanded significantly in recent years.  There are 
currently over 1,000 courses for Welsh medium students, along with over 150 undergraduate 
scholarships awarded to students annually.   
 
The work of Coleg Cymraeg Cenedlaethol includes: 

 Ensure more study opportunities for Welsh medium students - in partnership with the 
universities 

 Train, develop and fund new Welsh medium lecturers for the future  

 Fund undergraduate and post-graduate scholarships  

 Support students studying course through the medium of Welsh  

 Increase the number of students choosing to study their whole course or part of their course 
through the medium of Welsh  

 Develop quality modules, courses and resources for Welsh medium students.  
 

ColegauCymru / CollegesWales 

 
ColegauCymru / CollegesWales is the national educational charity that represents 14 of Wales’ 
further education (FE) colleges and designated FE institutions.  Its Board comprises of college 
principals and chairs of corporations, appointed by member colleges. It also works closely with a 
wide range of partners in post-16 education, training and skills.  
 
Through ColegauCymru colleges are represented on various committees and groups which 
influence and shape policy in post-16 education and life-long learning.  In the Cardiff area we are 
seeing a growth in the demand for Welsh medium/ bilingual post-16 academic, vocational and 
work-based learning opportunities, and colleges involvement is instrumental in developing 
successful community WESP plans.   Responding to this increase in demand for Welsh language 
delivery of post-16 education, training and skills are Cardiff and Vale college, St David’s Catholic 
college and WEA YMCA community college. They can all offer a bilingual service, and are eager 
through partnership to expand this delivery. 
 
Mainstreaming the Welsh language in further education colleges is a strategic aim for 
ColegauCymru. Colleges have increased the percentage of bilingual provision substantially over 
recent years and have surpassed the targets set by the Welsh Government in its Welsh-Medium 
Education Strategy (2010). In 2010/11, 5.7% of learning activities in further education colleges 
were delivered bilingually or through the medium of Welsh.   The target was 7% by 2015 and 10% 
by 2020. The Welsh Government’s annual report on the Strategy (July 2015) shows that colleges 
had reached 8.5% by 2013/14 – higher than the 2015 target and well on course to meet the 2020 
target. 
 
ColegauCymru work closely with Sgiliaith, a progressive and innovative centre located in Grŵp 
Llandrillo Menai and funded by the Welsh Government. It provides training and support to further 

Page 31



 

20 
 

education colleges and other providers in order to increase bilingual and Welsh-medium teaching 
skills.    

 

Literature Wales 

 

Literature Wales is the national company for the development of literature in Wales, and works 
with the support of the Arts Council of Wales and Welsh Government.  
 
The organisation’s many projects and activities include Wales Book of the Year, the National Poet 
of Wales, Bardd Plant Cymru and Young People's Laureate Wales, Literary Tourism initiatives, the 
Writers on Tour funding scheme, creative writing courses at Tŷ Newydd Writing Centre, Services 
for Writers (including Bursaries and Mentoring), Young People's Writing Squads, the award-
winning Dinefwr Literature Festival, and Slam Cymru - a spoken word youth slam project.  
 

S4C 

 
S4C is the only Welsh language television channel in the world. As a public service broadcaster, 
it commissions independent producers from across Wales to make the majority of its 
programmes. ITV Cymru Wales is also commissioned to produce programmes. BBC Cymru 
Wales provides around 10 hours of programming per week for S4C, including the news and daily 
soap Pobol y Cwm, funded out of the licence fee. 
 
S4C broadcasts over 115 hours of programmes each week, including sport, drama, music, 
factual, entertainment and events, across a range of platforms, including online. S4C offers 
comprehensive services for children: Cyw for younger viewers, Stwnsh for older children and 
programmes for teenagers. And the programmes are available in HD on Sky and Freesat in 
Wales and across the UK. 
 
Since April 2013, most of S4C's income comes from the licence fee via the BBC Trust with a 
proportion coming from the UK government's Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS). 
S4C also has some powers to generate its own commercial income, for example, through 
advertising sales. 

 

Page 32



 
                                        

Bilingual Cardiff: 5 Year Strategy
Draft for Consultation

If you would prefer to complete this survey in Welsh, please click here

Our vision is to develop a truly bilingual Cardiff. A Cardiff where our citizens can live, work and play, as well as access 
services and support in Welsh or English equally. A capital city where bilingualism is promoted as something 
completely natural, and where the Welsh language is protected and nurtured for future generations to use and enjoy.

One of the statutory requirements of the new Welsh language standards is to create and publish a five year strategy 
which sets out how we will promote and facilitate the use of Welsh.

We have developed a draft strategy which outlines our proposed strategic priorities based on initial consultation. We 
have also included a target to increase the number and percentage of Welsh speakers and learners in Cardiff to 
ensure that we play our part in supporting the Welsh Government’s vision of a million Welsh speakers by 2050.

This is a strategy for the city as a whole, not for any one organisation. Delivering the strategy will therefore rely on 
partnership working, between the public, private and education sectors and, most importantly of all, with the people of 
Cardiff. We will achieve this through the effective implementation of an action plan which will be developed following 
full consultation with our partners and citizens.  

If you wish to receive a paper copy of the consultation please contact the Bilingual Cardiff team: 
bilingualcardiff@cardiff.gov.uk 

Closing Date: 31st October 2016

Any data supplied by you on this form will be processed in accordance with the Data Protection Act requirements and in supplying it you consent to us 
processing the data for the purpose for which it is supplied. All personal information provided will be treated in the strictest confidence and will only be 
used for a purpose permitted by law.

The Vision for Bilingual Cardiff

1 Do you agree with the overall vision of a truly bilingual Cardiff? 
  Strongly Agree   Tend to Agree   Neither   Tend to Disagree   Strongly 

Disagree
  Don't Know

P
age 33

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Bilingual-Cardiff/Documents/Hysbysiad%20Cydymffurfio44%20Cyngor%20Dinas%20Caerdydd%20%28en%29.pdf
mailto:bilingualcardiff@cardiff.gov.uk


2 In order to support the Welsh Government’s vision of a million Welsh speakers by 2050, we would need to increase the 
number of Welsh speakers (aged 3+) in Cardiff by 15.9% from 36,735 (2011 Census) to 42,584 (2021 Census). 

Do you agree with our provisional target?
  Yes   No - it is too high   No - it is too low

The Strategic Areas
3 The draft Bilingual Cardiff Strategy outlines our vision within six strategic areas. Do you agree with the following vision 

statements and the strategic priorities included within the draft strategy document?
Strongly Agree Tend to Agree Neither Tend to 

Disagree
Strongly 
Disagree

Don't Know

FAMILY: Promoting use of the Welsh language 
within families.

           

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE: Foster 
positive attitudes towards the Welsh language 
within the youth sector.

           

COMMUNITY: Normalise bilingualism across the 
city.

           

WORKPLACE: Develop increasingly bilingual 
workplaces

           

WELSH LANGUAGE SERVICES: Promote and 
improve the availability of Welsh language 
services in Cardiff.

           

INFRASTRUCTURE: Bilingual Cardiff partner 
organisations mainstreaming the Welsh language.

           

4 Do you have any further comments on the draft Bilingual Cardiff Strategy? 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________

About You
Q6 In what capacity are you responding? 

  As an individual   On behalf of a group or organisation

P
age 34

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/bilingualcardiff


Q7 How would you describe your Welsh language skills? 
  Fluent   Moderate   Basic   None

Q8 Where do you live?.
Address _____________________________________________________________________________

________________
Please provide your postcode to enable us to more accurately pinpoint respondent views by area.
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________

Q9 What was your age on your last birthday?
  16-24   35-44   55-64   75+
  25-34   45-54   65-74   Prefer not to say

Q10 What gender do you identify as? 
  Female   Male   Prefer not to say   Other
Please state the term you prefer
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________

Q11 Please tick any of the following that apply to you: 
  Deaf/ Deafened/ Hard of hearing   Visual impairment   Wheelchair user       
  Mental health difficulties   Long-standing illness or health 

condition (e.g. cancer, HIV, diabetes, or 
asthma

  Prefer not to say

  Learning impairment/ difficulties   Mobility impairment   Other (please specify below)

Q12 Do you identify as a disabled person? 
  Yes   No   Prefer not to say
Please Specify
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________

Q13 Do you regard yourself as belonging to any particular religion? 
  Yes   No, no religion

Q14 If Yes, Please specify
  Buddhist   Hindu
  Muslim   Jewish

P
age 35



  Christian (Including Church in Wales, Catholic, Protestant and 
all other Christian denominations)

  Prefer not to say

  Sikh   Other (Please specify)
Please Specify
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________

Q15 How would you describe your sexual orientation?
  Bisexual   Heterosexual/ Straight
  Gay Woman/ Lesbian   Prefer not to answer
  Gay Man   Other
Please Specify
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________

Q16 What is your ethnic group? Please specify any other ethnic groups below: 
  White - Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British   Asian/Asian British  - Pakistani
  White  - Irish   Asian/Asian British  - Chinese
  White  - Gypsy or Irish Traveller   Asian/Asian British  - Any other (please specify)-
  White  - Any other white background (please specify)    Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - African
  Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White and Black Caribbean   Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - Caribbean
  Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White and Black African   Black/African/Caribbean/Black British - Any other (please 

specify)
  Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - White & Asian   Arab
  Mixed/Multiple Ethnic Groups - Any other (please specify)   Any other ethnic group (please specify)
  Asian/Asian British  - Bangladeshi   Prefer not to say
  Asian/Asian British  - Indian
Please Specify
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________
Please Specify any other ethnic groups below
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
_______________________

Q17 Do you consider yourself to be Welsh?
  Yes   No

Thank you for your views

P
age 36



CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF                
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

POLICY REVIEW & PERFORMANCE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                                                                   11 October 2016 

PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD – Progress Briefing 

Reason for the Report

1. To advise Members of the Council’s progress in addressing the requirements of the 

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in respect of Cardiff’s partnership 

delivery arrangements. 

 

Background

2. In 2015 the Committee acquired overarching responsibility for scrutiny of the Council’s 

partnership work, specifically scrutiny of Cardiff’s Public Services Board (PSB). 

Therefore in line with the Council’s Constitution this Committee will perform a strategic 

overview role of the PSB’s performance going forward.  In addition each of the 

Council’s five scrutiny Committees has authority to scrutinise partnership activity 

within their own terms of reference, complementing this Committee’s strategic 

overview of partnership activity.  

Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

3. In April 2016 all public bodies became subject to the duties under the Well-being of 

Future Generations (Wales) Act (WFG). The purpose of the WFG Act is to ensure that 

the governance arrangements in public bodies for improving the well-being of Wales 

take into account the needs of future generations.  The aim is for public bodies to 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5



improve the economic, social and environmental well-being of Wales in accordance 

with the detailed sustainable development principles and well-being goals that are 

prescribed by the Act. 

4. Under the new legislation, public bodies have a duty to pursue a common aim to 

improve the economic, social and environmental well-being of Wales.  The Act 

requires public bodies to apply sustainable development principles and take into 

account:  

 the importance of balancing short term needs with the ability to meet long term 

needs; 

 the benefits of a more integrated approach; 

 the importance of involving those with an interest in the objectives; 

 seeking views and taking them into account;

 collaborative working to meet objectives; and 

 the use of preventative measures to contribute towards meeting objectives.

5. The public bodies relevant to the Act are the following:

 Welsh Ministers

 Local Authorities

 Local Health Boards

 NHS Trust including Public Health Wales and Velindre Trust

 National Park Authorities (in Wales)

 Welsh Fire and Rescue Authorities

 Natural Resources Wales

 Higher Education Funding  

 Arts Council of Wales

 Sports Council of Wales

 National Library of Wales

 National Museum of Wales.

Page 40



6. The Act requires each of these public bodies to publish an annual report of the 

progress it has made in meeting its well-being objectives. 

7. The Act provides for the appointment of a Future Generations Commissioner for Wales with 

the duty to promote the sustainable development principles and act as a guardian of the ability 

of future generations to meet their needs and to monitor and assess the extent to which well-

being objectives set by public bodies are met.

Public Services Boards

8. The Act recognises that each public body has a role to play in improving well-being and 

sharing responsibility for contributing to well-being goals in accordance with sustainable 

development principles. Furthermore, it prescribes that public bodies should take into account 

collaborative working to assist in the achievement of their well-being objectives. Adopting a 

collaborative approach recognises the different roles that each body plays in tackling 

challenges, preventing conflicting actions and contributing to the achievement of well-being 

goals. 

9. The Act prescribes the establishment of statutory Public Services Boards for each local 

authority area in Wales with a duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and 

cultural well-being of its area by contributing to the achievement of the well-being goals. 

These boards replace existing local partnership boards. 

10.  The core members of each Public Services Board (PSB) should include: 

 the Local Authority; 

 the Local Health Board; 

 the Welsh Fire and Rescue Authority; and 

 the Natural Resources Wales.

11.The Act also states that the local authority must make administrative support available to the 

Public Services Board. The local authority represented at the Board is responsible for 

Page 41



convening the Public Services Board and facilitating its work by undertaking secretariat, 

publishing plans and reports on their website etc.

12.The PSB must invite the following to participate in the activity of the board: Welsh 

Ministers; the Chief Constable of the Police Force; the Police and Crime 

Commissioner; at least one body representing relevant voluntary organisations. The 

PSB may also invite any other person who exercises functions of a public nature to 

participate in the activity of the Board. For example a Community Council; Public 

Health Wales NHS trust; Community Health Council; National Park Authority; Higher 

Education Funding Council for Wales; Arts Council of Wales; the Sports Council for 

Wales; the National Library of Wales; and the National Museum of Wales. 

Assessment of Local Well-being

13. Attached at Appendix 1 is an update provided to the Cardiff Executive Public 

Services Board of plans in place to deliver the requirements of the Well being of 

Future Generations Act in respect of Cardiff’s Assessment of Local Well-being and 

the Local Well-being Plan.

14. The PSB is required to publish an assessment of the state of economic, social, 

environmental and cultural well-being in its area; consult on the assessment with a  

range  of bodies including the Commissioner; the Board’s invited participants; its 

other partners; the local authority’s overview and scrutiny committee;  relevant 

voluntary organisations; resident representatives; business representatives; trade 

unions representatives; any other persons who, in the opinion of the board, are 

interested in the improvement of the area’s economic, social, environmental and 

cultural well-being. This Assessment of Well-being must be published no later than 1 

year before the PSB Well-being Plan is published. 

Page 42



Local Well-being Plans

15. The PSB is required to prepare and publish a local well-being plan which sets out the 

local well-being objectives and the steps it proposes to take to meet them. The 

publication of the local well-being plan must tie in with the local government election 

cycle, no later than one year after the date of the next ordinary election. Prior to its 

publication, the PSB must provide a draft copy of the local well being plan for consultation 

to the Commissioner; its invited participants and its other partners; the  overview and scrutiny 

committee; relevant voluntary organisations, resident and business representatives; trade 

unions representatives etc. as identified in the Act for a period of no less than 12 weeks.

Annual Progress Report

16. The PSB is required to prepare and publish an annual progress report that must be 

sent to the Welsh Ministers; the Commissioner; the Auditor General for Wales; and 

this Committee as the nominated overview and scrutiny committee.

17. PSBs will establish their own performance management system. Where, however, 

progress in establishing performance management systems is poor or inconsistent   Welsh 

Ministers have the power to set performance measures so that the local authority overview 

and scrutiny committee can function more effectively as an improvement mechanism.

18. Welsh Ministers will not approve PSB well-being plans, The Act makes it clear they are 

locally owned and subject to local scrutiny. Welsh Ministers, however, will have a power to 

refer a plan to the relevant local government scrutiny committee if it is not considered 

sufficient; for example, due to an adverse report by the Future Generations Commissioner.

Page 43



Governance and Reporting Arrangements

19. The Cardiff PSB first met in May 2016, at which it was agreed that the Executive 

PSB should consider partnership governance and reporting arrangements and report 

back to the PSB in November 2016.

20. Members will find at Appendix 2 a report outlining previous Cardiff Partnership 

Board performance reporting arrangements; proposals for a revised PSB   

programme structure in the short term; and diagrammatic proposals for a revised 

thematic structure and partnership model in the longer term (page 4 of 8).

21. This Governance report clearly identifies Scrutiny’s remit within the Well-being of 

Future Generations Act as reviewing decisions made or actions taken by the PSB; 

reviewing the Board’s governance arrangements; making reports to the Board 

regarding its function or governance arrangements; and requiring PSB  members to 

attend Committee.

Way Forward

22. At the meeting the Committee will be briefed on progress, and have an opportunity to 

question Councillor Phil Bale (Council Leader, and  Chair of Cardiff’s  Public 

Services Board);  Paul Orders (Chief Executive and  Chair of the Executive Public 

Services Board ); and Joseph Reay (the Council’s Head of Performance and 

Partnerships).

23. The Committee has determined its future work programme, which  will include 

consideration of the Assessment of Well-being in January 2017.

Legal Implications

24. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

Page 44



consider and review matters there are no direct legal implications. However, legal 

implications may arise if and when the matters under review are implemented with or 

without any modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any legal implications arising from those 

recommendations. All decisions taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be 

within the legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 

imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers on 

behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural 

requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be fully and 

properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 

Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and proper in all the 

circumstances.

Financial Implications

25. The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and recommend 

but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in this report are to 

consider and review matters there are no direct financial implications at this stage in 

relation to any of the work programme. However, financial implications may arise if 

and when the matters under review are implemented with or without any 

modifications. Any report with recommendations for decision that goes to 

Cabinet/Council will set out any financial implications arising from those 

recommendations.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee is recommended to: Consider the information presented, and whether it 

wishes to make any comments or observations to the Leader as the Council’s lead 

representative and Chair of Cardiff’s Public Services Board, about progress in preparing 

to deliver the requirements of the Well being of Future Generations Act.

DAVINA FIORE
Director of Governance & Legal Services 

Page 45



5 October 2016

Page 46



 ITEM 6 

 

 

 

Page 1 of 7 

 

UPDATE - ASSESSMENT OF LOCAL WELL-BEING AND LOCAL WELL-BEING PLAN  
 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 

1. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 places a duty on the statutory 

members of the Public Services Board to work in partnership to contribute to seven 

well-being goals for Wales, which align closely to Cardiff’s seven citizen outcomes: 

• A prosperous Wales 

• A resilient Wales 

• A healthier Wales 

• A more equal Wales 

• A Wales of cohesive communities 

• A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh Language 

• A globally responsible Wales 

2. The Act requires that Public Services Boards undertake an assessment of local well-

being by 31 March 2017, followed by publication of a local well-being plan by May 

2018. A timeline setting out this approach was presented to and approved by the 

Public Services Board at its meeting on 24 May 2016. 

 

Assessment of Local Well-being - Content 

 

3. The Assessment considers the state of economic, social, environmental and cultural 

well-being in the Public Services Board area.  It: 

 

• Must identify the communities that comprise the area 

• Must analyse the state of well-being in each community and the whole area 

• Must analyse the state of well-being of the people in the area and may 

analyse the well-being of particular categories of persons (e.g. vulnerable 

people, protected characteristics, children, LAC, those needing care and 

support etc.) 

• May include any further analysis that the board carries out for assessing the 

well-being of the area 

• Must include predictions of future likely trends in the area 

• Must refer to the National Indicators published by Welsh Government in 

Section 10 of the Act (i.e. 46 identified indicators) 

• Must include any other related analytical data and information the board 

considers appropriate.  

 

4. Non-statutory guidance divides the use of evidence and analysis into two 

components in developing the well-being assessment: situation analysis (the 

painting of a broad picture of well-being so that priorities can be identified); the 

response analysis (the detailed analysis of individual issues and themes to inform 

the development of the local well-being plan). 

 

Page 47



 ITEM 6 

 

 

 

Page 2 of 7 

 

5. The Board must take into account a number of statutory reviews and assessments in 

preparing the assessment: 

 

• The assessment of the risks of the current and predicted impact of climate 

change under the Climate Change Act 2008 (c.27); 

• The review of the sufficiency of nursery education provision under the School 

Standards and Frameworks Act 1998 (c.31); 

• The assessment of the sufficiency of the provision of childcare under the 

Childcare Act 2006 (c.21); 

• The assessment of the sufficiency of play opportunities under the Children 

and Families (Wales) Measure 2010  

• The assessment under the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014; 

• The strategic assessment under section 6 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

relating to reducing crime and disorder in the local authority area; 

• The strategic assessment relating to combating substance misuse; 

• Strategic assessment relating to the reduction of reoffending; 

• Other reviews or assessments set out by the Welsh Ministers. 

 

6. Before publishing the Assessment the PSB must consult with those detailed below. 

Each must be given a copy of the draft Assessment. 

 

• The Commissioner 

• The Board’s invited participants 

• Its other partners 

• Those who received but did not accept the invitation to join the Board 

• The designated local authority Scrutiny Committee (City of Cardiff Council’s 

Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee) 

• Relevant voluntary organisations 

• Representatives of residents 

• Representatives of the business community 

• Trade Unions 

• Those with an interest in natural resources 

• Anyone else considered relevant. 

 

7. No timescale is specified for this consultation, but the Board is required to allow 

sufficient time for meaningful consideration so that consultees can give informed 

feedback. In practice this may mean a minimum of six weeks. 

 

8. Copies of the final Assessment must be sent to:  

• the Welsh Ministers 

• the Future Generations Commissioner 

• the Auditor General for Wales 

• the designated Scrutiny Committee. 

 

Developing the Well-being Assessment - Approach agreed by Public Services Board 

Page 48



 ITEM 6 

 

 

 

Page 3 of 7 

 

 

9. At its meeting on 24 May 2016 the Cardiff Public Services Board agreed an approach 

which built on the work undertaken to update the 2015 Needs Assessment to 

include the 46 National Indicators and an analysis of future trends relevant to 

Cardiff.  It was also agreed that this quantitative analysis would be supplemented 

with the results of ‘Ask Cardiff 2016’, which has recently been launched and will run 

until 11 September 2016. 

 

10. At its meeting on 24 May 2016, the Public Services Board agreed to move quickly to 

identify initial city priority areas, drawn from the issues identified as part of the What 

Matters refresh undertaken in 2015 and using preliminary Ask Cardiff data. It has 

been agreed that a facilitated workshop will be held for the Public Services Board on 

1 December 2016 in order to develop and confirm these initial priorities.   

 

Developing the Well-being Assessment - Detailed approach 

 

11. In order to ensure a strong evidence base for the development of the city’s well-

being objectives, it is proposed that the Well-being Assessment will comprise: 

o the indicators chosen by the Cardiff Partnership Board in the What 

Matters Needs Assessment undertaken in 2015 (updated where possible) 

o the 46 National Indicators defined by the FG Act 

o Ask Cardiff well-being indicators 

o additional indicators that the PSB or partners feel need to be added in 

order to provide a rounded view of the city’s performance; 

• Identification and assessment of the well-being of community areas, based on 

the six existing neighbourhood partnership areas; 

• Identification and assessment of well-being of specific groups of people 

within the area; 

• Future trends analysis.  

 

12. Advice from the Welsh Government is that there is no expectation that both situation 

and response analysis will need to be fully encompassed in the Assessment.  The 

assessment should aim to be ‘situation analysis’-heavy, but that part of the assessment 

should begin to introduce critical analysis and start to consider the “so what” (paving the 

way to response analysis).  The situation analysis will therefore form the bulk of the 

Assessment.  This will be used to generate priorities for collective action (the PSB’s well-

being objectives) with the response analysis then largely informing the Well-being Plan.   

 

13. The Well-being assessment must refer to the findings of the Population Assessment 

which is being undertaken concurrently as part of the Social Services and Well-being 

Act.  The Population Assessment will be published in spring 2017.  The Cardiff 

Research Centre, who are leading the Well-being assessment, are members of the 

steering group and will be undertaking aspects of the population assessment.  This 

link will ensure alignment of activity (for example on community engagement) and 

that the local well-being draws on emerging learning from the population 

assessment. 

Page 49



 ITEM 6 

 

 

 

Page 4 of 7 

 

 

14. The Well-being assessment must also refer to the Future Trends report produced by 

the Future Generations Commissioner.  As this is currently under production, the 

Board has been advised that reference should be made in the meantime to 

“Understanding Wales’ Future 2012.” 

 

15. The assessment will be structured by the seven ‘city outcomes’ identified in What 

Matters (as opposed to the 7 national goals), with the linkages across the well-being 

goals and pillars of well-being made explicit.  Confirmation has been received that it 

is down to individual PSBs how the final assessment is presented. The Act only states 

that a PSB ‘must prepare and publish an assessment of the state of economic, social, 

environmental and cultural wellbeing in its area’.  Similarly, it is up to Boards what 

format to produce and present the assessment.  It is proposed that a web-based 

application be used, allowing for a more dynamic approach, with data being updated 

as and when appropriate.  

 

16. To aid with community engagement a high-level summary of the Well-being 

assessment - the Cardiff Liveable City report - which will be launched at the PSB 

priority workshop on 1 December 2016.  

 

17. Whilst there is a legal requirement for the plan to be formally agreed at meetings of 

each of the statutory members before it can be agreed by the PSB, there is no such 

requirement for the assessment. It is therefore proposed that PSB approve the 

assessment.   

 

18. The Well-being of Future Generations Act places a clear imperative through the ‘five 

ways of working’ on involving communities.  Using the headline data from the 

Liveable City report, a programme of engagement events across Autumn/Winter 

2016 will begin a conversation with partners and communities to help develop 

Cardiff’s well-being objectives. This will ensure that the Local Well-being Plan 

addresses evidence-based community priorities. 

 

19. The results of the engagement programme, detailed work on the well-being on 

Cardiff’s neighbourhoods and specific communities, and an analysis of future trends 

will be brought together to form the Well-being Assessment. This will be sent for 

consultation with key stakeholders and those specified in the Act in 

January/February 2017. 

 

20. A timeline for producing the various components of the Well-being Assessment, and 

the Local Well-being Plan, is attached at Appendix A.  

 

Recommendations 

The Executive Public Service Board is recommended to: 

- Agree the development of the Well-being Assessment according to the timeline and 

high-level structure set out in this report; 

Page 50



 ITEM 6 

 

 

 

Page 5 of 7 

 

- Consider the engagement programme for the development of city priorities in terms 

of format and resourcing.    

Page 51



 ITEM 6 

 

 

 

Page 6 of 7 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

Cardiff Well-being Assessment and Well-being Plan Timeline 

 

July - Sep 2016 Ask Cardiff Consultation  

 

 

26 Sept 2016 Executive PSB meeting 

- Preliminary city-wide Ask Cardiff data 

- Indicator sets 

 

 

Mid Oct 2016 Draft Liveable City report circulated to PSB and 

Executive PSB members 

 

 

14 Nov  2016 Executive Public Services Board 

- Draft Liveable city report 

 

 

1 Dec 2016 PSB Meeting & Priorities Workshop 

- to launch Liveable City report and develop 

city priorities 

 

 

Autumn/winter 

2016 

Engagement programme to develop city priorities  

Dec 2016–  

Jan 2017  

Well-being Assessment finalised  

5 Jan 2017 Executive PSB approves consultation version of 

Well-being Assessment 

 

 

Jan – Feb 2017 Assessment sent for consultation with statutory 

consultees, including City of Cardiff Council 

Scrutiny 

Must allow 

‘sufficient time’ for 

consultation – 4 

weeks minimum? 

10 Mar 2017 Executive PSB meeting 

 

 

21 Mar 2017 PSB meeting agrees final Well-being Assessment 

  

 

Mar 2017 Send agreed Well-being Assessment to Welsh 

Government/FG Commissioner/WAO and Council 

Scrutiny Committee  

 

Mar 2017 Publication of Well-being Assessment 

 

 

Apr 2017 Social Services and Well-being Assessment 

published 

 

TBC May 2017 PSB meeting (after LG election 4
th

 May 2017) 

engagement with work to date and receive draft 

of Well-being Plan. 

 

Page 52



 ITEM 6 

 

 

 

Page 7 of 7 

 

TBC Jun 2017 Executive PSB sign off Well-being Plan version to 

go to Commissioner for advice 

Up to 14 Weeks 

process – may be 

shorter 

Sept 2017 Re-draft Well-being Plan following advice 

 

 

TBC Late Sept 

2017 

Executive PSB agrees consultation version of well-

being Plan 

 

 

Oct – Dec 2017 Statutory consultation period  Mandatory 12 

Weeks 

Dec 2017– Feb 

2018  

Prepare final draft Plan Recommended 10 

week process 

TBC Late Feb 

2018 

PSB Full Meeting considers final draft Well-being 

Plan 

 

Mar 2018 Incorporate PSB recommendations 

 

 

TBC Mar 2018 Present Well-being Plan to Full Council and  

statutory member organisations for final approval 

 

 

April 2018 Well-being Plan launched 

 

 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



ITEM 12 

 

  

Page 1 of 8 
 

CARDIFF PUBLIC SERVICES BOARD – GOVERNANCE AND REPORTING 

ARRANGEMENTS   

 

1. At its inaugural meeting on the 24 May 2016, the Cardiff Public Services Board 

(PSB) agreed that the Executive Public Services Board should consider current 

partnership governance and reporting arrangements, reporting back to the PSB 

in November.  This included: 

• Reviewing and streamlining the boards reporting to, and the reports 

received by, the Public Services Board 

• Establishing a means through which progress towards PSB priorities 

could be reported to the PSB, and action taken as appropriate 

• Establishing a means through which the city’s performance (with a focus 

on outcomes, not on the performance of individual services) could be 

regularly reported to the PSB.  

 

2. This report sets out the current structure of partnership programme boards and 

associated reporting arrangements, and makes recommendations for the 

Executive PSB to consider.  It also provides an update on Scrutiny arrangements 

for the Public Services Board.   

  

Cardiff Partnership Board – Reporting Arrangements 

 

3. The partnership arrangements set up under the former Cardiff Partnership 

Board (CPB) comprise both a spatial focus and thematic focus (see below). 

 
Neighbourhood Partnerships (spatial focus) 

 

4. The Cardiff Partnership Board (CPB) received quarterly update reports from each 

the six Neighbourhood Partnership areas against their individual Neighbourhood 

Page 55



ITEM 12 

 

  

Page 2 of 8 
 

action plans.  These quarterly reports are also reported to the Neighbourhood 

Programme Board which meets on a bi-monthly basis, provides strategic 

operational support for multi-agency problem-solving, communication and joint 

working to address neighbourhood issues and priorities.  The CPB also received 

a quarterly highlight report summarising the main issues across the six 

Neighbourhoods, prepared by the Partnership Secretariat. 

 

5. In addition to reviewing reporting arrangements, the PSB commissioned a 

review of the effectiveness of the current approach to neighbourhood 

partnership working.  Initial proposals will be considered under agenda item 7.   

 

City Wide Issues (thematic focus) 

 

6. The thematic programmes set out above are focussed on strategic issues which 

do not have a specific geographical dimension, being either relevant to the 

whole city or to multiple neighbourhood areas.  Each thematic programme 

incorporates a number of work streams (see list attached at Appendix A). The 

programme boards have set their own schedule of meetings; some meeting on a 

regular bi-monthly basis, while others remain ‘virtual’ programmes with no 

formal meetings taking place.  

 

7. The CPB received rolling updates from each thematic programme, partly 

through quarterly highlight reporting and partly through regular attendance of 

programme leads at CPB meetings. The Partnership Secretariat also attended 

most programme board meetings, as well as some of the work stream meetings 

underneath them, in order to ensure a flow of information up and down.  It is 

unlikely that the capacity to do so could exist under the current (or any future) 

arrangements. 

 

8. Discussions with officers working on these programmes have made it clear that, 

while several are providing strong impetus for improving partnership working on 

city priorities, others have taken on a largely ‘business as usual’ emphasis.   

 

9. Under the Well-being of Future Generations Act, there is a clear imperative that 

the work of the Public Services Board should focus on areas where the Board 

has decided that collective action of public service partners will have a positive 

impact on the state of well-being in the area.  

 

10. The Public Services Board has agreed that it will use the framework provided by 

the Act to identify and agree a small number of tangible priorities which require 

collective action (which will serve as the PSB’s well-being objectives).  Under the 

Act, these objectives may be reviewed and revised on an annual basis as part of 

the annual review of the Local Well-being Plan. 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



ITEM 12 

 

  

Page 3 of 8 
 

Programme Highlight reporting 

 

11. As noted above, quarterly highlight reports have been compiled for the thematic 

programmes as well as for each of the neighbourhood areas.  

 

12. These reports were presented to the Cardiff Partnership Board on a regular 

basis. Given the meeting dates of the respective boards, there has sometimes 

been a delay in presenting performance information to the Partnership Board 

(e.g. Q1 data being reported in September). Alternatively, reports have been 

presented in draft to the Partnership Board without having had formal sign off 

by their own full programme board.   

 

13. A summary highlight report compiled by the Partnership Secretariat 

accompanied the thematic and neighbourhood quarterly reports. The report set 

out the RAG status of the programme; risks (or current issues); narrative 

discussion of ‘featured milestones’ from the programme’s action plan, and 

agenda items for the former Cardiff Partnership Board to consider. Several 

programmes have not featured on this report during recent reporting periods as 

they have not produced highlight reports on a regular basis. 

 

14. The content of the highlight reports themselves is often highly narrative, 

concentrating on milestones achieved against a programme’s action plan. This 

makes the reports lengthy, containing information of a highly operational 

nature, rather than information which can result in constructive action from the 

Partnership Board. 

 

15. Although the template contains a section for risk reporting, it does not allow for 

reporting of issues which the Partnership Board could act upon. A section for 

highlighting ‘decisions for the Cardiff Partnership Board’ is rarely used, and 

when it has been used this has often resulted in issues being added to agendas 

for future CPB meetings, rather than resulting in immediate decision.  An 

analysis of highlight reports presented to previous Partnership Board meeting 

shows few decisions requested of the Board as a result of these highlight 

reports. 

 

Proposals 

 

16. It is proposed that a number of short-term changes are made to the structure 

and reporting arrangements for the former CPB programmes, while medium- to 

long-term structures are developed to best deliver the PSB’s well-being 

objectives. In the shorter-term this will streamline the Executive PSB and PSB’s 

agendas, while ensuring continuing oversight and challenge of collective 

performance. In the longer term this will allow partnership work to concentrate 

on delivery of the well-being objectives and areas which truly require a 

collective focus. 

 

Page 57



ITEM 12 

 

  

Page 4 of 8 
 

17. In structural terms, a revised programme structure is proposed for the short-

term:  

 

• Given their business-as-usual nature, it is proposed that the Executive 

PSB agrees that the former CPB programme structure is amended to 

remove the Thriving and Prosperous, Urban Environment and Education 

Development programmes from the Partnership structures with 

immediate effect (although they will continue to be monitored within 

their respective business-as-usual governance structures).  

• The other thematic programmes will continue in the short-term (while 

alternative thematic structural proposals are developed) and will report 

to the Executive PSB on a quarterly basis as set out at paragraph 19.   

• Given the Public Services Board’s role as the city’s statutory community 

safety partnership it is proposed that the PSB maintains an oversight of 

the Safer and Cohesive Communities Board;  

• It is further proposed that regular updates are received from the Cardiff 

and Vale Regional Partnership Board in order to maintain the synergies 

between the two bodies.   

 

18. In the longer term it is proposed that city-wide issues are addressed in two 

ways. First, a revised thematic programme structure should be developed to 

address a small number of high-level partnership issues which the PSB believes 

may require an ongoing collective focus (for example public services asset 

management). Secondly, time-limited task and finish teams will be established 

to progress the specific city priorities which are selected as part of the Well-

being Assessment and Plan. This will exist alongside the current neighbourhood 

arrangements until any revised approach to neighbourhood locality working is 

put in place. 

 

 

Page 58



ITEM 12 

 

  

Page 5 of 8 
 

 

 

19. In terms of thematic programme reporting, in the short to medium term it is 

proposed that the Executive PSB should receive a revised quarterly summary 

highlight report from existing thematic programmes taking an exception 

reporting basis, rather than the full raft of quarterly programme reports. This 

summary will focus on current risks, issues and decisions which programme 

boards feel need to be raised to Executive PSB level for action. Where a 

programme is flagged as having a ‘red’ or ‘red/amber’ status this will also be 

required to be reported to the Executive PSB. This will focus the Executive PSB 

on challenging performance where necessary and on the key decisions and 

issues it needs to address. Appropriate longer-term reporting arrangements will 

also be developed as the city’s priorities develop (see below).  

 

20. In respect of Neighbourhood Partnership reporting it is recommended that the 

PSB continue to receive a summary highlight report, approved by the 

Neighbourhood Programme Board, and that over the medium term 

neighbourhood reporting is realigned to reflect any new approach to ‘locality 

working.’ 

 

Future City Performance  

 

21. To give an overview of how the city is performing across the seven city 

outcomes identified in ‘What Matters’ the City of Cardiff Council launched the 

Cardiff Liveable City Report in October 2015.   

 

22. The report outlines Cardiff’s strengths and weaknesses, and compares the city’s 

performance to that of other major UK cities which face similar challenges, 

across a wide range of factors that make up a liveable city.  The report was 

developed in anticipation of the Well-being of Future Generations Act, in 

consultation with the then Sustainable Development Commissioner.   

 

23. The report included an introductory chapter on Cardiff and the Capital Region’s 

demographics and a series of chapters aligned to the seven outcomes identified 

by the What Matters strategy: 

 

•   Cardiff has a thriving and prosperous economy 

•   People in Cardiff are safe and feel safe 

•   People in Cardiff are healthy 

•   People in Cardiff achieve their full potential 

•   People in Cardiff have a clean, attractive and sustainable environment 

•   Cardiff is a fair, just and inclusive society  

•   Cardiff is a great place to live, work and play. 

 

Page 59



ITEM 12 

 

  

Page 6 of 8 
 

24. For each outcome a small number of outcome indicators (as opposed to output 

/performance indicators
1
) were identified by the Cardiff Partnership Board, 

drawing on the What Matters Strategic Needs Assessment 2015.   

 

25. Feedback on the report has been positive, particularly in terms of the 

presentation of data in an accessible way, although comments received from 

Council members and Scrutiny considered the report to be light on qualitative 

data and also on some major city issues such as housing and homelessness. 

 

26. The Well-being of Future Generations Act identifies 46 National Indicators for 

Wales that have been chosen for the purpose of measuring progress towards 

the achievement of the national Well-being goals.  The Cardiff Well-being 

Assessment must make reference to these indicators.  However, the indicators 

which demonstrate progress on a national level may not be the most 

appropriate to measure progress at a city level.  While statutory guidance is that 

they should be ‘referred’ to in the annual review of the city’s local well-being 

plan, they do not have to be included in the Liveable City Report.   

 

Liveable City Report 2016 

 

27. The Cardiff PSB wishes to open up a discussion with partners and communities 

on the city’s long term priorities in order to inform the development of the PSB’s 

well-being objectives.  A programme of engagement events / workshops is being 

designed for the autumn, beginning with a facilitated event at the next full PSB 

meeting in November. 

 

28. It is proposed that the Liveable City Report 2016 be launched at this event and 

form the basis for the ‘city priorities’ discussions.   

 

29. In order to provide a sound evidence base, the Liveable City Report 2016 

therefore needs to be drawn from: 

• The indicators chosen by the Cardiff Partnership Board in 2015 

• The 46 National Indicators defined by the FG Act 

• Ask Cardiff well-being indicators 

• Additional indicators that the PSB or partners feel need to be added in 

order to provide a rounded view of the city’s performance. 

 

30. In deciding which city indicators from these sources should be included in the 

Liveable City Report the following criteria were used: 

• The indicators should measure outcomes 

• These outcomes should resonate with and matter to the public  

• There should be a limited number  

                                                 
1 They do therefore not constitute performance targets and should not be interpreted as defining the immediate 
objectives of particular policies or programmes.   
 

Page 60



ITEM 12 

 

  

Page 7 of 8 
 

• The outcomes need to be ones where significant progress can be 

achieved over the long term and where milestones can be measured 

over a 5-15 year period  

• The indicator should allow comparisons to be made over time. Thus 

comparisons should remain valid even as policies or data collection 

methods change, there should be secure sources of data, and the value 

of the indicator should be capable of change over time  

• Ideally the indicator should allow comparisons with other places – 

particularly Core Cities and other European cities  

• The set as a whole should contain subjective as well as objective 

indicators.  

 

31. Appendix B includes a list of proposed outcome indicators for the Liveable City 

Report 2016. 

 

Scrutiny arrangements 

 

32. Scrutiny arrangements relating to the former Cardiff Partnership Board saw a 

multi-agency Cardiff Partnership Board Scrutiny Panel established as a ‘task 

group’ of the City of Cardiff Council’s Community and Adult Services Scrutiny 

Committee, which gave it a formal standing under the Council’s Constitution. 

This Committee was chosen as home Committee as much of the Partnership’s 

work related to issues falling under its terms of reference. The Panel undertook 

a thematic approach to scrutiny, originally identifying the following as their 

priorities: 

 

• Engagement  

• Business Intelligence 

• Relationship between the Cardiff Partnership Board and the Partnership 

Leadership Group. 

 

33. The Well-being of Future Generations Act states that scrutiny can: 

 

• review decisions made or actions taken by the PSB 

• review the Board’s governance arrangements 

• make reports to the Board regarding its function or governance 

arrangements 

• require PSB members to attend the Committee. 

 

34. Statutory guidance is that while subject committees may consider issues 

specifically relating to their individual remits, there should be a Committee with 

designated responsibility for an overview function.  The Council’s Policy Review 

and Performance Scrutiny Committee (PRAP) has been designated as having 

formal responsibility for scrutinising the Public Services Board, while each of the 

other four scrutiny committees can scrutinise specific Public Services Board 

issues falling under its terms of reference.  

Page 61



ITEM 12 

 

  

Page 8 of 8 
 

 

Recommendations 

 

35. It is recommended that the Executive PSB: 

 

• Agrees that the Executive PSB receives a single summary highlight report 

on Neighbourhood Partnerships, approved by the Neighbourhood 

Programme Board;   

 

• Agrees that, over the medium to long term, neighbourhood reporting to 

the Public Services Board is considered as part of the review of 

Neighbourhood Governance and any new approach to 

neighbourhood/locality working; 

 

• It is further proposed that regular updates are received from the Cardiff 

and Vale Regional Partnership Board in order to maintain the synergies 

between the two bodies.   

 

• Agrees that the current thematic programme structure is amended to 

remove the Thriving and Prosperous, Urban Environment and Education 

Development programmes, but that other programmes continue in the 

short term;    

 

• Recommend that other CPB programmes continue in the short-term, but 

that the Executive PSB develops a revised partnership structure for PSB 

approval which will take both a high-level thematic and task and finish 

approach; 

 

• Agrees that the remaining CPB  programmes should report to it on an 

exception basis in future, focusing on issues and decisions which require 

Executive PSB input via a revised summary report; 

 

• Agrees that the Liveable City Report provide an annual update to the PSB 

on city performance, and that this helps inform an annual appraisal of 

PSB priorities included in the Local Well-being Plan; 

 

• Approves the city-level indicators outlined in Appendix B; 

 

• Considers ongoing relations with the Policy Review and Performance 

Scrutiny Committee. 

 

 

Page 62



CITY AND COUNTY OF CARDIFF            
DINAS A SIR CAERDYDD

POLICY REVIEW & PERFORMANCE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE                                                     11 October 2016

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL STATUTORY ANNUAL IMPROVEMENT 
REPORT 2015-16                    

Reason for this Report

1. To facilitate the Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee’s 

consideration of the Council’s Annual Statutory Improvement Report prior to 

its submission to Cabinet on 13 October 2016.

 

Background

2. The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 requires the Council to 

publish its Improvement Objectives and how it plans to achieve them. In 

previous assessments of the Council’s performance of this duty, the Auditor 

General for Wales highlighted the need for the Council to be more focussed 

on its key priorities and their delivery.  In recognition of this opinion, and the 

growing pressure on the Council’s finances available to deliver services to 

the citizens of Cardiff in 2015-16, the Council focussed on the following four 

priorities:

 Education and Skills for People of All Ages.
 Supporting People in Vulnerable Situations.
 Sustainable Economic Development as the Engine for Growth and 

Jobs.

Page 63

Agenda Item 6



 Working with People and Partners to Design, Deliver and Improve 
Services.

3. The Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-17 focussed on what the Council would 

deliver to achieve these four priorities, and in turn they helped to shape the 

Council’s Improvement Objectives for 2015-16 as well as the content of the 

Outcome Agreement with the Welsh Government for 2013-16.

4. The Council’s Improvement Objectives for 2015-16 focussed on:

 Every Cardiff school is a good school where learners achieve well.
 Looked After Children in Cardiff achieve their potential.
 Adult learners achieve their potential.
 People at risk in Cardiff are safeguarded.
 People in Cardiff have access to good quality housing.
 People in Cardiff are supported to live independently.
 Cardiff has more employment opportunities and higher value jobs.
 Cardiff has a high quality city environment that includes attractive public 

spaces and good supporting transport infrastructure.
 Communities and Partners are actively involved in the design, delivery 

and improvement of highly valued services.
 The City of Cardiff Council has effective governance arrangements and 

improves performance in key areas.
 The City of Cardiff Council makes use of fewer, but better, buildings.

5. The Council is required under the Measure to assess its performance 

against the National Strategic Indicator (NSI) and Public Accountability 

Measure (PAM) data sets. These are set by the Welsh Government. Where 

these indicators and measures are relevant to the progress made against 

the Council’s Improvement Objectives and Outcome Agreement they are 

included in this Improvement Report. The Council’s performance against the 

full range of NSI and PAM data sets is shown in the ‘How We Measure Up’ 

section.

Page 64



City of Cardiff Council’s Annual Improvement Report 2015-16

6. The Council’s Annual Statutory Improvement Report provides a 

retrospective summary evaluation of performance for 2015-16 and Members 

should note that the Report, attached as Appendix 1, is a final draft. It 

contains the key elements to meet the statutory requirements, but will be 

subject to some minor amendment or updating prior to submitting to Council 

on 20 October 2016.

7. The Council’s Annual Statutory Improvement Report 2015-16, attached as 

Appendix 1, is a text document which, once approved, will be translated 

into Welsh prior to publication by 31 October 2016. 

8. The Improvement Report should:

 Provide a picture of the Council’s performance for the reporting year 

2015-16 against the agreed outcomes, activities (improvement 

objectives) and targets.

 Communicate improvement information that is timely and accurate to 

Members, officers, citizens, communities, stakeholders, other 

Councils, the Welsh Government and regulators.

9. The Wales Audit Office issued the Council with a certificate of compliance 

for the Council’s assessment of 2014-15 performance on 13 November 

2015. The certificate confirmed that the Council had not discharged its 

duties under sections 15(2), (3), (8) and (9) of the Measure. The Auditor 

General made the recommendation that the Council must ensure that its 

annual report contains a summary assessment of the Council’s view of its 

success in achieving its improvement objectives for the previous year.

10.The Council’s Annual Statutory Improvement Report 2015-16 therefore 

seeks to address these issues.

Page 65



Our Performance

11. In 2015-16 the Council improved or maintained its performance in 70% of 

National Performance Indicators compared to 47.7% in 2014-15. 

Performance in 2015-16 exceeds the all-Wales improvement of 65%; 

making the Council the third most improved Local Authority in Wales. 

12.Despite positive trends, however, it is recognised that the Council will need 

to continue to focus on addressing areas of underperformance which are 

also underlined by the NSI and PAM results 2015-16.  These areas will in 

part inform future planning arrangements in the context of changing 

demographics, a growing population and ongoing budgetary pressures. 

13.The Wales Audit Office undertook a Corporate Assessment Follow-on 

review in October 2015, and concluded that a better performance 

management culture was emerging. The Council responded positively to 

this assessment with a Statement of Action and further development of its 

Performance & Governance Programme. In their Annual Improvement 

Report issued in July 2016 the Wales Audit Office determined that during 

2016-17 the Council is likely to comply with the requirements of the Local 

Government (Wales) Measure 2009, providing arrangements to support 

improved outcomes are embedded and the current pace of improvement is 

maintained. 

14.Within its Performance & Governance Programme, the Council has 

embarked on a programme of activity to further develop and embed its 

performance management arrangements. This will allow the Council to 

develop a meaningful Performance Management Framework to facilitate 

effective planning, reporting and performance support. 

15. In their letter of March 2016, Estyn deemed that sufficient progress had 

been made to remove the Council from any further Estyn monitoring.

Page 66



16. In a report entitled ‘Inspection of Children’s Services in City of Cardiff 

Council’ of March 2016, CSSIW reported that our Elected Members and our 

Corporate Management Team demonstrated a common understanding of 

the direction and drive needed to ensure Social Services effectively 

supports improved outcomes for children and young people in Cardiff, and 

partnership agencies are well-engaged strategically and evidence 

understanding of the complex issues facing the Council.  CSSIW also 

highlighted that the needs of the child were kept at the forefront of 

assessment, and the core assessments observed were comprehensive and 

of good quality.  

Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment of the City of Cardiff Council

17. In February 2016, the Auditor General published his report on the Corporate 

Assessment Follow-on. This report concluded at that time that ‘The Council 

has put in place better arrangements to support improvement and to 

address longstanding issues, but is now at a critical point in embedding 

them if it is to achieve a step change in delivering improved outcomes’.  The 

outcome of this work was a formal recommendation that ‘The Council must 

ensure that it addresses the proposals for improvement as set out in the 

report to deliver improved outcomes within the next 12 months’.

18.The Council responded constructively to the Corporate Assessment Follow-

on and prepared a Statement of Action to address the recommendation 

made and its associated proposals for improvement. The Statement of 

Action was resolved at the Council’s Cabinet meeting on 21 March 2016 

and a Performance & Governance Programme has been established, 

focussing on Business Planning, Performance Reporting and Performance 

Support. 

19.The Annual Statutory Improvement Report, as outlined earlier, provides a 

picture of the Council’s performance for the reporting year against the 

Page 67



agreed outcomes, activities (improvement objectives), and targets and  

therefore is a key strand in the Council’s performance arrangements.

20.The Council’s Annual Statutory Improvement Report will be audited by the 

Wales Audit Office in November 2016.

Role of the Auditor General for Wales

21.The Auditor General for Wales, through the Wales Audit Office (WAO), 

audits each authority’s Improvement Report to assess the extent to which 

the Report has been prepared and published in accordance with statutory 

requirements and will determine whether or not to issue a Certificate of 

Compliance.  

Scrutiny of Improvement

22.  The Committee continues to engage with the Council’s improvement 

journey by routinely scrutinising both external improvement assessment (by 

the WAO), and internal improvement planning.   The focus of work 

programming for 2016/17 acknowledges the pivotal point the Council is at in 

embedding improvement.  With this in mind the Committee will consider 

progress of the overall Organisational Development (OD) Portfolio and 

specific projects within the OD Programmes; engage particularly closely with 

how the Council is refreshing its performance monitoring framework; and 

progress in delivering the Statement of Action developed in response to the 

Corporate Assessment Follow on Review.

23. In September 2016 the Committee considered all Wales performance and 

took reassurance from the published Welsh Government tables that the 

Council is evidently on the improvement journey Cabinet Members and 

officers claim it is on.

Page 68



24.The Committee has acknowledged that the Council is in the process of 

refreshing its performance management reporting arrangements. The full 

Committee, and indeed its performance representatives, have found the on-

going interaction with officers of the Performance team most valuable.

25. In September the Committee was reassured by the Auditor General’s 

conclusion that the Council is likely to comply with the requirements of the 

Local Government Measure during 2016-17, as it has in place better 

arrangements to support improvement. Overall Members felt the Council 

has an opportunity to secure a step change in improved outcomes by the 

end of 2016, if it continues to embed improved arrangements. However the 

Committee also considered that weak performance in some key service 

areas make it clear that the Council has a way to go. 

26. The Committee will continue to be committed to playing an effective internal 

critical friend role in the Council’s improvement journey, and I have 

programmed a progress report on the Corporate Assessment Statement of 

Action for consideration in November 2016 when we will explore further 

embedding arrangements the Council has put in place.

Way Forward

27.The Committee is invited to consider the Annual Statutory Improvement 

Report 2015-16 and internally challenge how effectively the Council is 

preparing for improvement going forward, by focusing on delivery of its four 

key priorities.

Page 69



Legal Implications

28.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in 

this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct legal 

implications. However, legal implications may arise if and when the matters 

under review are implemented with or without any modifications. Any report 

with recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out 

any legal implications arising from those recommendations. All decisions 

taken by or on behalf of the Council must (a) be within the legal powers of 

the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement imposed by law; (c) 

be within the powers of the body or person exercising powers on behalf of 

the Council; (d) be undertaken in accordance with the procedural 

requirements imposed by the Council e.g. Scrutiny Procedure Rules; (e) be 

fully and properly informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having 

regard to the Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable 

and proper in all the circumstances.

Financial Implications

29.The Scrutiny Committee is empowered to enquire, consider, review and 

recommend but not to make policy decisions. As the recommendations in 

this report are to consider and review matters there are no direct financial 

implications at this stage in relation to any of the work programme. 

However, financial implications may arise if and when the matters under 

review are implemented with or without any modifications. Any report with 

recommendations for decision that goes to Cabinet/Council will set out any 

financial implications arising from those recommendations.

Page 70



RECOMMENDATIONS

The Committee is recommended to:

I. consider the Council’s Statutory Annual Improvement Report 2015-16

II. report any concerns and observations on the Annual Improvement 

Report 2015-16 to the Leader of the Council prior to submission to  

Cabinet and publication by the statutory deadline of 31 October 2016

Paul Orders
Chief Executive
4 October 2016

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



City of Cardiff Council

Improvement Report
2015/16

Page 73



2

Contents

1.     Introduction                                                                                                                                                                      Page 5
2.     Our Improvement Objectives                                                                                                                                       Page 7
3.     The Cost of our Services                                                                                                                                                 Page 10
4.     Our Collaborative Activity                                                                                                                                              Page 13
5.     Our Outcome Agreement                                                                                                                                              Page 15
6.     Our National Strategic Performance Indicators and Public Accountability Measures                                Page 17
7.     Continuous Improvement in Cardiff                                                                                                                          Page 19
8.     Citizen Engagement – The Cardiff Debate                                                                                                              Page 21
9.     Organisational Development                                                                                                                                       Page 24
10.  ‘What Matters’ – The 10 Year Strategy for Cardiff                                                                                                Page 27
11.  ‘Everyone Matters’ – Equalities                                                                                                                                    Page 29
12.  Sustainability                                                                                                                                                                     Page 31
13.  Scrutiny in Cardiff                                                                                                                                                             Page 33
14.  How we Self-evaluate our Improvement Objectives                                                                                             Page 36

Improvement Objectives: 
- Every Cardiff school is a good school where learners achieve well                                                                          Page 40 
- Looked after children in Cardiff achieve their full potential                                                                                       Page 49
- Adult learners achieve their potential                                                                                                                               Page 53
- People at risk in Cardiff are safeguarded                                                                                                                        Page 56
- People in Cardiff have access to good quality housing                                                                                              Page 62
- People in Cardiff are supported to live independently                                                                                                Page 65
- Cardiff has more employment opportunities and higher value jobs                                                                     Page 70
- Cardiff has a high quality city environment that includes attractive public spaces and
good supporting transport infrastructure                                                                                                                        Page 73
- Communities and Partners are actively involved in the design, delivery and improvement
of highly valued services                                                                                                                                                       Page 78
- The City of Cardiff Council has effective governance arrangements and improves
performance in key areas                                                                                                                                                     Page 83
- The City of Cardiff Council makes use of fewer, but better, buildings                                                                    Page 88

How We Measure Up                                                                                                                                                              Page 92

Page 74



3

Our Priorities: 

 Supporting 
vulnerable 

people
  

Creating more 
and better 
paid jobs

  

Working together 
to transform 

services
  

     

Co-operative Council: Delivering the Vision

Co-operative Values: We Are Cardiff

    

Being a liveable capital city means achieving seven  shared outcomes

People in Cardiff are Safe and Feel Safe    People Achieve their Full Potential   

Cardiff has a Prosperous Economy     Cardiff is Fair, Just and Inclusive

People in Cardiff are Healthy    Cardiff is Clean and Sustainable     

Cardiff is a Great Place to Live, Work and Play

Together
We work with our

communities and partners
across the city to deliver the

best outcomes for the
people of Cardiff

Fair
We champion fairness,

recognising that with less
resource we need to prioritise
services for those who need

them most.

Open
We are open and honest

about the difficult choices we
face, and allow people to
have their say on what’s
important to them and

their communities

             
          

     
   

            
          

    

            
       

     We will be a Co-operative Council, 
connected to the citizens   
    and communities of Cardiff

   Cardiff will connect Wales to the world and 
be a Capital city that attracts business, 
investment,  talent and tourism 

Better education 
and skills for all

Our Vision for Cardiff

Page 75



4

Cardiff ranked as ‘third best’ Capital City in Europe

Cardiff has moved up the rankings to become Europe’s ‘third best’ capital city to live in according to a
new European survey which sought the opinion of 2,000 Cardiff residents. Cardiff climbed from 6th place
to joint third with Copenhagen and Stockholm. The Quality of Life in European Cities gathered the
opinions of residents in EU member states, focussing on quality of life and levels of satisfaction with
various aspects of city living, including:

•      Employment Opportunities
•      Public Transport
•      Education
•      Health
•      Cultural activities 
•      Sports facilities
•      Shopping
•      House prices
•      Air quality
•      Public spaces
•      Safety
•      Green spaces
•      Cleanliness

“It’s wonderful to see Cardiff rising up the ranks rated side by side with European cities the
calibre of Stockholm and Copenhagen. Our Council’s vision is to make Cardiff Europe’s Most
Liveable Capital City, so this is really pleasing and something we can all be proud of”
– Leader of the City of Cardiff Council, Cllr Phil Bale 

*Source ITV Report of 8th February 2016 

Page 76



5

Introduction

Page 77



6

Welcome to our 2015/16 Improvement report

This is a statutory document that we publish each year to demonstrate the service improvements that the
Council has made, during the previous financial year, and the progress made towards achieving our
Improvement Objectives. 

This Improvement report is designed to fulfil our statutory obligation for the 2015-16 financial year. It is a review
of our performance, using evidence that demonstrates the delivery of our Improvement Objectives and the
impact our work has made. We balance this by providing an assessment of any areas that have shown slow
progress and not resulted in the levels of performance we set out to achieve. 

Further detailed information about the current and future plans for the Council’s contribution to public services in
Cardiff is contained within a number of key documents including:

•      Corporate Plan  
•      What Matters Integrated Partnership Strategy 
•      Directorate Delivery Plans 
•      Wales Audit Office Assessments under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 
•      The Council’s Outcome Agreement with the Welsh Government

This Improvement Report is available in English and Welsh online at www.cardiff.gov.uk, and in printed format
from the Council’s libraries.

Copies are available in braille on request.

Your feedback on the content and style of this Improvement Report is welcomed.  Please send your comments to
the Head of Performance and Partnerships, City of Cardiff Council, County Hall, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff. CF10
4UW or email improvementandinformation@cardiff.gov.uk

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg.

Page 78



7

Our Improvement Objectives

Page 79



The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 requires that we publish our Improvement Objectives and how we
plan to achieve them.  The Auditor General for Wales, in previous assessments of how we do this, highlighted the
need for the Council to be more focussed on our key priorities and on the delivery of these. In recognition of this
opinion, our Corporate Plan 2015-2017 set out the following four priorities:

•      Education and Skills for people of all ages
•      Supporting people in vulnerable situations
•      Sustainable Economic Development as the engine for growth and jobs
•      Working with people and partners to design, deliver and improve services

The Council’s Corporate Plan 2015-17 focusses on what the Council will deliver to achieve these four priorities,
and in turn they have helped to shape our Improvement Objectives for 2015-16.

Our Improvement Objectives focus on:-

•      Every Cardiff school is a good school where learners achieve well
•      Looked After Children in Cardiff achieve their potential
•      Adult learners achieve their potential
•      People at risk in Cardiff are safeguarded
•      People in Cardiff have access to good quality housing
•      People in Cardiff are supported to live independently
•      Cardiff has more employment opportunities and higher value jobs
•      Cardiff has a high quality city environment that includes attractive public spaces and good supporting

transport infrastructure
•      Communities and Partners are actively involved in the design, delivery and improvement of highly valued

services
•      The City of Cardiff Council has effective governance arrangements and improves performance in key areas
•      The City of Cardiff Council makes use of fewer, but better buildings

8

Page 80



9

Improvement Objective SE SQ SA F S E I C

Every Cardiff school is a good school
where learners achieve well 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Looked After Children in Cardiff achieve 
their potential 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Adult learners achieve their potential 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

People at risk in Cardiff are safeguarded 3 3 3 3 3 3

People in Cardiff have access to good 
quality housing 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

People in Cardiff are supported to live 
independently 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Cardiff has more employment 
opportunities and higher value jobs 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Cardiff has a high quality city environment 
that includes attractive public spaces and 
good supporting transport infrastructure 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

Communities and Partners are actively 
involved in the design, delivery and 
improvement of highly valued services 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

The City of Cardiff Council has effective 
governance arrangements and improves 
performance in key areas 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

In setting our Improvement Objectives an exercise was undertaken to ensure that they contributed to the seven
improvement aspects of Strategic Effectiveness (SE), Service Quality (SQ), Service Availability (SA), Fairness (F),
Sustainability (S), Efficiency (E) and Innovation (I) and the collaborative (C) nature of the work needed to deliver
each one as set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.  The result of this exercise is contained in
the following matrix:-

Page 81



10

The Cost of our Services 

Page 82



11

Our Revenue Budget 
Our financial performance for 2015-16 is summarised in our Statement of Accounts. 
Our outturn position resulted in an underspend against our revenue budget of £1.696 million. 
An overspend of £4.635 million was experienced in connection with directorate budgets.
However, this was more than offset by corporate amounts, including a general contingency amount of £4.000
million, additional Council Tax income (£1.429 million) and additional Outcome Agreement Grant (£0.862
million).

As part of this overall outturn position, it was possible to make a number of contributions to specific earmarked
reserves, for use in connection with future initiatives and cost pressures. 
The final surplus of £1.696 million was transferred to the Council Fund Balance, increasing the balance to
£15.255 million and the Council’s financial resilience in the process. 

In providing our day to day services we incurred costs during 2015-16 in the following areas: 
Employee costs - £388 million, 
Running costs - £559 million
Capital financing costs - £48 million. 

To fund these costs we received: 
£139 million from fees, charges and other income 
£144 million from Council Tax and, 
£714 million from Government grants 

Our Capital Budget
In addition to our revenue spending outlined above, we also spent £289.3 million on our capital programme
during 2015-16. This compares with £82.5 million in 2014-15. 
Within the 2015-16 expenditure figure is a one-off cost of £187.392 million in relation to the Council’s exit of
the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Subsidy System.
Our 2015-16 capital spending programme also included spending on the fabric of dwellings, energy efficiency
schemes, 21st Century Schools, development of community hubs, improvements to transport infrastructure,
leisure centre refurbishments, superfast broadband, energy generation schemes and waste-reduction initiatives. 
Significant projects undertaken during the year include: 
- exit of the HRA Subsidy System
- completion of the new Pontprennau Primary School, 
- refurbishment of Eastern Leisure Centre,
- completion of the new STAR hub and pool,
- Radyr Weir hydro facility,
- public realm and temporary works to allow the closure of Cardiff Bus Station. 

Page 83



The sources of funding of our capital spending in 2015-16 include: 
£8.4 million from Government approved borrowing, 
£48.7 million from prudential borrowing, 
£33.0 million of specific grants and other contributions received, 
£6.0 million in contributions from revenue, and 
£5.9 million from capital receipts 

The most significant capital receipts we received in 2015-16 were: 
- the first instalment in relation to the former central bus station site - £2.0 million, 
- land adjacent to County Hall - £2.4 million
- sale of the Council’s investment in the Medicentre joint venture - £1.3 million
- sale of Council dwellings - £1.7 million

Capital receipts not used to pay for capital expenditure or to repay debt are carried forward to meet future
capital expenditure commitments.

12

Page 84



13

Our Collaborative Activity

Page 85



14

In addition to working with public services in Cardiff to plan and deliver more effective services across the City,
we have continued to work with other local authorities and organisations to establish shared collaborative
services. 

We use this way of working as a means of improving services for citizens and communities, reducing our costs
and maximising the use of our available resources. 

Details of some of our collaborative activities during the past year were received by joint meetings and agendas
and minutes for these meetings can be accessed through our website.

Prosiect Gwyrdd Joint Committee: Prosiect Gwyrdd is a partnership between Caerphilly Borough County
Council, The County Council of the City and County of Cardiff, Monmouthshire County Council, Newport Council
and Vale of Glamorgan Council.  The combined municipal waste of the five authorities makes up 40% of the
total municipal waste of Wales. Prosiect Gwyrdd is committed to looking for the best environmental, cost
effective and practical solution for waste after recycling and composting has been maximised in each area.

All authorities are committed to recycling and composting and meeting the challenging targets ahead of us. The
Welsh Assembly Government has outlined a 70% recycling and composting rate by 2025, and each authority is
striving to meet this target.

Shared Regulatory Services Joint Committee: The Shared Regulatory Service is a partnership between
Bridgend Council, Cardiff Council and the Vale of Glamorgan Council. The partnership is governed by a Joint
Committee, which is equally represented by Cabinet Members and Public Protection Committee Chairs from
each Council.  The aim of the partnership is to deliver more efficient, cost effective services, increasing the
resilience of Trading Standards, Environmental Health and Licensing across the region.

Glamorgan Archives Joint Committee: The Glamorgan Archives is administered by the Glamorgan Archives
Joint Committee (GAJC), a Committee of Councillors’ and co-opted members which meets four times a year.
The Committee’s remit is to develop and run a joint archive service for the six local authorities of Bridgend,
Caerphilly, Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Rhondda Cynon Taf and the Vale of Glamorgan.

Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Adoption: This regional adoption service brings together the adoption services of
Cardiff Council, Vale of Glamorgan Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff
County Borough Council. The development of this adoption collaboration is unique to Wales and forms a key
part of the implementation of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. 

Page 86



15

Our Outcome Agreement

Page 87



We set up a three year Outcome Agreement with the Welsh Government to deliver and demonstrate
improvement in a number of key service areas. This is aligned to the Welsh Government’s Programme for
Government, the Council’s key priorities and Improvement Objectives, and focuses on:-

•      Supporting the economy and business
•      Improving the quality of housing
•      Ensuring people receive the help they need to live fulfilled lives
•      Improving school attainment
•      Improving the skills of young people and families

As of 31st March 2016 our Outcome Agreement with the Welsh Government came to an end and the Minister
for Local Government has no plans to set a new round of Outcome Agreements. 

16

Page 88



17

Our National Strategic Performance 
Indicators & Public Accountability Measures

Page 89



18

We are also required under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 to assess our performance against the
National Strategic Indicator (NSI) and Public Accountability Measures (PAM) data sets.  These are set by the
Welsh Government.  Where these indicators and measures are relevant to the progress we have made against
our Improvement Objectives they are included in this Improvement Report.  Our performance against the full
range of NSI and PAM data sets is shown in the ‘How We Measure Up’ section.

We are pleased to report that in 2015-16, we improved or maintained our performance in 70% of our National
Performance Indicators compared to 47.7% in 2014-15. Our performance in 2015-16 exceeds the all Wales
improvement of 65%. The graph below shows that we are the third most improved Local Authority in Wales. 

Where our performance has declined, we are working to understand the reasons for this so we can seek to
improve, if possible, during the current year.

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

Page 90



19

Continuous Improvement in Cardiff

Page 91



In accordance with the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009, we have a duty to improve the services that
we deliver.  Building upon the Corporate Assessment of 2014, the Council received a Corporate Assessment
Follow On inspection by the Wales Audit Office (WAO), in October 2015. The WAO concluded that the Council
has ‘better arrangements in place to support improvement’.As part of this follow-on inspection, we received one
statutory recommendation from the WAO; ‘The Council must ensure that it addresses the proposals for
improvement as set out in this report to deliver improved outcomes within the next 12 months’. In response to
this, we prepared a Statement of Action, to address each of the proposals for improvement identified by WAO,
and put in place a performance management programme to enable;

•      Performance management that is outcomes focussed 
•      A culture of accountability
•      A strong golden thread linking performance management across all levels of the organisation and to the

wider City performance
•      A culture of proactive performance management

This programme will build upon the Council’s existing performance management arrangements and
Performance Management Framework, which ensures that we discharge our statutory obligations.  The
Framework aims to support the delivery of providing services to our citizens against a backdrop of increasing
financial challenges.  The Framework allows us to develop a performance culture where open and honest debate
about performance issues is the norm, and is used to drive focussed improvement.  Our Framework is based on:

•      Corporate planning to set out the long-term priorities of the Council, with identified Improvement Objectives
and commitments to allow us to exercise our general duty to “make arrangements to secure continuous
Improvement”. 

•      Delivery Plans that are SMART and contain the priorities of each of our Directorates in contributing to the
overall Improvement Objectives of the Council

•      Aligned monitoring and reporting cycles for finance and service performance information to afford the
Council greater visibility of its overall performance position

•      Performance Challenge sessions at Senior Management Team on a monthly basis
•      Joint Cabinet & Senior Management Team Performance Challenge meetings
•      Scrutiny of performance information prior to formal Cabinet consideration
•      A Challenge Forum which draws together senior Members and officers, together with external peer support,

to test and challenge the Council’s progress against its improvement journey
•      An extensive staff engagement programme to raise awareness of, and involvement in, the improvement

journey
•      A Personal Performance Development & Review process to allow for individual employee’s contributions to

Directorate Delivery plans and the Corporate Plan

20

Page 92



21

Citizen Engagement - 
The Cardiff Debate

Page 93



In partnership with Cardiff and Vale University Health Board, South Wales Police, and South Wales Fire and
Rescue Service, we established the Cardiff Debate as a three-year conversation with our citizens about the
planning, prioritising and provision of public services in Cardiff. The Cardiff Debate was established so that the
Council could engage with communities, listen to ideas and opinions on the future operations of Council services,
and respond effectively to budget reductions, whilst continuing to deliver high quality services.

Our Citizen Engagement programme, along with our Budget Consultation, has helped to shape our 2015-17
Corporate Plan, allowing us to ensure that services are responsive to local need. For the first phase of the Cardiff
Debate we undertook 37 Citizen Engagement events, covering all Neighbourhood Partnership areas. The table
below illustrates how the Council has responded to some of the feedback and themes emerging. 

22

Cardiff Debate Feedback

Which services are a priority for you
and your family?
Health Services
Education and Skills
Keeping Children Safe

Which services do you and your
family use?
Parks and Green Spaces
Sports, Leisure and Culture
City Travel
Libraries, Community Centres and Hubs

Cardiff Debate Feedback

What matters most to you in the
delivery of the service?
Strong emphasis on service quality as
opposed to other factors such as cost,
proximity of services to home and who
delivers the service

Responding to Community Voices

Education and Supporting Vulnerable People are clear
priorities for the Corporate Plan. There are specific
objectives about integrating health and social care and
promoting independent living which is known to have
an impact on health and quality of life

The Sustainable Economic Development priority
includes a number of objectives to improve transport in
the City. The Corporate Plan’s 4th Priority (Working
with people and partners to design, deliver and
improve services) has specific objectives on ensuring
sustainable long-term provision of non-statutory but
highly valued services such as cultural and leisure
centres, libraries and community services

Responding to Community Voices

We have addressed this in our Corporate Plan priority
that focuses on Working with people and partners to
design, deliver and improve services. We have also
established a 3 year Organisational Development
Programme to ensure that Council services can change
to meet the challenges of growth and austerity

Page 94



23

•      Social Media Strategy – Since the end of June 2014 we have utilised Social Media to maximise
awareness of the Cardiff Debate programme. We set up both Facebook and Twitter accounts
dedicated to the Cardiff Debate with daily updates detailing the challenges faced by public services in
the city, updates on how and where the public can participate in the debate and feedback from the
events held to date. The Cardiff Debate currently has 419 likes on Facebook and 1,386 Twitter
followers. Information in relation to the Cardiff Debate can be found online at
www.cardiffdebate.co.uk

•      Online Consultation – We adapted our engagement activities into an electronic format and made
available bilingually online 

•      Community Venues – Postcards and drop boxes were left at hubs, libraries and leisure centres across
the city which invited citizens to have their say on the services that matter most to them and their
family. 

•      Ask Cardiff Survey – The annual Ask Cardiff Survey 2015 received a total of 4,431 responses
offering our citizens the opportunity to share their views on a range of Council services. . 

Engagement through the Cardiff Debate has resulted in a number of learning outcomes and the
opportunity to participate in a conversation has been hugely welcomed by our citizens. 

Page 95



24

Organisational Development 

Page 96



25

In May 2014 the Cabinet established a comprehensive Organisational Development Programme (ODP),
which was designed to reshape the Council in response to a range of critical challenges, including the
marked deterioration of the Council’s financial position, demand-led pressures on services, and the
inadequate performance of a number of statutory services.

The ODP brought together the key change projects that will help deliver more efficient council services
and improve performance outcomes. The scope and scale of the programme reflected the absolute
requirement for the Council to continue to move rapidly to new models of service delivery that enable the
effective management of current and future demand with vastly reduced resources. In doing so, it sought
to address issues identified by the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA)-led Corporate Peer Review
and anticipated many of the observations of the Wales Audit Office’s Corporate Assessment.

As a result, the Wales Audit Office report of September 2014 made one proposal for improvement:

“The Council ensures the implementation of its Organisation Development Plan resolves the range of
issues identified in this assessment”.

In July 2015, the Council’s ODP was re-orientated to focus on a smaller number of priorities, and to
ensure that the Council’s transition to new ways of working proceeded at pace. It was also framed as the
central component of the “Make the Difference” staff engagement campaign to secure staff ownership
of the drive to improve the organisation. 

The Wales Audit Office published its Corporate Assessment Follow On report on 26th February 2016. The
report concluded that:

“The Council has put in place better arrangements to support improvement and to address longstanding
issues, but is now at a critical point in embedding them if it is to achieve a step change in delivering
improved outcomes”.

Organisational development work has focussed on addressing fundamental issues: for example, setting
the Council’s strategic direction for the next three years; improving the governance of the organisation;
reshaping council services to reflect severe financial and demand pressures; placing alternative delivery
mechanisms clearly on the Council’s agenda; developing and implementing strategies for key corporate
enablers, such as technology, land and property; bringing about a step change in staff engagement; and
accelerating improvement in key services, such as education and social services.

Page 97



26

While progress has been made, it is important to ensure that momentum is maintained. A comprehensive
review of the ODP is being undertaken with a view to ensuring that key projects and initiatives reinforce
the need to achieve a step change in delivering outcomes for citizens. Specifically, the review will:

•      Provide an update on the Programme and map out the next steps for key projects and initiatives that
are essential to improving the Council’s financial resilience and service delivery performance in the
medium term;

•      Ensure all projects within the ODP have effective financial and performance management plans and
measures in place; and

•      Ensure that saving plans included in the medium term financial plan are directly linked to the ODP.

This review will further reinforce the Council’s ability to respond positively to the Wales Audit Office’s
Proposals for Improvement.

Page 98



27

‘What Matters’ 
The 10 Year Strategy for Cardiff

Page 99



28

Delivery of the What Matters Outcomes has continued in 2015-16 and an Annual Report for 2014-15 was
produced in May 2015 detailing delivery progress of the What Matters outcomes.

In 2015-16, as part of a mid-term review, the ten year What Matters Strategy has been refreshed to
ensure that it is fit for purpose for the next five years. It reflects the changing policy and legislative context
which has emerged since publication of the original Strategy.  To inform the review and ensure that the
Strategy continues to focus on the needs of Cardiff’s citizens and communities, an update of the
Strategic Needs Assessment was carried out in 2015 to evaluate progress to date, identify any emerging
issues or trends and future priorities for the Partnership. The Assessment, which provides updated
population indicators in relation to the seven citizen outcomes, was compiled by a multi-agency group
which brought partners together to enable collective work to be undertaken based on a shared view and
understanding of the data.  

The refreshed What Matters Strategy, prepared in conjunction with partner organisations represented on
the Cardiff Partnership Board, identifies key themes integral to any new approaches developed by
partners.  The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 came into force in April 2016 and
establishes the Public Service Board (our current Local Service Board) as a statutory public services board.

Further information on ‘What Matters’, including the annual review, quarterly Neighbourhood
Intelligence Reports and updates on the Partnership Programmes, can be found at
www.cardiffpartnership.co.uk.

Page 100



29

‘Everyone Matters’- Equalities 

Page 101



30

The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on Local Authorities to consider the needs of people with ‘Protected
Characteristics’ when carrying out their day to day work – in shaping policy, in delivering services and in
relation to their own employees. It requires public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity, and foster good relations between different groups when
carrying out their activities.

The City of Cardiff Council manages these duties through its Strategic Equality Plan - a four-year plan that
outlines our commitment to reducing inequalities and sets out our key priorities for the period ahead.
During 2015-16 the Council engaged widely on proposals towards publishing its second Strategic Equality
Plan, which Cabinet agreed in March 2016.  The seven strategic equality objectives set out in the Plan link
to the Corporate Plan and ‘What Matters’, to ensure a consistent approach is adopted to addressing
inequalities in Cardiff and that our equality work is targeted at the areas of highest need for the city.  

The Council publishes an Annual Equalities Review, setting out the steps we have taken to identify and
collect relevant information, how we have used this information, and evaluating the effectiveness of the
steps we have taken to fulfil our equality objectives. The annual report also reflects upon our
achievements, challenges and improvements during the past year.  Our most recent report is available at
www.cardiff.gov.uk/equality.

We have undertaken extensive engagement, consultation and involvement activities throughout 2015-16
to give citizens the opportunity to participate in and influence the design of services.  These include
engagement around equalities issues through our Access Focus Group, Cardiff Youth Council and 50+
Forums, and on budget priorities through the Cardiff Debate.  We also have well established employee
equality networks around gender, race, disability and sexual orientation. 

Page 102



31

Sustainability 

Page 103



32

To tackle sustainability issues and opportunities we need to consider the social, environmental and
economic implications of our decisions.  To achieve sustainable development, we work to ensure that
economic activity works towards social progress, and that this is within environmental limits.  We have
produced a One Planet Cardiff strategy that sets out our vision for a sustainable One Planet Cardiff,
focusing on key impact areas of energy, waste, transport, food, water, place and people and the socio-
economic benefits of these areas. We use the One Planet Cardiff branding in our promotion of
sustainable development issues and held a One Planet Cardiff Schools Challenge during June 2015.

The Welsh Government Well-being of Future Generations Act comes into force in April 2016 and sets out
the requirements for consideration and delivery of sustainable development in the public sector in Wales.
We have been working with the WLGA as an ‘early adopter’ of the legislation from 2014 to 2016, with
this work focusing on corporate and community planning requirements.  

Cardiff Council is a signatory of the Sustainable Development Charter committing the Authority to
making decisions that produce the best long term outcomes for themselves and for the future of Wales.  

We maintained corporate registration to Level 3 of the Green Dragon Environmental Standard following
an annual audit in November 2015, following accreditation to Level 2 in 2008 and Level 1 in 2005.
Achieving Level 3 shows that we understand our environmental responsibilities and can demonstrate legal
compliance with applicable environmental legislation, and also that we are monitoring and managing our
environmental performance and measuring our carbon emissions.  Additionally, three sites achieved Level
4 of the Standard: Thornhill Crematorium & Cemetery, Storey Arms Outdoor Education Centre, and Bute
Park Administrative Building.

Cardiff has been selected as one of six cities in the UK to share in one million pounds of funding to be
invested in improving food culture and support its efforts to become a Sustainable Food City – Cardiff is
currently a bronze award Sustainable Food City.  This has enabled the appointment of a dedicated Food
City Coordinator, co-hosted by the Council and Public Health Wales, who is working on the development
and delivery of Cardiff’s Sustainable Food Action Plan and Food Cardiff Partnership.  In summer 2015
Food Cardiff was involved in the School Holiday Enrichment Programme (SHEP) which brought food and
fun to deprived areas of the city during the school holidays.  SHEP has attracted interest from across the
UK and been shortlisted for several awards.

Page 104



33

Scrutiny in Cardiff

Page 105



34

Scrutiny was introduced to Wales under the Local Government Act 2000 as an integral aspect of local
governance, and its statutory powers for securing effective improvement of local authority services,
through the Wales Programme for Improvement, are clearly defined in the Local Government Act 2009.
Its constructive challenge is designed to support the Cabinet in making available a range of accessible,
efficient and effective services for citizens.  

Cardiff’s scrutiny arrangements have been examined by Wales Audit Office, Estyn and the Care and
Social Services Inspectorate for Wales in 2015-16, and each inspectorate has found Scrutiny to be playing
a strong and improving role.  The function undertook a review of its operational effectiveness during
2015, and is currently working through an action plan of 18 Quick Wins to maintain the authority’s “best
in class” reputation as an authority that takes scrutiny seriously, and which has received national honours
for the quality of its scrutiny work.

Each of the Council’s five scrutiny committees has carried out work to support each of the key themes of
the Corporate Plan.  Underpinning these was a programme of co-ordinated and consistent scrutiny of
Service Area Business Plans, Directorate Budget Briefings and regular performance monitoring.  The
efforts invested in detailed scrutiny of the Cabinet’s draft 2016-18 Corporate Plan and draft Budget
Proposals for 2016-17 in February 2016 presented many opportunities for reviewing past financial and
service performance, and previewing monitoring arrangements for 2016-17 by the relevant Scrutiny
Committee(s).  

Much of the Council’s scrutiny work in 2015-16 supported the authority’s significant service
transformation.  Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee has in particular paid close attention
to work being developed through the Programme for Organisational Change, and major developments
such as the Business Infrastructure Alternative Delivery Model.  This performance review work has been
reinforced by the other four Scrutiny Committees, who have considered the integration of Health and
Social Care, the transformation of the centre of Cardiff and its transport interchange, the Local
Development Plan, safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults and the development of new models
for management of leisure and arts services.  

Each Committee has undertaken scrutiny of the growing range of collaborative delivery models and
partnership activity, whether through individual activities such as the South East Wales Regulatory
Collaboration Project, or South Central Wales Education Consortium, or through the multi-agency Cardiff
Partnership Board – to hold to account the Council and its key strategic partners for the work it is
undertaking through its ‘What Matters’ Single Integrated Plan.

Page 106



35

Improving Scrutiny for the Future

The draft Local Government Bill and Well-being of Future Generations Act will, during 2016, each specify
new and more robust scrutiny duties for Welsh local authorities. 

The Future Generations Act will require the Council to arrange scrutiny of the newly created Public
Services Board, and to test the way that the Council, Police, Health, Natural Resources Wales and other
partners are working to deliver well-being to current and future citizens.

Although the Local Government Bill is still subject to consultation, its provisions include the way that
scrutiny interfaces with external auditors, regulators and inspectors; the role of scrutiny in local authority
self-assessment; the relationship between scrutiny and internal audit; and the way that scrutiny engages
citizens in local democracy.

At a local level, the Council has instigated a review to take place during 2016, to ensure that these scrutiny
issues can best be addressed following the May 2017 Council elections.

Page 107



36

How we self-evaluate our
Improvement Objectives

Page 108



37

To help us to understand and assess how we are progressing against our Improvement Objectives, we use
a number of sources of information, for example:

•      Inspection Reports – Our regulators include the Wales Audit Office, Estyn (Education) and the Care
and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW). The Council is subject to a number of inspections
from these regulatory bodies, and their findings help us to assess areas in which we are performing
well, as well as, identifying areas that require improvement. 

•      Surveys – We use the annual Ask Cardiff survey to provide our citizens the opportunity to share their
views on a wide range of our services. From this, we can identify areas in which we are performing
well, and also identify those areas where our citizens feel we need to improve. 

•      Feedback & Case Studies – Where available we use evidence from case studies or qualitative
feedback from our service users. This gives us an insight into what our service users feel and think
about our services.

•      Progress against the commitments we made – Within our Corporate Plan we make a number of
commitments which we believe will help us to deliver against our Improvement Objectives.
Monitoring the progress of these commitments enables us to understand what we have achieved and
where further work is required.

•      Progress against our performance measures – We identify a number of performance measures
within our Corporate Plan which we feel will enable us to demonstrate how well we are delivering
against our Improvement Objectives. Where applicable, we set targets against our performance
measures to demonstrate the level of achievement we want. However, as we are on an improvement
journey, we are more focussed upon identifying where improvements are evidenced, and where we
are not improving and further attention is required. 

Using this information allows us to consider and give a balanced picture of our improvement journey over
the year. By utilising this information, we can identify areas where we have improved and celebrate
success, and we can also identify areas where we may have not performed so well, which may require
further attention from us. 
The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 requires us to ‘make arrangements to secure continuous
improvement’. Whilst we assess our Improvement Objectives on an annual basis, they cannot be
completed within one year. Therefore, in most cases, our Improvement Objectives remain static within our
Corporate Plan, and we monitor, review and revise our planned activities and measures of progress on an
annual basis to support our improvement journey.
Using the above information helps us to come to a decision on our Improvement objectives as detailed
below:

Page 109



38

Strong progress: We assess ourselves as having made strong progress, where we observe improvement
across all key performance areas.

Good progress: We assess ourselves as having made good progress, where we observe improvement
across most of our key performance areas. However, there may be areas where our performance is not as
satisfactory as we would like, and we embrace this as it helps us to identify where we need to focus more
attention. 

Unsatisfactory progress: We assess ourselves as having made unsatisfactory progress, where we have
not observed any improvement across our key performance areas. 

Performance met or exceeded target        

Performance within 5% of target

Performance more than 5% of target

Unfortunately, we received a certificate of non-compliance for our 2014-15 Improvement Report, as we
had failed to meet the requirements of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 in not assessing our
improvement objectives. In their Annual Improvement Report issued July 2016, the Wales Audit Office
made the following recommendation:

“The Council must ensure that its annual improvement report contains a summary assessment of
the Council’s view of its success in achieving its improvement objectives for the year”.

We have structured this report around our 11 improvement objectives and our summary assessment
shows that we have made Strong Progress in 4 of our improvement objectives and Good Progress in 7
of our improvement objectives. We have not assessed any of our improvement objectives as having made
Unsatisfactory Progress. The table below shows this summary assessment and the remainder of this
report 

J
K
L

Page 110



39

3

3

Progress against our Improvement
Objectives

Every Cardiff School is a good school
where learners achieve well

Looked After Children in Cardiff achieve
their full potential

Adult Learners achieve their potential

People at risk in Cardiff are safeguarded

People in Cardiff have access to good
quality housing

People in Cardiff are supported to live
independently

Cardiff has more employment
opportunities and higher value jobs

Cardiff has a high quality city environment
that includes attractive public spaces and
good supporting transport infrastructure

Communities and Partners are actively
involved in the design, delivery and
improvement of highly valued services

The City of Cardiff Council has effective
governance arrangements and improves
performance in key areas

The City of Cardiff Council makes use of
fewer, but better, buildings

Strong
Progress

Good
Progress

Unsatisfactory
Progress

3

3

3
3
3

3

3

3

3

Page 111



40

Improvement Objective: 
Every Cardiff school is a good school where learners achieve well

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:
•      Creating the conditions and opportunities for every child in Cardiff to attend a good school, achieve

positive outcomes and move on successfully to the world of work

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made good progress in relation to this
Improvement Objective, as we have observed improvement across most key performance areas. The
standards achieved by our pupils and the progress they make are the key measures of the quality of
education they have received. The results for the 2014-2015 academic year build on the improvements
observed last year and indicate that the actions put in place to address longstanding shortcomings in
provision are now having a positive impact on improving outcomes for learners.  Standards of attainment
continue to improve in all key stages and in many indicators at a faster rate than across Wales as a whole.

The Welsh Government National Categorisation model provides us with a picture of the performance of
Cardiff schools according to a consistent evaluation of standards, leadership, teaching and learning.
Schools are placed in one of four support categories: red, amber, yellow, green, with red schools deemed
to need most support to improve and green schools the least (i.e. green schools are better performing
schools).

In January 2016, 35% (45 of 127) of our schools were categorised as green, compared with 23% (29 of
127) in January 2015. The number of our schools requiring the most support, categorised as red,
decreased in 2015-16 to 10, compared with 18 in the previous year. 

There are proportionately more secondary schools than primary schools in the amber and red categories,
and more primary schools than special schools. Just over half of secondary schools remain in the two
highest risk categories (four in red and six in amber), just under a quarter of primary schools (five in red
and 17 in amber) and one special school (red). 

The combined picture of improving standards and an increasing number of ‘green’ schools indicates that
positive progress is being made towards our ambitions to make every Cardiff school a good school.
Assurance was provided by Estyn following their final monitoring visit to Cardiff in January 2016,
concluding that the authority is no longer in need of significant improvement and would be removed
from any further follow up activity. Satisfactory progress was noted, taking account of improved pupil
performance across all key stages over the last three years. 

Page 112



41

While we have made significant progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will
continue to monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. This
will coincide with the launch of ‘Cardiff 2020 – Aiming for Excellence’, a renewed vision for education and
learning in Cardiff.

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

The number of schools which are
placed in a formal category, either
Special Measures or Requiring
Significant Improvement, following
an Estyn Inspection

2015-16
target

1

2013-14
result

3

2014-15
result

2

2015-16
result

6

Are we
improving?

t

Have we
met target?

Two schools, one secondary and one primary were placed in special measures. The Local Authority had signalled
concerns to the secondary school in a warning notice in advance of the inspection by Estyn but insufficient
improvement had been made.

Three primary schools were placed in significant improvement following inspections in the course of the year. A
secondary school was also placed in significant improvement. Changes to the way that schools are challenged and
supported have been put in place as a result of this pattern of judgements in order to ensure that weaknesses are
identified and addressed at an earlier stage.

L

Page 113



42

Performance Measure

The % of pupils assessed at the end
of Year 6 achieving the Core Subject
Indicator (CSI)

The % of pupils aged 15 who
achieved GCSE grade A*-C in English
or Welsh and Mathematics 

The % of pupils achieving 5 GCSEs 

2015-16
target

86.5%

60.00%

94.50%

2013-14
result

82.6%

49.86%

91.74%

2014-15
result

85.1%

54.04%

93.19%

2015-16
result

87.8%

59.30%

92.15%

Are we
improving?

s

s

Have we
met target?

This year in the Core Subject Indicator, Cardiff attained 87.8%, compared with 87.7% across Wales, and exceeded the
target set of 86.5%. The increase in Cardiff was greater than that for Wales as a whole (2.7% compared with 1.6%).
The performance in this indicator is now in line with the national average. There was further improvement in the
performance of Cardiff schools at this Key Stage when compared to similar schools nationally, with an increase in the
number in the highest benchmarking quarter and a decrease in the number in the lowest quarter.  However, variation in
the performance of schools is still a notable feature.

The target for the academic year 2014-15 was narrowly missed.  There has been an improvement of 5.26 percentage
points to 59.3%, which is the biggest improvement in the consortium and 1 percentage point greater than the
improvement in 2014. However, in order to be in the top 25% performing authorities, Cardiff’s performance in this
indicator would need to be 62.3%. Eight out of 18 secondary schools met or exceeded their expected performance for
the Level 2+ threshold. In the 10 schools where performance was below expectation, four schools had outcomes below
expectation by more than five percentage points.  However, four out of every 10 pupils still end their compulsory
education without having achieved five good GCSEs including English or Welsh and mathematics. In five schools, more
than half of the pupils failed to reach the Level 2+ threshold, and in three schools it was more than seven out of every
ten pupils.  Action has been taken to intervene in the three secondary schools with markedly low performance which
had a negative impact on the city’s overall figures. New leadership is in place in all three schools.

We did not meet the target that we set ourselves, as there was a decrease of approximately 1 percentage point in the
Level 1 threshold, caused predominantly by the 2 percentage points decrease in the performance of boys. There
continues to be little correlation between school outcomes in these measures and the proportion of Free School Meal
(FSM) pupils. This strongly suggests that any differences reflect the variation in provision within schools, in terms of a
suitable curriculum offer and rigour in tracking the progress of all pupils. There has been an increased focus this
academic year from challenge advisers and local authority officers on improving the provision in schools and the quality
of provision from partners, to ensure that the percentage of pupils who reach the Level 1 threshold increases.

J

K

s

s

K

Page 114



43

Performance Measure

The % point gap between Free
School Meals (FSM) pupils and non
FSM pupils in the CSI at KS2

The % point gap between FSM and
non FSM pupils’ achievement of 5
GCSEs A*-C  including English or Welsh
and Mathematics 

The % of Year 11 leavers not in
Education, Employment or Training
(NEET)

2015-16
target

16.22%
point gap

30.00%
point gap

2.50%
NEET

2013-14
result

19.46%
point gap

36.18%
point gap

4.90%
NEET

2014-15
result

17.50%
point gap

33.29%
point gap

4.26%
NEET

2015-16
result

14.28%
point gap

32.23%
point gap

4.50%
NEET

Are we
improving?

s

s

Have we
met target?

The target for this performance indicator was exceeded. The difference in performance between FSM pupils and non-
FSM pupils has been reduced again this year from 17.5 percentage points to 14.3 percentage points. The gap has
continued to reduce over the last four years as FSM pupils’ performance is improving at a faster rate than the
performance of non-FSM pupils. The performance of FSM pupils has improved by just over 5 percentage points,
compared to that of non-FSM pupils which has improved by 1.9 percentage point. The performance of the city’s FSM
pupils is 1.6 percentage points ahead of the national figures for 2015.

Results for 2015 show that 32.2% of FSM pupils attained the Level 2+ threshold in Cardiff compared to 31.6% of FSM
pupils across Wales. However, the gap in performance between the two groups increased slightly to 34.28 percentage
points and the target was not met. This area of work is a focus for both the Local Authority and the Consortium. A
closing the gap strategy 2016-2018 has been implemented. The aim is to exceed the Welsh Government target of
34% for FSM pupils achieving the GCSE Level 2+ measure in 2016 and to achieve a position where no school falls
below this threshold.  The strategy prioritises building the capacity of schools to improve the quality of teaching and
learning. In conjunction with this, recommendations are made regarding other whole school high impact / low cost
approaches to close the attainment gap of children affected by poverty.

The 4.5% comprised of 118 young people (3.53%) who did not progress into EET and 18 young people or 1.02% who
could not enter EET due to illness or being in youth custody. Of the 152 young people who were NEET at the October
2015 Destination Count, 106 had been identified by Vulnerability Assessment Profiling (VAP) as being amber or red.
This is encouraging as it demonstrates that the young people who need support are being identified appropriately.

J

K

s

s

K

Page 115



44

Performance Measure

The % of Year 12/13 leavers not in
Education, Employment or Training
(NEET)

Attendance at primary school

Attendance at secondary school

2015-16
target

3.00%
NEET

94.0%

95.0%

2013-14
result

4.2%
NEET

94.0%

92.9%

2014-15
result

4.40%
NEET

94.9%

93.9%

2015-16
result

2.95%
NEET

95.2%

93.9%

Are we
improving?

s

s

Have we
met target?

The target was achieved and a total of 41 Year 13s had not progressed into Education, Employment or Training (EET)
at the time of the Destinations survey. This was 2.95% of the cohort of 1389. The 2.95% comprised of 34 young
people (2.45%) who did not progress into EET and 7 young people or 0.5% who could not enter EET due to illness or
caring responsibilities. This represents a 1.45% improvement on the previous year’s position (2014) when 62 Year 13
school leavers did not progress into EET. This was 4.4% of the cohort.  

Attendance in primary schools continues to improve. The figure for 2014-15 was 95.1%, which was a 0.2 percentage
point improvement on the previous year. (The primary figure of 95.19% was returned to Welsh Government but the
final figure published by WG was reduced to 95.1% with the addition and aggregation of primary special school
attendance). Performance is above the average primary attendance for Wales of 94.9% and Cardiff is now 6th out of
the 22 local authorities in Wales. Performance is better than in similar authorities such as Swansea, ranked 11th, and
Newport, ranked 21st. Overall, 51.5% of primary schools achieved an attendance rate over 95% and 27.4% of schools
achieved attendance of 96% or above. Since the implementation of the 5 Step Framework for managing attendance
in 2011-12, the percentage of schools in the 1st and 2nd Quartiles has improved by a little over 17 percentage points
from 45.92% to 63%. There is further work needed to ensure all schools compare favourably against similar schools
but progress is encouraging.

The 2014-2015 overall attendance figure for secondary schools remained the same as in the last academic year, at
93.8%, which matches the Welsh average. This places Cardiff 11th out of the 22 local authorities in Wales for
secondary school attendance and 7th out of the 10 core cities. Seven schools achieved attendance above 95%
compared to five last year. Notably poor attendance in two schools impacted significantly on the overall city data.
Additional support has been focused on the poorest performing schools and there is better joint challenge and
planning with colleagues in the Consortium where schools are not making progress, which has helped to secure
improvement so far this academic year. Secondary attendance up until the end of January 2016 was 94.68% which
compares favourably with the same point last year when attendance was 94.05%.
There has been pleasing progress in the number of schools whose attendance rates place them in the 1st and 2nd
Benchmarking Quarters against similar schools nationally. Since the implementation of the 5 Step Framework for
managing attendance in 2011-12, the percentage of schools in the 1st and 2nd Quarters has improved by almost 30
percentage points from 45 % to 73%. There is further work needed to ensure all schools compare favourably against
similar schools but progress is encouraging.

J

J

s

s

K

Page 116



45

What have we achieved this year?
In our 2015-17 Corporate Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to
achieve to help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we
have achieved in 2015-16.

•      Further increase the role of Cardiff schools in leading the school-to-school working across the
Central South Wales region

In collaboration with the Central South Consortium, via the Central South Wales Challenge, we have
worked to further develop a self-improving school system, to reduce variations in school standards, and to
improve the quality of teaching and leadership. Nearly all of our schools are now part of a Schools
Improvement Group, and our high performing schools are continually encouraged by their Challenge
Adviser to take a lead role. We have observed significant progress in engagement with, and
understanding of, a self-improving school system based around a model which is now very
familiar to schools and stakeholders across the region.

The Consortium Business Plan highlights the areas that need to be developed further if we are to create a
sustainable system of school improvement which can support our schools to be the best in Wales and
beyond. Within our Corporate Plan 2016-18, we have committed to continue working with the
Consortium to further develop a Central South Wales networked learning community, focusing on
improvements in the quality of leadership, teaching and learning. 

•      Deliver the Challenge Cymru programme in six secondary schools by the end of the 2015-16
academic year

Six of our secondary schools are part of the Welsh Government’s multi-million-pound Challenge Cymru
school improvement programme. 

As part of the delivery of this programme, Accelerated Improvement Boards monitor performance and
the quality of provision. Despite the ongoing work to deliver the Challenge Cymru programme,
performance in Key Stage 4 at the Level 2+ threshold has not improved at the desired rate. In 2015 one of
the six schools improved its performance and one maintained its performance. However, outcomes in the
other four schools decreased. We have intervened in three of these schools and leadership capacity has
been increased. In the fourth school, although there was a decline in performance, this still remains
significantly above modelled expectations.

The Challenge Cymru programme continues to be delivered with officers from Education, Finance and
Human Resources providing ongoing support to schools to deliver their improvement plans. 

Page 117



46

Improving the performance of the minority of secondary schools that continue to cause concern is a
priority commitment in our Corporate Plan 2016 – 2018.

•      Where schools do not make expected progress over time, use Local Authority intervention
powers and bring about improvement on an annual basis

In October 2014, we issued warning notices to five of our secondary schools. In the summer of 2015, two
of these schools improved significantly and the other three are expected to improve their results in 2016.

•      Strengthen school governance, ensuring appointment to all LA governor vacancies on school
governing bodies in a timely manner by June 2015

During 2015, we launched a new governor recruitment campaign within the overarching ‘Education is
Everybody’s Business’ campaign. This raised the profile of the benefits of becoming a governor in our
schools and enabled improved links with local businesses and other partner organisations.

We worked in collaboration with the Central South Consortium, and provided a full range of training to
governors, in order to meet mandatory training requirements, and enable them to discharge their duties
effectively. Schools classified as ‘In need of greatest improvement’ have received bespoke governor
training from the Challenge Adviser team. Online training was also launched in September 2015 to offer a
more accessible training option for governors. 

Communication with governors continues to improve, including termly strategic briefings for Chairs of
Governors by the Director of Education and regular electronic updates.  

A revised recruitment, selection and retention process has been introduced for Local Authority governors,
which aims to ensure that appropriate governors are selected to represent the Local Authority.

As at the end of March 2016, the percentage of governor vacancies had increased slightly to 9.13% (175
vacancies) compared to 9% in the previous year. While positive progress has been made to strengthen
governance, the turnover within the system, due to the four year governor term, presents challenges in
ensuring that vacancies are kept to a minimum. This continues to be a priority for the Directorate and will
be monitored by the Education Management Team.

Page 118



47

•      Deliver the Schools Organisation Programme including the completion of Band A investment
projects by 31st March 2019

The 21st Century Schools programme has progressed significantly.  The new Eastern High School design
has been finalised and planning permission was granted on 13th January 2016. Demolition of buildings
on the site has started, with the new school to be delivered for September 2017. Approval has been given
for the new high school in the West, Four Wards primaries and Willows Primary. 

•      Implement the Welsh Government Youth Guarantee to ensure appropriate progression routes
for all learners by 2016

The Youth Guarantee is the offer, acceptance and commencement of:
•      A place on a full or part-time course in school, college, with an independent provider, or traineeship or

apprenticeship place
•      Training to at least Level 2 during employment

We are committed to the implementation of the Youth Guarantee and have undertaken a number of
activities to support this. A Common Area Prospectus (CAP), which allows young people, their parents and
those working with them to explore and apply for education and training programmes within their area,
has been produced and schools have received guidance on the expectations for Information Careers
Advice Guidance for Year 11. We have also completed a Learner Choice Survey and our Engagement &
Progression Co-ordinator continues to work with schools and Careers Wales to identify those young
people who do not have a destination planned. Any young people identified will be included within a
Summer Transition programme to support them in achieving entry into further education, training or
employment by September 2016. The Youth Guarantee is offered each academic year and will become
an annual activity across learning providers in Cardiff.

•      Identify young people most at risk of disengagement by embedding the Vulnerability
Assessment Profiling (VAP) tool across Cardiff schools by 2015

We have embedded the VAP in all secondary schools, our Pupil Referral Unit and Greenhill Special School,
to identify those pupils who are most at risk of not making a positive progression into Education,
Employment or Training. Of the 152 young people who were Not in Education Employment or Training
(NEET) at the October 2015 Destination Count by Careers Wales, 106 had been identified by the VAP as
being at most risk of disengagement. This is encouraging as it demonstrates that the right young people
who need support are being identified appropriately. However, it also illustrates that much more work
needs to be done to ensure that those young people at risk of disengagement are properly supported and
given appropriate opportunities to pursue learning and employment pathways that meet their needs.

Page 119



48

Cardiff’s 2015 NEET figure for year 11 school leavers is 4.5%, this represents 152 young people of a
cohort of 3,343, and shows a slight decline in progress. This has resulted in Cardiff being ranked as the
worst performing authority in Wales in 2015 for this measure. The 4.5% comprised 118 young people
who did not progress into EET and 34 young people who could not enter EET due to illness, pregnancy,
custodial sentence, disability, or caring responsibilities. Static performance this year is due in part to high
levels of NEETs from a minority of schools.

Two European Social Fund projects will both bring additional capacity to the lead worker team who will be
able to support more young people identified by the VAP as being most at risk of becoming NEET. 

We are dedicated to delivering the ‘Cardiff Commitment’, a strategy to improve youth engagement and
progression. This strategy sets out how the Council, along with a range of partners in the public, private
and third sectors, will seek to ensure a positive destination for every young person. In our 2016-18
Corporate Plan we have developed an Improvement Objective committed to all young people in Cardiff
making a positive transition into EET. To support this Improvement Objective, we have made a number of
commitments around early identification, information sharing and expanding opportunities for young
people.

Page 120



49

Improvement Objective: 
Looked after children in Cardiff achieve their full potential

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:
•      Supporting Looked After Children (LAC) to achieve their potential, ensuring positive progression

routes in Education, Employment or Training for all care leavers

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made good progress in relation to this
Improvement Objective, as we have observed improvement across most key performance areas.
The Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) report of their inspection of Children’s Services
stated that the Council works with partners to deliver help, care and protection for children and young
people and fulfils its corporate parenting responsibilities for Looked After Children.

Improved destinations for LAC were acknowledged by our ESTYN inspectors, via the implementation of a
trainee programme to provide LAC with new skills and qualifications. The Looked After Children
Traineeship Scheme was also highlighted as an area of good practice by ESTYN:

•      31 young people gained work experience
•      Two young people were offered Corporate apprenticeships
•      We trained 15 of our managers to become Youth Mentors

We are pleased to note continual improvement in the numbers of care leavers who obtain five or more
GCSEs at grades A*-C, however, the number of our Looked After Children in Primary School achieving the
expected level in English or Welsh, Mathematics and Science has declined. 

In consultation with young people, we launched a new Personal Education Plan (PEP) designed to help
track and promote the educational achievements of Looked After Children. A Thematic Estyn inspection
highlighted our PEP documents as an area of good practice.  The PEP documents are ‘child-friendly’
documents to better support children and young people to be engaged in the process of developing their
PEP and ensure their voice is heard. Performance in relation to PEPs has improved this year, with 27.6%
completed within 20 days of a child entering care or joining a new school, compared with 20.4% in the
previous year.

While we have made good progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will
continue to monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. Our
new Corporate Parenting Strategy sets out the shared vision, between Cardiff Council and the Cardiff and
Vale University Health Board, of working together to ensure the best possible outcomes for children who
are looked after or have left care, so that they can lead a happy and fulfilling life. We plan to embed key
elements of this strategy by March 2017.

Page 121



50

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

The % of Looked After Children in
Year 6 Primary School achieving the
Core Subject Indicator

The % of care leavers aged 16+ who
obtained 5 or more GCSEs at grade
A* to C

The average external qualifications
point score for 16 year old Looked
After Children 

The % of young people formerly
looked after, who are known to be
engaged in education, training or
employment at the age of 19 

2015-16
target

68%

12%

220

58%

2013-14
result

65%

8%

216

53.2%

2014-15
result

65.2%

9%

191

56.%

2015-16
result

54.5%

11%

257

52.4%

Are we
improving?

t

s

s

t

Have we
met target?

Despite focussed work to improve outcomes for LAC, including an increased focus on joint working with Education,
performance shows that we have not performed so well this year.  However, we have continued to strengthen the
relationship between Children’s Services and Education, particularly where frontline staff work closely together, to have
a direct impact upon the education of LAC.  We have also established a ‘virtual’ tracking system to track attendance
and attainment.

Performance improved to 11% (13 / 121) from 9% (11 / 128) in 2014-15, but was just short of the 12% target.  An
additional 26 young people achieved 5 or more GCSEs grade A* to G, and a further 41 young people achieved another
educational or vocational qualification.

Improvement in this indicator reflects focussed work over several years to improve outcomes for Looked After Children,
including an increased focus on joint working with Education.

Despite a decline in performance, the Council’s LAC Traineeship scheme has gone from strength to strength. Over the
past year, 31 young people have been able to undertake work experience through the Council, compared to five in the
previous year. We offered two young people Corporate Apprenticeships and trained 15 of our staff to be Youth
Mentors. It is anticipated that the impact of these schemes will have a positive effect on these young people and
enable them to transition into Employment, Education or Training at the age of 19. 

L

K

J

L

Page 122



51

What have we achieved this year?
In our 2015-17 Corporate Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to
help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in
2015-16.

Prepare a Joint Looked After Children Education Delivery Plan, by July 2015, with a specific focus on:
•     Significantly improving the timeliness and quality of Personal Education Plans
•     Developing a system to capture and evidence the progress of every Looked After Child
•     Developing an early flagging system that enables timely additional support to be provided to looked

after learners to enable achievement
•     Developing a methodology for capturing the non-academic achievements of LAC as a performance

measure for the future
•     Improving learning outcomes for children with additional needs

To improve outcomes for Looked After Children, Children’s Services and the Education Directorate worked together
to prepare a Joint Education and Children’s Services Looked After Children Education Delivery Plan. 

In consultation with young people, we also launched a new Personal Education Plan (PEP) designed to help track
and promote the educational achievements of Looked After Children. To support the quality and timely
completion of these plans, we delivered best practice training to 150 social workers, 30 teachers and 50 foster
carers.  A thematic Estyn inspection looked at the education of Looked After Children, and highlighted our PEP
documents and the Looked After Children Traineeship Scheme as two areas of good practice. The Looked After
Children Traineeship Scheme saw 31 young people gain work experience, and two young people were offered
Corporate apprenticeships. We trained 15 of our managers to become youth mentors, enabling them to assess
individual educational needs and behavioural factors that may create barriers to learning. 

We also established a virtual tracking system which allows our managers from both Children’s Services and
Education to track the attendance and attainment of all looked after children on a monthly basis. From this, action
plans are devised when issues arise, so that problems can be addressed in a timely manner, preventing disruption
or exclusion and maintaining continuity of education for the Looked After Child. 

Two joint workshops for the Services that support Looked After Children aged 0-14 and aged 14+ were held with
key Education staff to look at the Special Educational Needs (SEN) process and to develop a network of
partnership opportunities for staff from both Directorates. The SEN workshops have enabled social workers to
expedite work on education plans in a much timelier way and this helps improve the situation for Looked After
Children and young people as we can resolve matters more effectively and quickly.  

Page 123



52

The relationship between Children’s Services and Education continues to strengthen particularly where frontline
staff work closely together to have a direct impact upon the education of looked after children.  Managers from
both Directorates meet on a monthly basis to track the attendance and attainment of all looked after children
and to devise action plans together when issues arise so that problems can be addressed in a timely way to
prevent disruption or exclusion and maintain continuity for the child.

Where provision is not meeting the needs of a Looked After Child, schools are challenged by the Achievement
Leader. Progress is discussed in Team Around the School meetings and termly meetings are held by the Looked
After Children Education Team to challenge Looked After Children provision and share good practice. 

Our commitment to ensuring that Looked After Children in Cardiff achieve their full potential is continued in our
2016-18 Corporate Plan and we intend to launch a new Corporate Parenting Strategy to further raise the profile
of Looked After Children. This will ensure that the Council and partners collectively fulfil their responsibilities to all
children and young people who are in their care by seeking exactly the same positive outcomes that every good
parent would want for their own children.

Page 124



53

Improvement Objective: 
Adult learners achieve their potential

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:
•      Increased numbers of accredited courses delivered to priority learners and improved levels of enrolment to

support adult learners to achieve their full potential

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made strong progress in relation to this Improvement
Objective, as we have observed improvement across all key performance areas. Since 2013 we have received two
Estyn inspections; the most recent, in 2015, noted that we had made either strong or very good progress against
all six of their recommendations and the partnership was removed from any further follow-up activity. 

Some of the areas of progress noted by Estyn were:
•      Improved success rates and accreditation for learners
•      Improved focus on raising learners’ standards of achievement
•      Effectively utilising the expertise of individual organisations to improve the quality of work across the

partnership
•      Effective working across Curriculum and Progression groups to deliver a better-focussed curriculum

Since this inspection we have continued to build on the good work being delivered in Adult Community Learning
(ACL). Our performance shows significant improvements in success rates across the ACL partnership and, more
specifically, improvements in Cardiff and our most deprived areas. 

Our Into Work Services help people to obtain the skills they need to enter employment. Some key areas of
success over the year are:
•      3,722 people completed work skills training; an increase of 1,371 people compared to last year
•      Consistent with last year, 1,431 people completed accredited training
•      Consistent with last year, 91% of people successfully passed their course
•      98% of people reported feeling better able to enter employment as a result of the training they had

received, an increase of 18% when compared to last year

We will continue to monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective through our 2016-18 Corporate
Plan. 

Page 125



54

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

The success rate of learners within
the Partnership

The success rate of learners in Cardiff

Learners within deprivation deciles
one and two to achieve a success
rate at or above the overall
Partnership success rate

2015-16
target

90%

88%

87%

2013-14
result

80%

60%

Decile 1 =
76%

Decile 2 =
78

2014-15
result

84%

72%

Decile 1 =
84%

Decile 2 =
84%

2015-16
result

91%

87%

Decile 1 =
92%

Decile 2 =
91%

Are we
improving?

s

s

s

Have we
met target?

The result here shows that performance across the ACL partnership has increased significantly and we have met our
target in 2015-16. This demonstrates that through effective working across the ACL partnership, learners’ success rates
have improved. 

Although we have narrowly missed our target, performance in 2015-16 shows significant improvement when compared
to the previous year. This demonstrates that the success rate in Cardiff is improving significantly. 

Performance for 2015-16 shows improvement, demonstrating that learners in our hardest to reach areas are achieving
an above average success rate. 

K

J

J

Page 126



55

What have we achieved this year?
In our 2015-17 Corporate Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to
help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in
2015-16.

•     Increase enrolments for priority learners on a year by year basis by March 2016

We have worked in collaboration with Communities First and Job Centre Plus to develop a Learning for Work
programme, tailored to the needs of priority learners. A total of 2,178 enrolments were received from priority
learners, compared with 2,436 in the previous year. This increase in enrolments means that priority learners are
accessing the courses available, enabling them to gain the skills and qualifications to progress into further
education or employment opportunities. 

We received some positive feedback from our learners over the year, including:

“I very much enjoyed this course. There was a good balance of information and general knowledge. It
has made me excited about going into paid employment”

“My long term aim is to become a teaching assistant. I currently work as a lunchtime supervisor and
this course has helped me both in a work and home environment”

“Andrea has said how much the support and encouragement from attending classes and support from
other ACL staff has made a difference to her confidence and self-esteem.  She is going to be attending
the volunteers course at Cardiff and Vale College and will start volunteering for ACL in September”

•     Increase the number of accredited courses delivered to priority learners by March 2016

Through robust curriculum planning we were able to increase the number of accredited courses available
through the Learning for Work programme. The increase in courses allowed priority learners to gain
qualifications, enabling them to access further education or employment opportunities. A total of 206 accredited
courses were delivered, compared with 173 in the previous year.

•     Increase the number of courses for priority learners held in Communities First areas by March 2016

Working in collaboration with Communities First we were able to provide courses best suited to priority learners in
Communities First areas. Overall, 267 courses were delivered compared with 292 courses in the previous year. 

Page 127



56

Improvement Objective: 
People at risk in Cardiff are safeguarded

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:

•      Development of a range of more effective services to prevent the need for vulnerable children or adults to be
separated or cared for away from their families

•      Continued protection of vulnerable people from significant harm or exploitation

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made strong progress in relation to this Improvement
Objective as we have observed improvement across all key performance areas. We received a positive inspection
by the Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW), who concluded in their report entitled ‘Inspection
of Childrens Services in City of Cardiff Council’ of March 2016:

“The Council is committed to prioritising services that support those who are most vulnerable, but has
to deliver this against a backdrop of a declining budget and increasing demand”.

During 2015-16 we have developed and implemented the following:

•      The Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) – we have worked with our partners in the Police, Health,
Education and Probation to enable us to improve the system for protecting children from significant harm 

•      The new Early Help Strategy that will enable earlier access to help for families, preventing the need for
children to be removed from their homes 

We developed an Outcome Framework for human exploitation in Cardiff, to allow for the collection of
information and data on human trafficking in Cardiff.  A total of 329 officers across various partnership
organisations (including CVUHB, the Third Sector and South Wales Police) have attended Human Trafficking
Training.

Whilst we have made strong progress in this area, we recognise that there is further work to be done. We have
put in place a Council-wide Safeguarding Board, which is chaired by one of our Cabinet Members, supported by
the Director of Social Services. Over the next year, our Director of Social Services will be evaluating the
effectiveness of the Council’s safeguarding arrangements. 

While we have made strong progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will continue
to monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

Page 128



57

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

The % of Children’s Services social
work vacancies across the service 

The % of referrals that are re-
referrals within 12 months 

The % of initial child protection
conferences due in the year which
were held within 15 working days of
the strategy discussion 

The % of child protection reviews
carried out within statutory
timescales during the year 

2015-16
target

15%

24%

92%

100%

2013-14
result

20.8%

25.6%

83.8%

98.5%

2014-15
result

27.2%

25.4%

90.7%

99.8%

2015-16
result

22.2%

23.4%

94.4%

99.8%

Are we
improving?

s

s

s

Have we
met target?

The vacancy position has remained reasonably stable over the year.  We have continued with our recruitment
campaign and have agreed that when all vacancies have been filled, we will continue to recruit to a “pool” of additional
social workers.  This will enable the service to maintain consistency of service provision and caseloads whilst managing
healthy staff turnover without needing to rely on expensive agency social workers.  The ambitious 15% target has been
revised to 18% for 31st March 2017.  A joint Social Services Workforce Strategy  will be developed in 2016-17.

There has been a continued decrease in the number of re-referrals over the quarter and performance is on target.
Regular monitoring will continue. The review of the Multi-Agency Referral Form planned for Quarter 2 has been
integrated with work being undertaken in relation to the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act. Consideration is
being given to adopting the Cwm Taf form which takes account of the National Minimum Core Data Set. It is envisaged
that the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), once implemented, will lead to a reduction in inappropriate referrals
and re-referrals. There has also been a renewed focus on achieving better outcomes for children at the point of case
closure thereby reducing re-referrals to the Directorate.

There was continued improvement against this performance indicator in 2015-16 and the annual outturn was in excess
of the 92% target.

Performance in relation to timeliness of child protection reviews remains strong, with just two reviews being held
outside of timescales during the year.

L

J

J

Ks

s

Page 129



58

Performance Measure

The percentage of adult protection
referrals completed where the risk
has been managed

2015-16
target

Not 
applicable
to set a
target

2013-14
result

91.98%

2014-15
result

91.14%

2015-16
result

95.88%

Are we
improving?

s

Have we
met target?

Not 
applicable
to set a 
target

The 2015-16 result (95.88%) saw an increase in completed investigations; these were a result of an increase in
concerns at a number of nursing providers and a number of investigations linked to one domiciliary care provider

What have we achieved this year?
In our 2015-17 Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to help us
deliver against our Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in 2015-16.

•     Develop a coordinated programme of training and awareness raising for all front-line staff in
relation to Vulnerable People by July 2016, which will include Child Sexual Exploitation, Human
Trafficking, Vulnerable Adults and Vulnerable Children

A total of 329 officers across various partnership organisations (including CVUHB, the Third Sector and South
Wales Police) have attended Human Trafficking Training.  Training was provided to 60 Cardiff Council employees,
including Social Workers, Flying Start Health Visitors and Hub Officers.  Feedback from the training was positive,
for example;

“Awareness has been raised for Frontline Officers to assist with identifying potential victims”
“Gave a much better insight info for Police Officers” and “Very informative and thought provoking”

This training has increased awareness in relation to human trafficking and has resulted in an increase in referrals
to the Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) which deals with suspected cases of human
trafficking. 

We conducted a review of our Protection of Vulnerable Adults (POVA) procedures to ensure compliance with the
introduction of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, and contributed to the Corporate
Safeguarding Board training programme with awareness raising sessions commencing in September 2015. A
total of 190 Adults’ Services staff received POVA training during the year and our performance shows that we
managed the risk in 95.88% of adult protection referrals, compared with 91.14% in the previous year. 

Page 130



59

•     Establish a multi-agency methodology for gathering data and intelligence concerning child sexual
exploitation by March 2016

In preparation for the all-Wales reporting requirements we worked in close collaboration with the Police to
introduce a Multi-Agency Tool to be used to collate information on all child sexual exploitation (CSE) cases across
Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. In addition to this, we have worked to ensure links to the CSE Vulnerability
Toolkit are properly put in place, which will enable us in the future to extend our ability to gather intelligence. The
intelligence gathered will allow us to share information across the partnership to better prevent child sexual
exploitation.

•     Establish a multi-agency methodology for gathering data and intelligence concerning human
trafficking by March 2016

We developed an Outcome Framework for human exploitation in Cardiff, to allow for the collection of
information and data on human trafficking in Cardiff. 

We also put a system in place for all intelligence gathered for the human trafficking MARAC to be shared with
the Police Force Intelligence Unit and we are represented at the Regional Intelligence Board which meets on a
quarterly basis.  Using this system will allow us in the future to analyse trends which will alert us and Partnership
agencies to criminal activity.

•     Implement the Accelerated Improvement Agenda for Children’s Services, including:
       - Improving the system for protecting children from significant harm by implementing new

interagency arrangements for managing referrals by March 2016
       - Improving the recruitment and retention of children’s social workers, ensuring the Council

achieves and maintains a vacancy rate below 15% by March 2016

To enable us to improve the system for protecting children from significant harm we have worked with our
partners in the Police, Health, Education and Probation to agree the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
governance arrangements, operating model, staff composition and ICT infrastructure. We have experienced
some delays in relation to ICT and floor planning however South Wales Police have mitigated further delays to
allow staff to be co-located.  Partners are developing the Information Sharing Protocol, process mapping for
referral pathways has been completed, and the vetting process for staff is almost complete.

We have taken into account the Social Service and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, amending the Multi Agency
Referral Form (MARF) and Vulnerable Adults form (VA1) in readiness for use in 2016-17.

The impact of the MASH will be monitored throughout 2016-17.

Page 131



60

•     Commence implementation of a new Children and Families Preventative Strategy by October 2015
that enables earlier access to help for families, prevents the need for children being removed from
their homes and alleviates the need for costly interventions

In consultation with our key partners (Health, Police, Barnardo’s, Action for Children) we developed the new Early
Help Strategy. The impact of the strategy will be monitored alongside our work to embed it in 2016-17 as it is
too soon to evidence the impact at the time of writing.  We will develop a set of indicators that will be monitored
throughout 2016-17, alongside any possible impact on budgets to provide evidence that our prevention work is
having the desired effect.

We also piloted the Rapid Response Service and observed positive outcomes, which have allowed us to continue
with the service and expand capacity.  The service supports families who are referred to Children’s Services due
to family breakdown, where children may be experiencing neglect or a breakdown in their relationship with
parents/carers and are therefore at immediate risk of becoming looked after and placed into foster care. Within
the first six weeks of the pilot, 23 children and their families engaged with the service and reported that they felt
listened to and supported to reach their own family goals.  Risks were reduced during this period, with two
children becoming looked after.

We progressed the Joint Assessment Family Framework (JAFF) pilot to help agencies to assess need and respond
in a timely way.  Premises have been secured for the new Adolescent Resource Centre – the posts to support the
centre have been created and the psychology input model that will be used to support Young People has been
has been agreed with our colleagues within Health.

The Adolescent Resource Centre will target 11-16 year olds who are at risk of becoming looked after.  The
approach will offer parenting support as well as behaviour support to young people using evidenced-based
interventions.  

•     Implement a fully re-commissioned domestic violence support service to meet the requirements of
new legislation - whilst offering more integrated provision - by March 2017

We conducted a review of existing provision and the Police & Crime Commissioner commissioned Safe Lives,
which carried out work on the commissioning of Domestic Violence Services in Cardiff. Work began on the
introduction of an accommodation gateway for domestic violence refuges, but further work will be carried out in
2016-17 to fully implement a domestic violence support service.  

Page 132



61

•     By September 2015, develop a robust multi-agency PREVENT Delivery Plan that:
       - Responds to the challenges of terrorism and extremism
       - Prevents people from being drawn into terrorism with advice and support
       - Addresses the threat of radicalisation

PREVENT is 1 of the 4 elements of CONTEST, the Government's counter-terrorism strategy. It aims to stop
people becoming involved in terrorism or supporting terrorism.  We developed a multi-agency PREVENT delivery
plan that enabled:

•      Improved governance across CONTEST and PREVENT strategies.
•      Delivery of WRAP (Workshop to Raise Awareness of ‘PREVENT’) training to key strategic providers in Cardiff.

This has included training to circa 3,000 people since 2015.  Following the roll-out of WRAP training, more
staff are now better placed to identify PREVENT issues and are aware of where to go for assistance, when
required.

•      Delivery of GOT (Getting on Together) in all Cardiff Secondary Schools.  GOT training enables the
development of critical thinking skills around extremism, in line with the Counter Terrorism and Security Bill
(2015), with key support of teachers. 

•      Delivery of the Upstanding Neighbourhood Project to 38 community members from a range of
communities which has resulted in PREVENT campaigns being undertaken, under the leadership of Cardiff
Race Equality First.

•      Successful completion of the young leaders project to 25 young people.  The young people on the scheme
are developing leadership and mentoring skills, with a view to better understanding extremism issues and
supporting colleagues

•      Effective Channel process, a place to safeguard individuals at risk of radicalisation
•      Bids were submitted to secure funding for projects for 2016-17

As a result of the projects delivered, 3,063 people from statutory agencies and the community have received
PREVENT training.  This enables individuals to identify issues of radicalisation, report the matter where
appropriate and run campaigns to challenge extremism. 

Page 133



62

Improvement Objective: 
People in Cardiff have access to good quality housing

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:

• High quality, sustainable and affordable homes for those most in need
• Increased level of housing available for Council tenants 
• A private rented sector that is fit for purpose

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made strong progress towards this Improvement
Objective, as we have observed improvement across all key performance areas. For the past three years we have
continued to see an increase in the number of new affordable rented housing units and new assisted home
ownership units delivered.  

We have also performed well in some other areas, for example:
• We helped 713 tenants transfer or exchange their properties as a result of Welfare Reform changes to

ensure the property they occupy meets their needs
• We made 2,262 offers of Social Housing to those affected by Welfare Reform
• 75.1% of our tenants are satisfied with the City of Cardiff Council as their landlord
• 86.6% are satisfied with the condition of their property
• The Council continues to maintain the Welsh Housing Quality Standard at 100%, which further

demonstrates that the housing offer for Council tenants remains of a high quality, in line with Welsh
Government standards 

• Our Housing Partnering scheme with national developer Wates Living Space Homes is on track and planning
for phase 1 sites is complete

• No Houses of Multiple Occupation were subject to enforcement activity this year 

While we have made strong progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will continue
to monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

Page 134



63

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

The number of additional
affordable housing units provided
during the year 

2015-16
target

20%

2013-14
result

58%

2014-15
result

48%

2015-16
result

69%

Are we
improving?

s

Have we
met target?

In 2015-16 we delivered 273 affordable housing units, compared with 239 in 2014-15 and 204 in 2013-14. This
demonstrates our continued capability and commitment to delivering affordable homes in Cardiff.

What have we achieved this year?
In our 2015-17 Corporate Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to
help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in
2015-16.

•     Deliver circa 1600 new homes for Cardiff through the Housing Partnering Scheme, as part of a
phased approach by 2024, 40% of which will be affordable housing

Our Housing Partnering Scheme represents an exciting development partnership between the City of Cardiff
Council and national developer Wates Living Space Homes, to help tackle the housing need across Cardiff.  The
scheme will run until 2024 and is currently on schedule: over the past year we have appointed a contractor and
begun detailed planning for phase 1 sites. 

•     Implement the Housing Allocation Policy to manage the demand for housing and ensure provision
is allocated to those with the highest need

We have continued to work with the main Housing Associations in Cardiff to help people find affordable homes
in the city. 

We have a limited number of homes to rent and within the past year we have amended our allocation scheme
to reflect new homelessness legislation outlined in the Housing (Wales) Act 2014.

Along with Cadwyn, Cardiff Community, Hafod, Linc Cymru, Newydd, Taff, United Welsh and Wales & West
Housing Associations, we used the same Waiting List and Allocation Scheme to let properties across Cardiff. The
Scheme ensures that we help people with the greatest housing need first, providing people with a choice about
where they want to live, in properties that suit their needs.

J

Page 135



64

•     Ensure the private rented sector is fit for purpose and homes meet the legal standards to protect
the health of tenants through prioritised investigation of complaints and the proactive delivery of
additional licensing schemes in the city

Since becoming the designated Licensing Authority for the whole of Wales in 2015, we have continued to lead
on the national initiative, Rent Smart Wales, to ensure that both Landlords and Agents within the private rented
sector comply with the requirements of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014. So far, 13,192 landlords in Wales are
registered with Rent Smart Wales and 1,858 have completed training sessions. 

In Cardiff we liaised with private landlords to identify the barriers they face when housing clients with priority
need. From this we were able to create an offer to landlords, in the form of a Housing Solutions package, to
provide support and assistance in renting their property. We officially launched the Housing Solutions package in
March 2016 and will continue to promote this over the coming year. 

To ensure that homes meet standards and are safe for their occupants, and to build on the good work already
undertaken, we re-declared the Cathays Additional Licensing Scheme. We did this to ensure that approximately
2000 Houses of Multiple Occupation will continue to benefit from inspection and regulated standards of
amenity and fire safety. 

Page 136



65

Improvement Objective: 
People in Cardiff are supported to live independently

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:

•      People being able to live independently within their own home
•      Effective transitional support for vulnerable young adults leaving the care system

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made good progress in relation to this Improvement
Objective as we have observed improvement across most of our key performance areas. 

We received a positive inspection report from the Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) in
relation to Domiciliary Care. This inspection by CSSIW found that “people using the service receive care from
competent and confident staff who treat them with dignity and respect. The service works closely with members
of the health team to provide support that is responsive to changes in people’s care needs”. Feedback from
service users included “I cannot praise the staff enough”, “everyone was really good” and “staff who
listened”.

We created the Independent Living Service to support the Council’s Preventative agenda and some key
outcomes are:

•      We launched the First Point of Contact (FPOC) in October 2015, and 1,052 cases were resolved at FPOC
where alternative outcomes for Independent Living were identified to allow people to remain in their own
homes

•      Independent Living Officers made 1,037 holistic visits, and from these:
        ➢ 265 people were referred for a preventative intervention to reduce slips, trips and falls
        ➢ 239 people were referred for Assistive Technology
        ➢ 176 people were assisted with social isolation

•      Our Housing Resettlement Officers directly assisted the discharge of 124 patients from hospital to allow
them to regain independence in their own homes and 18 people were temporarily housed in step-down
accommodation, reducing the need for them to stay in hospital while adaptations were made to their
homes 

Page 137



66

•      At the end of the year, we experienced a 24% decrease in the number of Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC),
when compared to the same period in the previous year. However, Cardiff and Vale University Health Board
reported the second highest number of DToCs across Wales and capacity within the Cardiff Domiciliary
market remained a key challenge.

While we have made good progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will continue to
monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

The number of older people aged
65+ supported in the community

The number of people aged 65+
supported in Care Homes

The % of adult clients supported in
the community

2015-16
target

47

18

86.8%

2013-14
result

46.42

17.98

86.4%

2014-15
result

44.12

18

86.3%

2015-16
result

41.53

17.61

86.1%

Are we
improving?

s

Have we
met target?

We originally selected this performance measure to demonstrate supporting people in the Community. However, the
Council’s Policy now focusses on a preventative agenda, signposting service users to community-based independent
living solutions as opposed to traditional packages of care, therefore we no longer use this indicator to measure our
performance.  We launched the First Point of Contact (FPOC) in October 2015, and 1,052 cases were resolved at FPOC
where alternative outcomes for Independent Living were identified to allow people to remain in their own homes.

Despite an increase in our population aged 65+, we have observed a slight improvement in our performance. The number of
people we support in Care Homes has decreased slightly this year to 859, compared to 861 in 2014-15. This shows that there is
an ongoing need for people aged 65+ with complex needs to be supported within a care home setting.

We originally selected this performance measure to demonstrate supporting people in the Community. However, the Council’s
Policy now focusses on a preventative agenda; signposting service users to community-based independent living solutions as
opposed to traditional packages of care, therefore we no longer use this indicator to measure our performance.  We launched
the First Point of Contact (FPOC) in October 2015, and 1,052 cases were resolved at FPOC where alternative outcomes for
Independent Living were identified to allow people to remain in their own homes.

J

Page 138



67

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

The rate of delayed transfers of care
for social care reasons per 1000
population aged 75 or over

Number of adults using the Direct
Payments scheme 

The % of carers of adults who were
offered an assessment or review of
their needs

2015-16
target

5.92

700

90%

2013-14
result

8.56

501

50.2%

2014-15
result

10.92

550

64.4%

2015-16
result

11.18

615

76.8%

Are we
improving?

s

s

Have we
met target?

While further work has been carried out in this area, our performance has not improved and we have not met the target
we set ourselves. However, our data shows that at the end of the year there was a 24% reduction in the number of
Delayed Transfers of Care when compared to the previous year. Our Community Resource Teams moved to a seven day
working week to enable weekend discharges, and our Housing resettlement officers continued to support discharges
from hospital.

Overall take up has improved over the year but we have not met the target of 700 for the year.  The drive towards increasing
the number of people receiving Direct Payments is demonstrated by 43 people working towards the scheme at the end of the
year. We will be introducing a new local indicator in 2016-17 to capture those in receipt of Direct Payments ‘during’ the year to
ensure that we capture the flow and gain a more accurate picture of take up.  During 2015-16, 197 people started Direct
Payments and 83 ceased (of which, the main reasons were deceased and admission to Care Homes).   

While we have not met the target that we set ourselves, we have demonstrated continued improvement in our carer
assessment offers. In 2015-16 we offered 2735 carer assessments compared with 2079 in the previous year, and completed
771 assessments, compared with 596 in 2014-15. Offering carers assessments allows us to give carers an opportunity to
discuss with us how caring affects their life and what support services can be put in place.

s

s

L

L

L

Page 139



68

What have we achieved this year?
In our 2015-17 Corporate Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to
help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in
2015-16.

•     Deliver better integrated housing support and social care to improve outcomes for those who need
support to live independently, including increasing the number of people who are able to remain at
home with minimal intervention

We established a First Point of Contact to respond to enquiries and act as a triage service to find alternative
solutions for independent living. This service has been able to respond to low level issues via the telephone,
offering advice and signposting to alternative service provision. We referred more complex cases to Independent
Living Officers who provided assessments to 1,037 service users. We maintained our performance throughout
the year with only 48% of calls passed to Social Care; the remainder were solved by the First Point of Contact
team.

•     Work with our health partners to reduce the total number of Cardiff residents who experience a
Delayed Transfer of Care from hospital

A Delayed Transfer of Care Improvement Group met in December 2015 and revised their action plan to improve
patient flow. We continued to review the capacity of the domiciliary care market and worked with
Commissioning & Procurement and Business Wales on this issue. Our Community Resource Teams moved to a
seven day working week to provide a weekend discharge service. This, along with additional Home Care
managers, allowed for a potential of eight more screening assessments for home care to take place at weekends.
Our Housing Resettlement Officers (HROs) continued to support discharges from hospital, including St David’s
and Rookwood hospitals. The HROs supported the use of Step Down accommodation as an alternative to
remaining in hospital. During the year the HROs supported 124 discharges from hospital and 16 people were
supported to use Step Down accommodation. 

•     Increase the uptake of Direct Payments as an alternative to direct provision of care for Cardiff
residents every month

While the number of Cardiff residents in receipt of Direct Payments has increased, we did not meet the target
that we set ourselves. During the year we set up a project group so that we could explore alternative ways to
deliver Direct Payments, and from this two groups were established to focus on the financial elements and
research into alternative models. 

Page 140



69

•     Support carers by ensuring that all carers are offered a carer assessment and increase the number
of carer assessments undertaken

We extended the employment of our two dedicated Carer Assessment Workers (CAWs) until the end of March
2017 and during the year they continued to target the completion of carer assessments. The total number of
carer assessments we completed improved from 596 in 2014-15 to 771 in 2015-16. Over the next year we plan
to recruit two further CAWs to increase our resources in completing carer assessments. 

•     Improve the effectiveness of transitional support for disabled and vulnerable children approaching
adulthood

We worked in partnership with Careers Wales and Cardiff and Vale College to identify a number of young people
who could be supported to develop their skills and independence through accessing community-based services.
We piloted the ‘When I am Ready’ scheme, which allows young people to continue living with their Foster Carers
beyond the age of 18, providing stability in their home environment. The experience of families with disabled
young people leaving Children’s services and entering Adults’ services has improved over the past year. An
example of an effectively managed transition is detailed below:

“A young person and their family had multiple planning meetings between Children’s and Adults’ Services to
identify their current and future needs. All relevant agencies were involved to ensure there was continuity of
service. The family reported that they felt well informed through the transition between services, feeling valued,
with a clear understanding of who was working with their family and why. From this, the service was able to
identify the need for a Decision Planning Tool assessing the young person’s need for Continuing Health Care
Funding”.

•     Expand the range of supported accommodation options for vulnerable young adults

We worked in partnership with our Housing service to develop a ‘Gateway’ database to support young people
needing access to accommodation. We launched this Gateway in October 2015 to provide a ‘one stop shop’ for
housing provision for young people. The Gateway has been a very positive development for young people
needing to access accommodation and for the staff supporting them to do so.  The service is very accessible,
reduces anxiety for young people and reduces homelessness.

Page 141



70

Improvement Objective: 
Cardiff has more employment opportunities and higher value jobs

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:

• Creating an environment which is attractive to business investment
• Continuing support to new and existing businesses
• Increasing the number of jobs within the city
• Securing new tourism investment and attracting visitors

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made strong progress in relation to this Improvement
Objective, as we have observed improvement across all key performance areas. The Council has worked with
partners in the public and private sector to improve the city centre to make it an attractive place for businesses
and to improve the visitor experience. Significant investment in infrastructure and facilities has been attracted
and implemented over the last year, which has led to an increase in the number and quality of jobs available and
an increase in the number of people visiting the city.

Some key areas of success over the year are:

• 415 businesses have been supported by the Council and some of these businesses have gone on to attract a
combined total of £6,959,014 of grant aid and private sector finance

• 4,304 new and safeguarded jobs in businesses supported by the Council, of which 60% are above the
average salary for Wales

• Planning consent has been provided for 316,211 square feet of Grade A office accommodation in the city
centre

While we have made strong progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will continue
to monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

Page 142



71

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

‘Grade A’ office space committed for
Development in Cardiff

Businesses supported financially or otherwise by
the Council 

New and safeguarded jobs in businesses
supported by the Council, financially or otherwise 

2015-16
target

100,000

50

1,000

2014-15
result

100,000

351

2,395

2015-16
result

100,000

415

4,304

Are we
improving?

s

s

Have we
met target?

During the year planning consent has been approved for 316,211 sq ft of Grade A office accommodation which reflects
a demand from major employers such as the BBC, Finance Wales, Alert Logic, Network Rail, WSP/Parsons Brinckerhoff,
and Opus Energy.  

In the year we provided financial supported to 382 companies and business advice was provided to 33 businesses.

Despite a reduction in available grant funding, we have seen an increase in the number of jobs created and safeguarded in
companies supported by the Council and this is partly due to Cardiff’s profile as an attractive business destination.

What have we achieved this year?

In our 2015-17 Corporate Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to
help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in
2015-16.

•     Deliver, with partners, 200,000 square feet of Grade A office space as part of a new business district
in the vicinity of Central Station between March 2014 and March 2016

During the year planning consent was approved for 316,000 sq ft of Grade A offices. This reflects demand from
major employers including the BBC, Finance Wales, Alert Logic, Network Rail, WSP/Parsons Brinckerhoff, and
Opus Energy.  

J

J

J

s

s

Page 143



72

The regeneration of Central Square is progressing well with the completion of One Central Square and
commencement of the BBC Building.  Building No2 is currently awaiting a decision on planning and Foster &
Partners have been commissioned to develop a detailed planning application for the bus interchange which is
anticipated to be submitted in September. 

•     Deliver with partners a proposal to Central Government for a City Deal for Cardiff by March 2016,
along with a subsequent programme for delivery

A partnership has been established between 10 Local Authorities in South East Wales to develop a City Deal for
the Cardiff Capital City Region.  A proposal was submitted to the UK Government securing funding of £1.22bn
over 20 years.  New governance arrangements have been agreed for the city-region and high-level programme
themes to ensure benefits are received across the region.  

•     Implement a delivery strategy to progress a Multi-Purpose Arena by March 2016

Good progress has been made with identifying and securing a suitable site for the arena. Formal agreements
relating to the land will be taken forward in 2016-17.

•     Develop a heritage quarter proposal for the Civic Centre, including a plan for the refurbishment of
City Hall by March 2016

A draft Cathays Park Urban Design Framework has been completed providing a new development vision for the
Civic Centre. The framework will now be taken forward for consultation in 2016-17. As part of this a review of City
Hall will be commissioned in 2016-17.

•     Establish a new Tourism Development Strategy by June 2015 with a view to doubling the value of
overnight tourism in the city-region by 2020

The Council’s Cabinet approved the new Tourism Strategy and Action Plan 2015 – 2020.  Outcomes will be led
by the private sector, supported by the Council, and will require close working with a range of local stakeholders.

Tourism figures released by STEAM for 2015 show:
‒ Total visitor numbers: 20.51 million (a 5% increase from 2014)
‒ Total economic impact of tourism: £1.20 billion (a 6.8% increase from 2014)
‒ FTE jobs supported by tourism spend: 13,881 (a 8.3% increase from 2014)

Page 144



73

Improvement Objective: 
Cardiff has a high quality city environment that includes attractive
public spaces and good supporting transport infrastructure

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:
•      Creating sustainable communities, with great parks and open spaces and excellent transport links.

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made good progress in relation to this Improvement
Objective as we have observed improvement across all key performance areas.

We maintained the Green Flag status of nine of our parks and green spaces, an achievement that recognises
continuing good quality provision in these areas. The results of our Ask Cardiff survey 2015 show that 87.2% of
our respondents were satisfied with parks and open spaces in Cardiff, a result that is consistent with the previous
year. 

60.2% of our Ask Cardiff 2015 respondents were satisfied with public transport, a level consistent with the
previous year. However, we recognise that 61.2% felt there are still travel and transport issues within the city.
Securing approval from Welsh Government of our Local Transport Plan, which sets out a 15-year programme of
transport infrastructure schemes, should help us address these issues.

We achieved bronze Sustainable Food City status and became one of the first sustainable food cities in the UK.
Being part of a Sustainable Food network allows us, along with our key partners, to support sustainable
communities in recognising the key role food can play in dealing with some of today’s most significant social,
economic and environmental challenges. 

We have achieved a 6% year-on-year reduction in Carbon emissions from the Council’s estate which supports
our Carbon Reduction Commitment. We also received the Wales Green Energy Award for best use of renewable
energy in the Public Sector. Winning this award means that we are recognised as an organisation that has done
the most to develop renewable energy. 

While we have made good progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will continue to
monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

Page 145



74

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

The percentage of highways
inspected of a high or acceptable
standard of cleanliness

Percentage of principal (A) roads
that are in overall poor condition

Percentage of non-
principal/classified (B) roads that are
in overall poor condition

Percentage of non-
principal/classified (C) roads that are
in overall poor condition

Mode of Travel to Work by:
Sustainable Transport

Number of Green Flag Park and
Open Spaces

2015-16
target

90%

5%

8%

8%

44.1%

9

2013-14
result

93.76%

4%

8.2%

10.1%

N/A

9

2014-15
result

86.79%

4.3%

7.4%

9.3%

43.1%

9

2015-16
result

90%

3.7%

6.5%

6.6%

43.9%

9

Are we
improving?

s

s

s

s

s

Have we
met target?

The increase in performance from the previous year (2015-16 – 86.79%) reflects progress made through the phased roll out of
the Neighbourhood Services approach.  This new approach is being further developed during the 2016/17 period.

Following the Welsh Government Local Government Borrowing Initiative (LGBI), additional capital funding has been invested in
highways enhancements. Investment in highways assets between 2012 and 2015, and recent targeted investment in the
principal road network, has meant that condition results for the A, B and C class roads have improved as expected.

Following significant Welsh Government LGBI investment in highways assets between 2012 and 2015, and recent targeted
investment in the principal network, condition results for the A, B and C class roads have improved as expected.

Following significant Welsh Government LGBI  investment in highways assets between 2012 and 2015, and recent targeted
investment in the principal network, condition results for the A, B and C class roads have improved as expected.

The Green Flag Park and Open Spaces status has been retained for existing parks following an external assessment, meaning
that some of our parks are recognised as some of the best green spaces in Wales.

J

J

J

J

J

Js

s

Page 146



75

Performance Measure

Mode of Travel to Work by: Cycling

Mode of Children's Travel to School
by: Cycling

Generate an additional Renewable
energy generation of 5.4MW on the
council’s portfolio (land and assets)
by 2017

2015-16
target

9.2%

3%

0.698
MW

2013-14
result

9.2%

N/A

N/A

2014-15
result

9.2%

2.7%

N/A

2015-16
result

9.2%

3.1%

0.698
MW

Are we
improving?

s

N/A

Have we
met target?

What have we achieved this year?
In our 2015-17 Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to help us
deliver against our Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in 2015-16.

•     Work with key partners to design and deliver a new transport interchange – including a new bus
station – as part of a high quality gateway into the city by December 2017

Following the closure of the existing bus station, we put interim arrangements in place along with Cardiff Bus to
ensure services could continue to operate effectively. We undertook consultation with the public which we then
used to feed into our draft design of the new bus station with our preferred developer.  Our target delivery date is
December 2017 and we are on track to meet this. 

J
Cardiff continues to make positive progress towards increasing travel by sustainable modes (including walking, cycling and
public transport); through on-going initiatives such as managing parking, enforcement, road safety improvements such as
speed reductions, safer routes to schools, network improvements and improvements associated with developments.  There are
also future opportunities to encourage sustainable travel through the City Deal.

J
Cardiff continues to make positive progress towards increasing travel by sustainable modes (including walking, cycling and
public transport); through on-going initiatives such as managing parking, enforcement, road safety improvements such as
speed reductions, safer routes to schools, network improvements and improvements associated with developments.  There are
also future opportunities to encourage sustainable travel through the City Deal.

J

As this is a new indicator there is no baseline comparison.  The Council met its short term target of 0.698MW from renewable
installations across the estate. This comprised of solar PV installations across the Council’s housing, corporate and schools
estate.

s

s

Page 147



76

•     Support Welsh Government and other key stakeholders in the formulation of proposals to develop
the Cardiff City Region Metro. Develop a Cardiff City Transport Strategy benchmarked against
European best practice by December 2015

We have worked in partnership with the Welsh Government, Local Authorities in the Region and other
stakeholders to formulate proposals to develop the transport infrastructure for the Cardiff City Region Metro that
will help deliver investment across the region over the next twenty years.

We secured funding to deliver the Phase 1 Metro Schemes that, once completed, will bring better sustainable
transport facilities across the region. The phase 1 Metro schemes have progressed according to the Welsh
Government Metro delivery programme and are on track. We completed the Cardiff Transport Strategy to
provide the public and key stakeholders with a better understanding of key transport investment priorities in
Cardiff. We plan to consult on and approve this strategy in 2016-17. 

The Cardiff City Region Metro is a long-term project, and we will continue to work with our key partners, including
the Welsh Government, to support the delivery of this scheme. 

•     Develop a new Master Plan and Action Plan for Cardiff Bay Area by December 2015

We appointed expert consultants to prepare a Master Plan utilising engagement with relevant Council services,
stakeholders and landowners. By taking this comprehensive master planning approach we hope to achieve
investor confidence and ensure future developments deliver the maximum social, economic and environmental
benefits to existing and future residents. We plan to complete a Green Paper for consultation in the Autumn of
2016.

•     Adopt the Local Development Plan by October 2015

The Local Development Plan (LDP) was not adopted until January 2016. The plan sets out how the city will
develop up to 2026 and provides the legal framework for the use of land within Cardiff. We determined 2,500
planning applications, including Central Square and the first applications on LDP strategic sites. We also
supported the delivery of major planning applications such as the BBC Headquarters, Ely Mill and Greenfield
Strategic Sites to help meet the evidenced need for new homes, jobs and infrastructure in Cardiff. 

Page 148



77

• Establish an Energy Prospectus by August 2015, recommending the investment vehicle and
delivery opportunities to generate clean, locally generated energy for the city and potentially the
region

We established and agreed an energy prospectus which has been working towards delivering the following:

• Radyr Weir Hydro Scheme – this will generate enough electricity to power around 550 homes
• Solar panels installed on the roofs of Council buildings amounting to almost 0.5MW of renewable energy
• A process for the delivery of energy efficiency projects across our schools estate which has led to £1m of

investment in LED lighting installations in 15 schools; this has a potential lifetime saving of £2.5m

Our progress in relation to the Lamby Way Solar Farm was adversely affected by a government policy change.
We will formalise a new strategy later in 2016-17 for the delivery of this solar farm. 

• Establish a new strategy for highways and transport asset maintenance & renewal by October
2015

Unfortunately, we experienced delays to the development of the Highways Investment Strategy and, on
reflection, we have developed the project to incorporate cross-service working in keeping with a ‘One Council’
approach to asset management.  We have delayed the development of this strategy to October 2016 and
progress will be monitored.

•     Develop a Cardiff Cycle Strategy benchmarked against European best practice by December 2016 

Our existing route map was approved by the Welsh Government and we delivered a briefing on the Cycle
Strategy at our Informal Cabinet meeting in March 2016. We plan to undertake stakeholder engagement to
inform Network options and Cycle Strategy key themes. We will monitor progress of the development of our
Cycle Strategy. 

Page 149



78

Improvement Objective: 
Communities and Partners are actively involved in the design,
delivery and improvement of highly valued services

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:

•      Increased partnership working and work with our residents to provide more integrated services
•      Implementation of a ‘One Council’ approach to ensure more joined up working making services easier to

access for residents
•      Development and implementation of alternative models for delivering services
•      Maintenance of the quality of our services regardless of who is responsible for delivering them

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made good progress in relation to this Improvement
Objective, as we have observed improvement across most of our key performance areas. However, there are
areas where our performance is not as strong as we would like. 

Our performance shows that we did not maintain customer satisfaction with Council services in 2015-16, with
performance declining to 69.3%, compared with 80.8% in the previous year. 

We maintained 100% satisfaction across all eight of our Community Hubs, which support our citizens to access
a wide range of Council and Partner services in one place, and, in 2015-16, 99.6% of customers agreed with the
statement “overall the hub met my requirements”.

Through the Ask Cardiff survey, the Cardiff Debate and the Stepping Up process, we engaged with our citizens
to support our plans for the future cultural and leisure needs of the city to be delivered by the local community.
Completed Community Asset Transfers include Plasnewydd Community Centre and Pentrebane Community
Centre.

We improved our performance and met our recycling target for 2015-16; this is especially positive as we have
had to implement our Waste Restricting Programme, meaning some changes to household recycling and waste
collection. Our citizen consultation shows that in 2015 80.3% of respondents were satisfied with the Waste and
Recycling services they received, an improvement compared to 73.1% in 2014. 

While we have made good progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will continue to
monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

Page 150



79

How we measured our progress

Performance Measure

Customer/citizen satisfaction with
Council services

Medium Term Financial Gap

% of municipal waste collected and
prepared for re-use / recycled

2015-16
target

80.8%

To meet the
financial gap

58%

2013-14
result

88.4%

N/A (new
measure)

49%

2014-15
result

80.8%

Met

53%

2015-16
result

69.3%

Met

58%

Are we
improving?

t

N/A

s

Have we
met target?

The results of our Ask Cardiff survey show that customer satisfaction with Council services has declined. Our data shows that
this decrease is largely attributed to three areas: Waste Management, Street Cleansing and Road Maintenance. Despite this,
our data shows that our performance in relation to highways that are of a high or acceptable standard of cleanliness, has
improved to 90.64% in 2015-16, compared with 86.79% in the previous year. Furthermore, 98.3% of fly-tipping incidents
were cleared within 5 working days, a result consistent with the previous year.

The Medium Term Financial Gap was met by setting a balanced budget for 2015-16. The Wales Audit Office (WAO) undertook
an assessment of all 22 Local Authorities in respect of financial resilience.  As a result, we were rated as having low risk for
Financial Control and Financial Governance and a medium risk for Financial Planning.  Therefore, we have further developed
the planning arrangements in budget setting for 2016-17 in order to reduce the risk in respect of Financial Planning.

We improved our performance and met our recycling target for 2015-16; this is especially positive as we have had to
implement our Waste Restricting Programme, meaning some changes to household recycling and waste collection. Our citizen
consultation shows that in 2015, 80.3% of respondents were satisfied with the Waste and Recycling services they received, an
improvement compared to 73.1% in 2014. We have also improved our performance significantly in relation to municipal
waste that we send to landfill. In 2015-16, 7.51% of our municipal waste was sent to landfill, compared with 32.57% in 2014-
15 and 46.85% in 2013-14.

L

J

J

Page 151



80

What have we achieved this year?

In our 2015-17 Corporate plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to
help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in
2015-16.

•     Introduce new models of service provision for play services in the city by April 2017, with existing
services running until new services are in place. 

While this commitment will take us longer than a year to deliver, our key priority has been to ensure that existing
services are still running. We have employed three Development Officers to support the provision of play services,
and have identified a community group and organisation to potentially asset transfer buildings in all of our
locations, with the exception of Llanrumney. We have also worked with staff to develop a play model based on a
peripatetic basis. We will continue to track our progress in this area through the monitoring of our 2016-18
Corporate Plan.

•     Establish the future cultural and leisure needs of the city and ensure the sustainable delivery of
cultural and leisure infrastructure and services at less cost through new operating models by June
2016 

We have worked through the procurement process to identify final bidders for both our leisure centres and arts
venues, and invitation to submit detailed solutions is in the final stage.  We recognise there is further work to be
done in this area and have committed to progressing this through our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

•     Commence implementation of a new approach to infrastructure services (which include Waste,
Cleansing, Parks, Highways, Design, Fleet and Facilities Management services) to improve
effectiveness while reducing costs from 2016

We completed a full business case analysis so that we could assess whether a Wholly Owned Company or
Modified In-House model would be the best way forward for Cardiff. This work has taken slightly longer than we
anticipated and we now plan to have this operational by March 2017. We will monitor the progress of this
through our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

Page 152



81

•     Implement service changes for Cardiff to enable the Council to meet its statutory recycling target
(58%) by March 2016 and continue to develop the future Waste and Recycling strategy for Cardiff
in partnership with Welsh Government

We implemented a city-wide waste restricting programme to limit the amount of waste households in Cardiff
produce. We expanded wheeled bins to over 10,000 additional properties and delivered general waste restriction
to over 130,000 households. We also introduced identification checks at our Household Waste Recycling Centres
(HWRCs) to ensure these centres are only being used by Cardiff residents. We secured new contracts for
materials such as bottom ash, carpets and mattresses, all of which contributed to achieving our recycling targets.
Commercial waste services were expanded and we developed partnerships with neighbouring Authorities to help
generate income and increase our recycling rates. We listened to our citizens and introduced seasonal opening
hours at our HWRCs to meet customer demand and deliver a more efficient service.  By implementing these
changes, we have ensured that our recycling performance has improved this year and is in line with the statutory
targets set by Welsh Government (WG), meaning we are able to avoid substantial fines.

•     Implement the regional service for Regulatory Services with the Vale of Glamorgan and Bridgend
Councils to deliver efficiencies and build resilience within public health protection, trading
standards, landlords and licensing services

Along with the Vale of Glamorgan and Bridgend Councils, we implemented the new operating model for this
service and delivered the financial savings that we had planned. Although we experienced some significant
resource issues, performance against some of our key indicators has been maintained in most areas relating to
public health, trading standards and landlords and licensing services. Maintaining our performance indicates to
us that our new operating model is capable of delivering a sustainable service. 

•     Develop a commercial opportunities strategy and establish a commercial trading company by
September 2015

The commercial strategy was progressed as part of the Alternative Delivery Model (ADM) work that the Council
has undertaken, covering a number of areas including Waste, Street Cleansing, Parks Management and
Development, Highways, Central Transport Services, Facilities Management, and Projects, Design and
Development.  It seeks to optimise income generation to support core funded services for areas of the Council
that have the potential to become more commercial.

The strategy sets out the need to build commercial understanding and capacity within the Council, and to
embed a new commercial culture and mindset, ensuring that managers and all employees have a thorough
understanding of detailed service costs and appropriate pricing strategies to facilitate targeted growth in income.

Page 153



82

•     Progress the agreed Community Hubs Strategy by opening a Grangetown Hub (September 2015),
developing a new STAR Hub (March 2016) and bringing forward for consideration opportunities for
future hub development in Llandaff North, Fairwater, Llanishen and St Mellons

Our Hubs Strategy provides co-located services across the city, allowing access to a variety of Council and partner
agency services in one central location. Hubs were opened in Central Library, Rumney and Grangetown, while
work commenced on the STAR Hub and phase 1 of the extension at St Mellons Hub was completed.  Stakeholder
and community consultations for Llandaff North and Fairwater Hubs were undertaken, the contractor has been
appointed and works have started on the Llandaff North Hub, and a Hub in Llanishen was approved following
consultation.

•     Deliver a new Customer Relationship Management (CRM) Model that improves customer services
and drives down costs, implementing the first phase by December 2015

First phase of the CRM went operational on 25th January, and more than 10,000 unique customer
identifications have been created, giving a single view of each customer and the ability to track any request or
call logged and give updates on their progression.  In phase 1 we have concentrated on the telephony aspect of
the CRM with C2C before moving onto the digital aspect in phase 2.

Page 154



83

Improvement Objective: 
The City of Cardiff Council has effective governance arrangements
and improves performance in key areas

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015-16 we said we would focus on:

•      Further strengthening the Governance arrangements and effective performance management to ensure
the Council’s priorities are delivered

•      Work in partnership with the Wales Audit Office and other external partners to drive improvement in priority
areas including Education and Children’s Services

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made good progress in relation to this Improvement
Objective, as we have observed improvement across most key performance areas.  We have worked with our
regulatory inspectors, Wales Audit Office (WAO), Estyn and the Care and Social Services Inspectorate Wales
(CSSIW) to support improvement across the Council.  The WAO undertook a Corporate Assessment of the
Council in October 2015, and concluded that a better performance management culture was emerging.  The
WAO reported:

“The Council has put in place better arrangements to support improvement and to address long-
standing issues, but is now at a critical point in embedding them if it is to achieve a step change in

delivering improved outcomes”

We responded positively to this assessment with a Statement of Action, and a Performance & Governance
programme has been developed under the Council’s Organisational Development Programme, which includes
work streams relating to Planning, Reporting, Challenge and Workforce Strategy. The WAO issued the Council
with its Annual Improvement Report in May 2016 which concluded that, based on the work carried out by the
WAO and other relevant regulators over the previous year, the Council is likely to comply with the requirements
of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 during 2016-17, providing that it embeds arrangements to
support improved outcomes and maintains the current pace of improvement. 

In their letter of March 2016, Estyn deemed that the Council had made sufficient progress and was removed
from any further Estyn monitoring.

Page 155



84

In a report entitled ‘Inspection of Children’s Services in City of Cardiff Council’ of March 2016, CSSIW reported
that our Elected Members and our Corporate Management Team demonstrated a common understanding of
the direction and drive needed to ensure Social Services effectively supports improved outcomes for children and
young people in Cardiff, and partnership agencies are well engaged strategically and evidence understanding of
the complex issues facing the Council.  CSSIW also highlighted that the needs of the child were kept at the
forefront of assessment and the core assessments observed were comprehensive and of good quality.  

While we have made good progress, we recognise that there is still more work to be done and we will continue to
monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective in our 2016-18 Corporate Plan. 

Performance Measure

The % of National Strategic
Indicators and Public
Accountability Measures that are
in the top two quarters nationally

The % of National Strategic
Indicators and Public
Accountability Measures that
meet set targets 

The % of National Strategic
Indicators and Public
Accountability measures that
show an improving trend 

2015-16
target

50%

85%

85%

2013-14
result

37.2%

65%

73%

2014-15
result

40%

56%

42%

2015-16
result

42.5%

50% 

67.5%

Are we
improving?

s

t

s

Have we
met target?

How we measured our progress

L

L

Analysis is based on the National Strategic Indicators and Public Accountability Measures when compared to performance in
2014-15. This ranks the Council as **14th when compared to the other 21 Councils in Wales against this comparable basket of
information, and since 2014-15 the Council has improved or maintained performance in 70% of these indicators. (** “The
Western Mail” table places Cardiff in 19th place – this is based on a points system.)

Whilst we have not always met the targets that we set ourselves, we are working to ensure that we have a robust target setting
process in place, and we will be focussing our efforts on the indicators where targets were not met in the hope of improving our
performance over the next year.

L

Performance for 2015-16 shows that Cardiff is the 3rd most improved Local Authority in Wales and is ranked as 14th compared
to 22nd in 2014-15. Our performance for 2015-16 is comparable to all-Wales performance, with 65% of National Indicators
improving across Wales.

Page 156



85

Performance Measure

The level of sickness absence per
Full Time Equivalent Employee

The % of personal performance &
development reviews completed
for permanent staff 

The % of middle managers
completing the Cardiff Managers
programme 

Outcome Agreement Grant
Achieved 

2015-16
target

9

90%

90%

100%

2013-14
result

10.18

82%

N/A

100%

2014-15
result

10.11

89%

N/A

100%

2015-16
result

9.56

90%

91%

100%

Are we
improving?

s

s

N/A

Have we
met target?

How we measured our progress

The quarter on quarter improvement in 2015-16 is attributed to the targeted work we have undertaken and resulted in 25,300
days saved since sickness absence was at its highest of 11.71 working days in 2012-13.

We met our 90% target for PPDR compliance for 2015-16; this equated to 5,370 members of our staff having PPDRs
undertaken across the Council.

We developed the Cardiff Managers Programme, in conjunction with CAVC (Cardiff & Vale College), using Welsh Government
funding to provide our Managers with the opportunity to develop their skills and knowledge in areas that we consider to be a priority.
The programme covers areas such as Financial Skills, Behaviours and Culture, and Problem Solving.  91% (350) of our Middle
Managers, against a target of 90% have received training through an ILM (Institute of Leadership & Management) Accredited
Management Development Programme.  We intend to continue this programme and extend it further across the Council.

J

J

J

K

s

s

The Council has been successful in achieving 100% of its Outcome Agreement grant, payable upon demonstration of performance
improvement against its 5 agreed outcomes relating to Economic Development, Education, Housing, NEETs (young people not in
Education, Employment or Training).

Page 157



86

What have we achieved this year?

In our 2015-17 Corporate Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to
help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in
2015-16.

•     Implement performance management tools consistently across the Council to ensure performance
improvement in key areas by 2017

Significant work has been undertaken throughout the Council to implement performance management tools to
enable improvement.  Quarterly performance reports relating to the Council’s Directorate Delivery Plans are
presented to Cabinet and Scrutiny Committees for discussion of the progression of planned commitments.
These reports provide both an update on key actions and targets and identify any emerging challenges and risks,
which are accompanied by mitigating actions. 

The Council has also introduced ‘Star Chamber’ to enable the Leader, Cabinet Members and the Chief Executive
to review performance in respect of quarterly performance reports.  These take place in line with the Quarterly
Performance Reporting cycle as well as the Budget Monitoring Reports and Cabinet/Scrutiny meeting cycles.  Our
recent Corporate Assessment undertaken by WAO observed that Star Chamber offers a robust mechanism to
question and challenge directorate performance. 

•     Increase monitoring, compliance and support for staff and managers to reduce the levels of
sickness absence by March 2016

Continued support has been provided to Directorates and the good practice carried out in Waste Management is
being rolled out in other areas where high sickness levels have been identified.  We focused on non-compliance
with the different intervention stages of our Attendance & Wellbeing Policy and our Managers are encouraged
and supported to ensure these stages are implemented as appropriate to ensure the effective management of
sickness absence.  

We piloted a Sickness Absence Management Action Planning approach within our Environment Directorate;
based on its success we rolled it out to other Directorates including Sports, Leisure & Culture and Health & Social
Care, with additional plans to roll it out further for areas with higher sickness absence levels.  This approach
provides a focus for managers and the relevant management teams, and involves weekly reviews of absence
reports by managers, home visit reports provided fortnightly to OMs and reminders of the “ringing-in”
requirements.  

The activity described above has resulted in quarter-on-quarter improvement and a year-end outturn of an
average of 9.56 FTE days lost across the organisation, which is the strongest result in five years.

Page 158



87

•     Improve support for staff and managers to maximise the impact of Personal Performance &
Development Reviews (PPDRs) in improving Council performance by March 2016

Our half-yearly PPDR compliance data showed improvement from 85.8% in 2014-15 to 90% in 2015-16, with
our year end compliance meeting its set target of 90%.  Work has been undertaken across the Council to ensure
the PPDR process is being followed and compliance targets met.  Emphasis is now being put on the quality of
PPDRs, with an audit being undertaken on a sample of PPDRs to identify whether objectives are SMART.  During
2016-17, an eLearning module to help set SMART objectives will be developed and a number of PPDR objectives
have been cascaded for Managers, including the Cardiff Managers programme for Grade 7 and below with line
management responsibility. The Council will also be undertaking a review of its PPDR process to strengthen the
link between the contribution of employees and the delivery of Council Priorities. 

•     Ensure Delivery of Outcome Agreement by March 2016 

To support the Welsh Government (WG) ‘Programme for Government’, all Councils within Wales were required to
set Outcome Agreements covering the period 2013-16.. The Council selected five outcome areas, with
associated supporting performance measures, to monitor over the three-year period. These outcome areas were
selected to support the Priorities and Improvement Objectives of the Council, focusing on the following:
       -  Economic Development
        -  Education
        -  Housing
        -  NEETs (young people not in Education, Employment or Training)
        -  Social Care for Adults

In 2013-14, the Council obtained 100% of its Outcome Agreement Grant, based on its ability to demonstrate
continual improvement in relation to the outcome areas listed above. In 2014-15, the Minister for Public Services
announced that the Outcome Agreement initiative would cease in March 2016, with grant monies being rolled
into the Revenue Support Grant.

Page 159



88

Improvement Objective: 
The City of Cardiff Council makes use of fewer, but better, buildings

What did we want to achieve?
During 2015/16 we said we would focus on:

•      Reduced cost of ownership of the Councils property estate
•      Improved quality of the buildings that the Council retains

Our summary of performance
Our self-evaluation of performance tells us that we have made good progress in relation to this Improvement
Objective as we have observed improvement across most of our key performance areas.

The Council owns or has an interest in a large property estate which includes over 500 operational buildings used
to deliver Council services and around 500 properties retained for investment purposes. The Council has focused
activities on reducing the cost of ownership of the operational property estate by rationalising the estate,
reducing the gross internal area and by improving the quality of buildings that are retained.  An important part
of this agenda has also been an improved co-operation around property with partners.

Some key areas of success have been:
• The gross internal floor area of the estate was reduced by 3.5%;
• The property maintenance backlog was reduced by in excess of £4.4m;
• The running cost of the estate was reduced by £1m and more than £6.7m was realised in capital

receipts. 

We will continue to monitor our progress against this Improvement Objective through our 2016-18 Corporate
Plan. 

Page 160



89

Performance Measure

Reduce the Gross Internal Area
(GIA) of buildings in operational
use 

Reduce the average running cost of
occupied operational buildings 

Prioritised Fitness for Purpose
Assessments completed

Reduce the maintenance back log 

Reduction in the proportion of
operational buildings rated as in
‘poor or bad condition’

2015-16
target

3.5%

4.5%

50%

£4.3m

55%

2013-14 re-
sult

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

2014-15
result

0.54%

0.6%

N/A

N/A

N/A

2015-16
result

3.5%

4.5%

100%

£4.5m

52%

Are we
improving?

s

s

N/A

N/A

N/A

Have we
met target?

How we measured our progress

Implementation of the Corporate Asset Management Plan has delivered a significant reduction in the number of operational
buildings compared to the previous year.

During the year the Council has delivered a £1 million reduction in the running cost of operational building by rationalising the
current and future use of operational buildings.

High-level assessment undertaken of all assets and captured in the master property schedule. A rolling 3 year programme of
priorities has been established.  Detailed audit of properties for review identified and progressing.

The Council has undertaken actions resulting in a 52% reduction of operational buildings works rated as in poor or bad
condition through a range of disposals, refurbishments and decisions to demolish. Some transactional delays and a review of
project timescales resulted in affected properties being moved from the 2015/16 programme to 2016/17 and 2017/18
programmes. Therefore the proposed reduction of buildings works rated in ‘poor or bad condition’ will be realised in
accordance with the Property Strategy but at a later date than first anticipated.

J

J

J

J
Targeted management of the Corporate Estate as set out in the CAMP has delivered revenue savings during the year

K

Page 161



90

What have we achieved this year?
In our 2015-17 Corporate Plan we made a number of commitments, setting out what we wanted to achieve to
help us deliver against this Improvement Objective. The information below details what we have achieved in
2015-16.

•     Deliver the approved Property Strategy, including:
       - Implementing an annual Corporate Asset Management Plan for approval by Cabinet by April

2015
       - Introducing new Neighbourhood Area Asset Plans by December 2015.
       - Introducing new Service Area Property Plans by April 2015
       - Implementing a programme of Fitness for Purpose Assessments of all operation property by

April 2016

The Council continues to take forward a number of initiatives to ensure effective use of its property. In November
2015, Cabinet approved a review of the non-operational estate (the Investment Estate) to improve performance
of the estate. As part of this a decision was taken to re-invest proceeds towards modernising the estate and to
grow income. A new governance arrangement to deal with the efficient management of the estate with support
of a commercial advisor has been established to recommend disposal, investment, re-gearing and acquisition as
appropriate.

The Council has published its Corporate Asset Management Plan, providing a corporate view of all property-
related activities to be taken forward over the course of each financial year.  In particular, the Corporate Asset
Management Plan provides direction and supports delivery of the 3 key programmes of activity around the
estate: SOP; Office Rationalisation Programme; and the Community Hubs Programme.

The Council is in on-going dialogue through the Partnership Asset Management Board with local public sector
partners to review property ownership and utilisation in Neighbourhoods. A new approach has been
implemented based around a number of key partnership projects in Neighbourhoods. Further strategic planning
is ongoing.

Property Partners from Strategic Estates have worked with service areas and developed a property master
schedule detailing gross internal area for all buildings, running cost, maintenance backlog and capital receipts.
A master property schedule has been established setting out services’ current and future property requirements
and highlighting actions to be taken in regard to current and future property provision. This is monitored
monthly at the Asset Management Board.

A full high-level Fitness for Purpose review of the operational estate has been undertaken. This is currently being
supplemented by detailed utilisation reviews of the high priority properties identified through the Fitness for
Purpose review and will lead to an action plan for the highest priority buildings.

Page 162



91

•     Delivery of an Office Rationalisation programme to deliver £1m of revenue savings and £6m of
capital receipts by December 2017

800 of our staff have been involved in the office rationalisation programme in 2015-16. A programme of Agile
Working has been rolled out to assist the relocation of staff from Global Link to County Hall.  At the end of 2015-
16 the programme had assisted with the delivery of £1m revenue savings and £6.7m capital receipts.

Page 163



92

How we measure up

Page 164



93

Reference

CHR/002

EDU/002i

EDU/002ii

EDU/003

EDU/004

Success Indicatorss

The number of working
days, per full-time equivalent
local authority employee,
lost due to sickness absence

All pupils that leave
compulsory education,
training or work based
learning without an
approved external
qualification

Pupils in local authority care
that leave compulsory
education, training or work-
based learning without an
approved external
qualification

Pupils assessed at the end of
Key Stage 2 achieving the
Core Subject Indicator

Pupils assessed at the end of
Key Stage 3 achieving the
Core Subject Indicator

2014-15
Outturn

10.1 days

1.1%

6.3%

85.1%

81.5%

2015-16
Target

9 days

0.3%

2.0%

86.5%

79.3%

2015-16
Outturn

9.6 days

0.5%

0.0%

87.8%

83.4%

Target
Met?

Didn’t
meet
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Met 
target

Met 
target

Met 
target

Trend

Improved

Improved

Improved

Improved

Improved

Cardiff’s
Rank

(out of 22 Local
Authorities)

4

22

1

13

13

Wales
Average

10.2

0.2%

0.5%

88.1%

84.1%

Introduced in 2014-15, the performance in this indicator improved to 9.6 in 2015-16 compared to 10.11 in 2014-15 and is above the Wales
average of 10.2 days

Performance in this indicator has improved to 0.5% during 2015-16 compared to 1.1% in 2014-15, against a Wales average of 0.2%.  The result
is placed in the 4th Quarter and in 22nd position.  However, it should be noted that the numerator for this result accounts for 18 young people out
of a cohort of 3324.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 0% in 2015-16 compared to 6.3% in 2014-15.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 87.8% in 2015-16 compared to 85.1% in 2014-15, however performance remains below the Wales
average of 88.1%.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 83.4% in 2015-16 compared to 81.5% in 2014-15 however performance remains below the Wales
average of 84.1%

Page 165



94

Reference

EDU/006ii

EDU/011

EDU/015a

EDU/015b

EDU/016a

EDU/016b

Success Indicatorss

Pupils assessed, receiving a
Teacher Assessment in
Welsh at Key Stage 3

The average point score for
pupils aged 15

Final statements of Special
Education Need issued
within 26 weeks

Final statements of Special
Education Need issued
within 26 weeks (excluding
exceptions)

Primary School Attendance

Secondary School
Attendance

2014-15
Outturn

11.2%

477.0

62.6%

100.0%

94.9%

93.9%

2015-16
Target

11.3%

497.0

72.0%

100.0%

94.6%

94.1%

2015-16
Outturn

11.8%

497.2

62.0%

94.59%

95.2%

93.9%

Target
Met?

Met 
target

Met 
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Met
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Trend

Improved

Improved

Declined

Declined

Improved

Maintained

Cardiff’s
Rank

(out of 22 Local
Authorities)

11

20

14

17

5

11

Wales
Average

17.8%

538.6

68.1%

94.5%

95%

93.9%

Performance in this indicator has improved to 11.80% during 2015-16 compared to 11.22% in 2014-15, however performance is well below the
Wales average of 17.8%.  

Performance in this indicator has improved to 497.2 in 2015-16 compared to 477.0 in 2014-15, however Cardiff’s performance remains below the
Wales Average of 538.6.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 62% (132 cases out of 213) during 2014-15 compared to 62.6% (137 cases out of 319) in 2014-15
and performance remains below the Wales average of 68.1%.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 94.59% during 2015-16 (70 out of 74 cases) compared to 100.0% in 2014-15 (103 out of 103
cases) and is below the Wales average of 94.5%.

Performance has improved to 95.2% in Primary schools in 2015-16 compared to 94.9% in 2014-15 and performance is above the Wales average
of 95.0% in Primary Schools. 

Performance has been maintained at 93.9% in Secondary schools in 2015-16 compared respectively to 94.9% and 93.9% in 2014-15.
Performance is equal to the Wales average (93.9%).

Page 166



95

Reference

EDU/017

LCL/001b

LCS/002 (b

PLA/006 (b)

PPN/009

PSR/002

Success Indicatorss

Pupils who achieved the
Level 2 threshold including a
GCSE grade A*-C in English
or Welsh first language and
mathematics – Level 2+

The number of visits to
public libraries

The number of visits to local
authority sport and leisure
centres

The number of additional
affordable housing units
provided during the year as a
percentage of all additional
housing units provided
during the year

Food establishments which
are ‘broadly compliant’ with
food hygiene standards

The average number of
calendar days taken to
deliver a disabled facilities
grant

2014-15
Outturn

54.0%

8376

8744

93%

91.76%

197

2015-16
Target

60.0%

8500

9647

20%

92.0%

200

2015-16
Outturn

59.3%

8660

8028

64%

93.0%

247

Target
Met?

Didn’t
meet
target

Met
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Met
target

Met
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Trend

Improved

Improved

Declined

Declined

Improved

Declined

Cardiff’s
Rank

(out of 22 Local
Authorities)

10

1

13

2

14

13

Wales
Average

58.3%

5374

8409

36%

94.22%

241

Performance in this indicator has improved to 59.3% in 2015-16 compared to 54.0% in 2014-15, and is above the Wales average of 58.3%.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 8660 in 2015-16 compared to 8376 in 2014-15. Performance remains well above the Wales
Average of 5374.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 8028 in 2015-16 compared to 8744 in 2014-15, and is below the Wales average of 8409.   

Performance in this indicator has declined to 64% (256 / 398) in 2015-16 compared to 93% in 2014-15 (457 / 494).

Performance in this indicator has improved to 93.0% in 2015-16 compared to 91.76% in 2014-15. However, performance remains below the
Wales average of 94.22%.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 247 calendar days during 2014-15 compared to 197 in 2014-15 and is below the Wales average of
241.

Page 167



96

Reference

PSR/004

SCA/001

SCA/002a

SCA/002b

SCA/007

Success Indicatorss

Private sector dwellings, that
had been vacant for more
than 6 months, that were
returned to occupation
through direct action by the
local authority

The rate of delayed transfers
of care for social care reasons

The rate of older people
(aged 65+) supported in the
community per 1000
population aged 65 or over
at 31 March 

The rate of older people
(aged 65 or over) whom the
authority supports in care
homes

Clients with a care plan at 31
March whose care plans
should have been reviewed
that were reviewed

2014-15
Outturn

6.54%

10.92

44.06

18.70

82.0%

2015-16
Target

6.60%

5.92

47.0

18.00

90.0%

2015-16
Outturn

2.68%

11.18

41.53

17.61

88.8%

Target
Met?

Didn’t
meet
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Met 
Target

Didn’t
meet
target

Trend

Declined

Declined

Declined

Improved

Improved

Cardiff’s
Rank

(out of 22 Local
Authorities)

19

22

Not
Available

10

7

Wales
Average

11.08%

4.87

64.12

18.02

83%

Performance in this indicator has declined to 2.68% in 2015-16 compared to 6.54% in 2014-15 and is well below the Wales average of 11.08%.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 11.18 (263 people) in 2015-16 compared to 10.92 (254 people) in 2014-15 and is below the Wales
average of 4.87

Performance in this indicator has declined to 41.53 in 2015-16 compared to 44.12 in 2014-15. 
However, the Council’s Policy now focusses on a preventative agenda, signposting service users to community-based independent living solutions
as opposed to traditional packages of care, therefore we no longer use this indicator to measure our performance.  It is not possible to compare
Cardiff’s performance to the other Local Authorities performance due to inconsistencies in data nationally.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 17.61 in 2015-16 compared to 18.00 in 2014-15, despite an increase in our population aged 65+
and is above the Wales average of 18.02.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 88.8% in 2015-16 compared to 82.0% in 2014-15 and is above the Wales average of 83.0%.

Page 168



97

Reference

SCA/018 (a

SCA/019

SCC/002

SCC/004

SCC/011b

SCC/025

Success Indicatorss

Carers (of adults) aged 18 or
over known to Social Services
who were offered an
assessment or review of their
needs in their own right

Adult protection referrals
where the risk has been
managed

Looked After Children  who
have experienced one or
more changes of school

Looked After Children  who
have had three or more
placements during the year

Initial assessments that were
completed during the year
where there is evidence that
the child has been seen
alone by the Social Worker

Statutory visits to Looked
After Children due in the year
that took place in
accordance with regulations

2014-15
Outturn

64.4%

91.14%

17.8%

10.46%

26.4%

88.9%

2015-16
Target

90.0%

No
target
set

11.0%

8.0%

No
target
set

92.0%

2015-16
Outturn

76.8%

95.88%

9.1%

9.9%

29.2%

86.6%

Target
Met?

Didn’t
meet
target

No
target
set

Met
target

Didn’t
meet
target

No
target
set

Didn’t
meet
target

Trend

Improved

Improved

Improved

Improved

Improved

Declined

Cardiff’s
Rank

(out of 22 Local
Authorities)

19

15

6

15

21

12

Wales
Average

91.4%

97%

11.9%

9.8%

49.5%

88.1%

Performance in this indicator has improved to 76.8% in 2015-16 compared to 64.4% in 2014-15. However, performance remains well below the
Wales Average of 91.4%.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 95.88% in 2015-16 compared to 91.14% in 2014-15 but is still below the Wales Average of 97.00%.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 9.1% in 2015-16 compared to 17.8% in 2014-15 and is above the Wales average of 11.9%.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 9.9% in 2015-16 compared to 10.46% in 2014-15 and is marginally below the Wales average of
9.8%.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 29.2% in 2015-16 compared to 26.4% in 2014-15 but is well below the Wales average of 49.5%.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 86.6% in 2015-16 compared to 88.9% in 2014-15 and is below the Wales average of 88.1%.  

Page 169



98

Reference

SCC/033 d

SCC/033 e

SCC/033f

SCC/037

SCC/041 a

Success Indicatorss

Young people formerly
looked after with whom the
authority is in contact at the
age of 19

Young people formerly
looked after with whom the
authority is in contact, who
are known to be in suitable,
non-emergency
accommodation at the age
of 19

Young people formerly
looked after with whom the
authority is in contact, who
are known to be engaged in
education, training or
employment at the age of 19

The average external
qualifications point score for
16 year old Looked After
Children

Eligible, relevant and former
relevant children that have
pathway plans as required

2014-15
Outturn

90.5%

91.2%

56.1%

191

60.5%

2015-16
Target

96.0%

96.0%

58.0%

220

90.0%

2015-16
Outturn

94.0%

85.7%

52.4%

257

73.3%

Target
Met?

Didn’t
meet
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Met
target

Met
target

Didn’t
meet
target

Trend

Improved

Declined

Declined

Improved

Improved

Cardiff’s
Rank

(out of 22 Local
Authorities)

13

20

17

10

21

Wales
Average

93.2%

93.5%

60.7%

269

93.5%

Performance in this indicator has improved to 94.0% in 2015-16 compared to 90.5% in 2014-15 and is above the Wales average of 93.2%. The
service attempts to keep in touch with all care leavers as required, however the young people determine for themselves whether they wish to respond
and remain in contact.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 85.7% in 2015-16 (54 out of a cohort of 63 young people) compared to 91.2% in 2014-15 (52 out
of a cohort of 57 young people), meaning that whilst there was a decline in performance, the actual number of young people supported
increased between the two years.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 52.4% (33 out of a cohort of 63 young people) in 2015-16 compared to 56.1% in 2014-15 (32 out
of a cohort of 57 young people).  Whilst only one more young person was NEET in 2015-16 compared to 2014-15, the size of the cohort has
impacted considerably on the percentage outcome for this indicator.

Performance in indicator has improved to 257 in 2015-16 compared to 191 in 2014-15 but is below the Wales average of 269.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 73.3% in 2015-16 compared to 60.5% in 2014-15. However, performance is well below the Wales
average of 93.5%.

Page 170



99

Reference

SCC/045

STS/005 b

STS/ 006

THS/007

THS/012

CAM/037

Success Indicatorss

Reviews of Looked After
Children, Children on the
Child Protection Register and
Children in Need carried out
in line with the statutory
timetable

Highways inspected of a
high or acceptable standard
of cleanliness

Fly tipping incidents cleared
within 5 working days

Adults aged 60+ who hold a
concessionary bus pass

Principal (A) roads, non-
principal/classified (B) roads
and non-principal/classified
(C) roads that are in overall
poor condition

The percentage change in
the average Display Energy
Certificate (DEC) score within
local authority public
buildings

2014-15
Outturn

70.8%

86.8%

82.61%

100.0%

6.8%

New 
indicator

2015-16
Target

90.0%

90.0%

90.0%

94.0%

7.0%

3.0%

2015-16
Outturn

81.7%

90.6%

97.91%

96.5%

5.2%

5.3

Target
Met?

Didn’t
meet
target

Met
target

Met
target

Met
target

Met
target

Met
Target

Trend

Improved

Improved

Improved

Declined

Improved

New
indicator

Cardiff’s
Rank

(out of 22 Local
Authorities)

21

20

4

1

6

7

Wales
Average

90.3%

96.5%

95.26%

85.6%

11.2%

3

Performance in this indicator has improved to 81.7% in 2015-16 compared to 70.8% in 2014-15 but is below the Wales average of 90.3%.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 90.6% in 2015-16 compared to 86.8% in 2014-15 but is below the Wales average of 96.5%.

Performance in this indicator has improved to 97.91% in 2015-16 compared to 82.61% in 2014-15 and is above the Wales average of 95.26%.

Performance in this indicator has declined to 96.5% in 2015-16 compared to 100% in 2014-15. A National Fraud Initiative took place between
2014-15 and 2015-16.  It was estimated that this piece of work identified approximately 4,000 Cardiff passholders who are very likely to have
passed away.  These figures were checked and where appropriate deceased cardholder records deleted from the records, explaining the decrease
between years.  

Performance in this indicator has improved to 5.2% in 2015-16 when compared to 6.8% in 2014-15 and performance remains well above the
Wales Average of 11.2%.

This indicator was introduced in 2015-16 and therefore previous data is not provided within the data return.  Percentage change between 2014
and 2015-16 was 5.3%.

Page 171



100

Reference

WMT/004b

WMT/009b

Success Indicatorss

Municipal waste collected by
local authorities sent to
landfill

Municipal waste collected by
local authorities and
prepared for reuse and/or
recycled, including source-
segregated biowastes that
are composted or treated
biologically in another way

2014-15
Outturn

32.57%

53.38%

2015-16
Target

30.0%

58.00%

2015-16
Outturn

30.0%

58.18%

Target
Met?

Met
target

Met
target

Trend

Improved

Improved

Cardiff’s
Rank

(out of 22 Local
Authorities)

3

19

Wales
Average

18.14%

60.19%

Performance in this indicator has improved to 7.51% in 2015-16 compared to 32.57% in 2014-15 and is below the Wales average of 18.14%.  

Performance in this indicator has improved to 58.18% in 2015-16 compared to 53.38% in 2014-15. Performance, however, remains below the
Wales Average of 60.19%.

Page 172


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Bilingual Cardiff Welsh language Strategy 2017- 2022
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	5 Public Services Board - Progress Briefing
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	6 Statutory Annual Improvement Report 2015/16
	Appendix 1


